Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Address: 83, Nonglinxia Road, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, P.R. China
Postcode: 510080
Telephone: (020)-87310888
Facsimile: (020)-87310779
Website: www.gdb.com.cn

〖 Strive and Grow 〗

Guangdong Development Bank (GDB or the Bank) is one of
China’
s first joint-stock commercial banks approved by the
State Council and the People’s Bank of China. GDB was
established in July 1988 and is headquartered in Guangzhou,
China. By the end of 2006, GDB’s total assets reach RMB
373.9 billion. As a national joint-stock commercial bank,
GDB has 26 branches and 498 outlets in economically
prosperous regions such as the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze
River Delta, the Bohai Sea Economic Circle and Macao.
GDB also has a representative office in Hong Kong and
Beijing respectively and has formed agency relationship
with about 980 overseas banks and their branches. Today
GDB has built an operating network as an urban commercial bank with nationwide coverage.

85.58

In 2006, the Bank successfully completed reform and restructuring and introduced world-class companies such as Citigroup Inc.
and IBM Credit LLC and competitive domestic companies like
China Life Insurance Co., Ltd., State Grid Corporation of China,
and CITIC Trust and Investment Co., Ltd. The newly introduced
investor consortium has acquired the stock controlling rights as
well as the operation and management rights of the Bank.
Reform and restructuring are intended not only to attract
investment, but also to bring in expertise, techniques and
know-how. The Bank will take advantage of the opportunities
presented by the entry of domestic and overseas investors to
improve corporate governance and internal control
mechanisms. It will draw upon advanced bank service concepts,
management experience, product development and maintenance techniques, and substantially improve innovation capabilities and operating and management standards.
With all conditions in place, GDB is poised for a takeoff, and
2007 promises to be a vital turning point in the Bank’s
business development.

888%

Agreement Signing Ceremony between Guangdong Development and Investor Consortium

Efficient corporate governance is the core of the modern
banking system and the cornerstone for banks to achieve
sound and sustained growth. Through reform and
restructuring, the Bank has brought in outstanding domestic and overseas investors, optimized its share
structure, and consolidated the foundation of corporate
governance. The Bank has also revised Articles of Association in compliance with the laws, regulations and
regulatory requirements, providing a significant institutional assurance for the Bank to maintain an advanced,
standard and effective corporate governance. Under the
leadership of an internationalized Board of Directors and
senior management team and on the strength of brandnew corporate governance, the Bank is well on its way to
becoming a leading bank.

The Bank will comply with laws, regulations and regulatory requirements, constantly improve the procedural system and decision-making procedures of the Shareholders
Meeting, the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors
and the senior management. It will build standardized and
effective corporate governance mechanisms; improve specialized committees under the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors; strengthen the decision-making
capability of the Board of Directors and the executive
capability of the senior management; enhance the supervisory mechanism centered on the Supervisory Board; comprehensively push forward strategic cooperation with the
investor consortium; and create synergistic effects, all
with a view to achieving the goal of value maximization
for the Bank and its shareholders.

The First Extraordinary General Meeting in 2006

Important Notice
◆

The Board of Directors, Directors and Senior Management of the
Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. warrant that there are no
fraudulent disclosures or misleading statements contained in or any
material omissions from this report, and are individually and jointly
responsible for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the
information contained in this report.

◆

The Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2006 was
examined and approved by the Third Meeting of the Fifth Board of
Directors of the Bank. 16 Directors were expected to be present at the
meeting, and 14 Directors were in attendance. Director Li Ruge authorized
Director Wang Fenghua in writing to exercise the right to vote on his
behalf, Director Liu Jiade authorized Director Liu Lefei in writing to
exercise the right to vote on his behalf. 1 Supervisor of the Bank attended
the meeting as non-voting delegate.

◆

Upon the approval of the Supervisory Authorities, the Bank has postponed
the release of the 2004 and 2005 annual reports. This report also
discloses information of 2004 and 2005.

◆

KPMG Huazhen Accounting Firm has audited the Bank’s 2006 Financial
Statements according to the Professional Auditing Standard for China’s
Certified Public Accountants, and has issued unqualified audit opinion.

◆

This report is prepared in both Chinese and English. In the case of any
discrepancies, the Chinese version shall prevail.

◆

Apart from historical and factual representations, certain sections in this
report contain forward-looking statements, such as statements that include
the words relating to the Bank’s future financial standing, strategy, planning
and the management’s mapping of future operations. The Bank’s actual
performance and developments may differ from the forward-looking
statements due to various factors and uncertainties. The Bank would not
undertake the obligations to update or revise any of forward-looking
statements.

After authorization or permission, the Bank uses logos of Citigroup Inc, China Life Insurance Co., Ltd.,
State Grid Corporation of China, CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd. and IBM in the 2006 Annual
Report. Any other institution and individual shall not use the logos from this Report for any purpose.
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Under the care and support of the Central Party Committee, the strong support and direct leadership of the Guangdong
Provincial Committee and the Guangdong Provincial government, and the directions and assistance from China Banking
Regulatory Commission, People’s Bank of China and other relevant departments, Guangdong Development Bank (GDB)
witnessed a new milestone on the way of development in 2006. GDB has introduced a consortium which is composed
of domestic and international renowned companies such as Citigroup Inc., China Life Co., Ltd., State Grid, CITIC
Trust, IBM Credit LLM and others. This has marked the successful closing of GDB’s restructuring and capital injection
project that is characterized by a simultaneous three-way interaction of the divestiture of non-performing assets,
remedying historical losses and capital increase. Under the guiding principle of a “ simultaneous progression of reform,
restructuring and development ”, GDB has successfully completed a two-year project of restructuring and capital
injection that has been under the spotlight within and outside China.
On this occasion, I would like to extend my heart-felt gratitude to all levels of governments and governmental agencies,
our shareholders, our customers, the intermediary organizations and all of our employees that have always been caring
for GDB, supporting GDB, understanding GDB and making tremendous efforts to the reform, restructuring and
development of GDB.
Standing on a brand-new starting point, GDB begins its new chapter of development in 2006. Not only has GDB
effectively resolved the historical problem of NPL, it also has significantly improved its core capital adequacy ratio,
asset quality and other core regulatory indicators. Also, GDB has introduced a world-class investor consortium and
has comprehensively strategized and established the introduction of world-leading banking management experience
and techniques. After the restructuring, a new Board of Directors has been formed, and the newly-appointed Senior
Management team has begun to function. A wholly new corporate governance structure will lay a solid foundation for
GDB with soaring growth.
Looking forward, GDB will build a future on the solid strength of our past success. The Bank shall set the value
maximization of the Bank and its shareholders as its goals. We will continue to improve the corporate governance, fully
utilize the core functions of Board of Directors in corporate governance and strengthen the decision-making responsibility
of the Board of Directors on those material events. GDB will also continue to improve an operating mechanism in which
the General Meeting, the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors and the Senior Management have clear
responsibilities, independent from each other and act in balance and coordination with each other. At the same time,
based on the ideal of “ mutual understanding, mutual trust, sincere cooperation and joint development ”, GDB will
implement the technical support and strategic cooperation agreements with Citigroup Inc., China Life Co., Ltd. and other
investors according to the scheme. GDB will actively learn and absorb advanced banking service concepts, management
experiences and techniques in product development and marketing. GDB will effectively enhance risk management,
internal control, financial management, financial innovation, market exploration ability and integration capability of
resources and channels. We will lay a solid foundation for the Bank with a high level of overall management and
operation standards and from this, we will march towards our goal of becoming a leading bank.
We believe that under the care and support from domestic and international shareholders, and with the proactive
support and act in concert with GDB’s staff, the new Board of Directors and senior management will unite together
and take up this responsibility and progress together. Together we will build GDB into a world-class bank and create
greater value for our shareholders and the society.

Chairman :

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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2006 was an extraordinary year in the Bank’s development history. With the guidance of supervisory departments at
all levels, the understanding and assistance of all shareholders, the support of our clients and the concerted efforts of
all employees, the Bank successfully completed the historical task of reform and restructuring, maintained a steady
growth in all operating and management activities, and accomplished all targets set at the beginning of the year.
By reform and restructuring, the Bank’s core supervisory performance indicators fundamentally improved and its
shareholder structure underwent a profound change. The investment in the Bank by highly competitive domestic and
overseas investors, including Citigroup, China Life Insurance, State Grid, CITIC Trust and Investment, and IBM
Credit has laid a firm foundation for the Bank to achieve sustainable development.
While forging ahead with reform and restructuring, the Bank adhered to scientific development principles, concentrated
on capital restrictions, strengthened Economic Capital management, and improved operating and risk management standard.
By implementing an integrated operating planning system with a clear orientation and defining sound targets for various
stages of the year, the Bank intensified the management of assets and liabilities, and planning to ensure the safety of
liquidity. The Bank strictly enforced the five-grade loan classification standards, strengthened the management of existing
assets, ensured the quality of newly extended loans, and optimized credit structure; it also conducted extensive risk
inspections and strictly complied with the regulatory requirements on case handling and commercial bribery rectification,
which effectively ensured that the Bank’s operation and management conformed to laws and regulations and took place
in a sound manner. Furthermore, the Bank boosted technological system development, enhanced support and service
capabilities, and made substantial progress in a number of major projects, including the upgrading and capacity expansion
of its core business system and the outsourcing of the Disaster Recovery Center Project Phase 1.
In 2006, all GDB employees exhibited strong confidence and made hard efforts to improve services; as a result, all
business operations grew steadily. At the end of 2006, the Bank’s assets totaled RMB 373.908 billion and its balance
of deposits and loans reached RMB 319.066 billion and RMB 216.991 billion, respectively. In 2006, the Bank registered
an operating income of RMB 14.789 billion and an intermediate income of RMB 1.053 billion; its business transformation
was starting delivering results.
2007 is the first year after the restructuring in which the Bank will operate without the legacy burdens. The main
objectives in this year include strengthening internal control and the risk management system by drawing upon advanced
bank operating practice and taking into account the Bank’s actuality, refining human resources management,
consolidating the Bank’s overall image and brand positioning, actively promoting resources consolidation, building a
solid foundation, enhancing operating quality, constantly improving profitability, maintaining efficient growth, and
pushing for the growth of all business operations.
To achieve these objectives, the Bank will embark on proactive adjustment, innovation and development, strengthen
internal controls, and improve managerial capabilities and management standard. It will also intensify the management
of credit business risks and the disposal of existing non-performing assets, improve the quality of credit assets, and
strengthen infrastructure building, in order to create favorable conditions for further reform and development; moreover,
it will build a vertical inspection system, intensify inspection and audit, establish compliance management mechanisms,
give full play to compliance functions, implement the accountability system, and boost efforts against corruption and
criminal offenses.
The Bank’s restructuring has just been completed and new development and reform have begun. The Bank’s senior
management team has taken up their positions, the new management structure and functions have been clearly defined,
and all work is progressing in an orderly manner. Under the leadership of the Board of Directors, we will make
concerted efforts and dedicate ourselves to building GDB into a first-class bank characterized by vigorous innovative
capabilities, powerful capital strength, outstanding brand image, cutting-edge technology, advanced internal controls,
and total satisfaction among shareholders, clients and employees.

President:

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management
Chinese names listed according to strokes; English according to alphabetical order

Wang Fenghua

Wang Xin

Liu Lefei

Liu Jiade

Director

Executive Director, Chief
Synergy Officer (CSO)

Director

Director

Li Ruge

Li Ruohong

Chan Tai Loi

Lin Yixiang

Director

Chairman of Board, Party
Secretary of the CPC Committee of the Bank

Independent Director

Independent Director
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management
Chinese names listed according to strokes; English according to alphabetical order

Gai Yongguang

Pu Jian

Michael Zink

R.Daniel Massey

Director

Director

Executive Director, President

Executive Director, Deputy
President, Director of Risk
Management

Raymond Lim

Richard Stanley

Robert Morse

Y.S. Wong

Executive Director, Director
of Consumer Banking

Director

Director

Independent Director

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management
Chinese names listed according to strokes; English according to alphabetical order

Wang Jianmin

Sun Hui

Zhang Wei

Fu Fengyun

Supervisor

Supervisor

Supervisor

Supervisor, Secretary of Discipline Committee

Yu Jin

Vita Liu

J.C. Goh

Yvonne Chan

Director of Human Resources

Director of Compliance

Director of Treasury

Director of Corporate Affairs
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management
Chinese names listed according to strokes; English according to alphabetical order

Edward Chou

Zheng Xiaolong

Zheng Lianming

Jin Haiteng

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Secretary to Board of Directors

Director of Strategy and Planning

Deputy President

Eliza Ong

David A. Moore

Gaurang Hattangdi

Director of Audit

Director of Technology and
Operation

Director of Corporate Banking

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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1.

Corporate Profile

Statutory Name in Chinese: 广 东 发 展 银 行 股 份 有 限 公 司
(Abbreviated: 广 东 发 展 银 行 or 广 发 银 行 , hereinafter as “ the Bank”)
Legal name in English: Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
(Abbreviated: GDB)

2.

Profile
Opened on September 8, 1988, the Bank was transformed into a single legal person joint stock limited commercial
bank in 1995, and was registered as a joint stock company limited in 2003.
Business Philosophy
Develop various commercial banking businesses in line with the principles of equality, free will, fairness and
honesty; promote and support the development of national economy and the overall prosperity of society; and
seek the benefit for the interests of shareholders at the maximum extent. The Bank shall regard safety, mobility
and profitability as its principles of operation, and shall operate independently at its own risk, assume sole
responsibility for its profits and losses and be self-disciplined.
Business Scope
taking public deposits; granting short-term, mid-term and long-term loans; handling settlements in and out of
China; honoring bills and offering discounting services; issuing financial bonds; issuing, paying for and
underwriting government bonds as an agent; sales and purchases of valuable securities such as government
bonds and financial bonds; inter-bank borrowings; providing letters of credit and security; engaging in banking
card business; acting as payment and receipt agent and insurance agent; providing safe deposit box services;
taking deposits and granting loans in foreign currency; foreign currency remittance; foreign currency exchange;
international settlements; foreign exchange settlements and sales; inter-bank foreign currency borrowings;
honoring bills of exchange and offering discounting services in foreign currency; granting foreign currency
loans; granting foreign currency guarantees; sales and purchases of negotiable securities other than shares in a
foreign currency for itself and as an agent; issuing negotiable securities other than shares in a foreign currency
for itself and as an agent; sales and purchases of foreign exchange on its own account and on behalf of its
customers; issuing and making payments for foreign credit cards as an agent; offshore financial operations;
assets and credit verification, consultation and notarization businesses; other businesses approved by the China
Banking Regulator and other relevant authorities.

3.

Legal Representative: Li Ruohong

4.

Secretary to Board of Directors: Zheng Xiaolong
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5.

Registered Office Address: 83, Nonglinxia Road, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, P.R.
China
P o s t c o d e : 510080
Telephone: (020)-87310888
Facsimile: (020)-87310779
We b s i t e : www.gdb.com.cn

6.
7.

Place for Obtaining Annual Report: Office of Board of Directors
Retained Domestic Accounting Firm: KPMG Huazhen Certified Public Accountants
Office Address: 8th Floor,Tower E 2 ,Oriental Plaza, 1 East Chang An Avenue, Beijing, China

8.

This report is prepared in accordance with the Interim Measures on Information Disclosure
of Commercial Banks promulgated by the People’s Bank of China (PBOC), as well as with
the Notice by China Banking Regulatory Commission on Regulating the Contents of Annual
Reports of Joint Stock Commercial Banks promulgated by CBRC.

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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1.

Major Profit Indicators
Unit: RMB
Item
Total profit

-475,637

Net profit

-624,352

Prime operating profit

2,447,852

Operating profit

2,447,852

Investment income

1,465,157

Net non-operating income and expenses

2.

1000
2006

-56,835

Major Accounting Data and Financial Indicators of the Previous Three Years Prior to the End
of the Period Under Review
Unit: RMB

1000

2006

2005

2004

14,789,160

13,763,788

12,580,884

Total profit

-475,637

-137,590

796,353

Net profit

-624,352

-691,752

130,381

Total assets

373,908,069

345,444,570

294,337,638

Total liabilities

361,139,094

341,892,125

329,830,406

Balance of deposits

319,066,416

306,282,877

300,185,518

Balance of loans

216,991,381

165,478,184

216,663,744

Revenue from main business

Shareholders’ equity

12,768,975

3,552,445

-35,492,768

Earnings per share (RMB)

-0.05

-0.19

0.04

Net assets per share (RMB)

1.12

0.99

-9.90

Adjusted net assets per share (RMB)

1.12

0.99

-9.90

-42,129,577

16,476,216

14,482,027

-3.69

4.60

4.04

Net cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows from operating activities per share (RMB)

Notes 1. Revenue from main business is the sum of interest income, interest income on balance and placements
with financial institutions, fees and commission income, foreign exchange net and investment income.
2. Deposits are the sum of short-term deposits, short-term savings deposits, fiscal deposits, short-term
pledged deposits, inward remittances, long-term liabilities maturing within one year, long-term
deposits, long-term savings deposits, and long-term pledged deposits.
3. Loans are the sum of short-term loans, trade finance, discounted bills, medium and long-term loans
and non-accrual loans.

20

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

Financial Highlights

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

3.

Capital Composition and Alterations
Unit: RMB Hundred Million
Item

2006 EoP

2005 EoP

2004 EoP

Net capital

127.51

inapplicable

inapplicable

Including: Core capital

127.69

inapplicable

inapplicable

Supplementary Capital

0.83

inapplicable

inapplicable

1903.15

inapplicable

inapplicable

Capital adequacy ratio (%)

6.70

inapplicable

inapplicable

Core capital adequacy ratio (%)

6.68

inapplicable

inapplicable

Net risk-weighted assets

Note:

Due to reform and restructuring, financial indicators in 2006 are incomparable with those in 2004
and 2005

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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Shareholding and Related Transactions

Shareholders Profile
1.

Changes in Shares
Based on the resolution by the First Extraordinary General Meeting in 2005
on November 30, 2005, and the Resolution of the Bank’s board execution
committee on increasing registered capital to new domestic and foreign
investors and reducing registered capital of old shareholders on December
2, 2006, the shares owned by the Bank’s former shareholders shall be
converted according to the offered price of new investors. Accordingly,
3,585,658,600 shares held by the former Shareholders were converted
to 1,644,090,597 shares thereafter, accounting for 14.4112% of the
Bank’s total shares after restructuring. In the meantime, the Bank has
issued 9,764,332,000 shares to qualified investors, the total newly issued
shares of the new investors account for 85.5888% of the Bank's total
shares after restructuring.
Based on The Reply by China Banking Regulatory Commission
Concerning the Capital Increase and Share Expansion of Guangdong
Development Bank (Ref.: CBRC Re. [2006] No.420) and The Reply by
China Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning Guangdong
Development Bank’s Receiving Capital Injection from Domestic and
Overseas Investors - Citigroup Inc., China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and
others (Ref.: CBRC Re. [2006] No.434), the Bank has carried out the scheme of capital increases and share
expansion, increasing the paid-up capital from RMB 3.586 billion to RMB 11.408 billion , with the total
number of share is 11,408,422,597. The Bank has duly published the details of the capital increase and share
expansion and the changes in shareholding.
According to the Capital Verification Report by Guangzhou Zheng Zhong Zhu Jiang Certified Public Accountants
on December 29, 2006 (Ref.: GP [2006] No.0625220014), the Bank’s paid-up capital was RMB 11,408,422,597.
00 as of December 18, 2006.

2.

Number of Shareholders and Shareholding
By the end of reporting period, the Bank had a total of 678 shareholders, holding 11,408,422,597 shares of the
Bank.
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3.

Shareholding and Related Transactions

Profile of Top Ten Shareholders
During the reporting period, the Bank has increased capital and expanded shares by introducing domestic and
overseas investor consortium composed of Citigroup Inc., China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and others. Top ten
shareholders by the end of 2006 are as below:
Unit: share
Name of shareholder
Citigroup Inc.

Number of Shares

Proportion

2,281,684,519

20%

Hypothecated,
sequestrated or frozen
No

China Life Insurance Co., Ltd.

2,281,684,519

20%

No

State Grid Corporation of China

2,281,684,519

20%

No

CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd.

2,281,684,519

20%

No

540,759,231

4.7400%

No

232,451,513

2.0375%

No

IBM Credit LLC
Guangdong Finance Investment
(Holding) Corporation Limited

Hypothecated,
Lianda Group Co., Limited

168,658,143

1.4784%

sequestrated,

Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co., Ltd.

165,616,213

1.4517%

Partly hypothecated

Jiangsu Suzhou Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd.

161,270,598

1.4136%

Hypothecated

97,208,435

0.8521%

No

10,492,702,209

91.9733%

frozen

Bank of China Co., Ltd.
Total

Top 10 shareholders before capital raising and stock expansion are below:
Unit: Share
Shareholders

Shares

Proportion

Lianda Group Co., Limited

349,300,000

9.7416%

Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co., Ltd.

343,000,000

9.5659%

Jiangsu Suzhou Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd.

334,000,000

9.3149%

Bank of China Co., Ltd.

238,123,951

6.6410%

GDH Limited

151,152,750

4.2155%

Yuxi Hongta Tobacco (Group) Co., Ltd.

127,897,049

3.5669%

Beijing Tongchan Investment Group

100,000,000

2.7889%

Heung Kong Group

53,000,000

1.4781%

Shenzhen Yuanjing Investment Co., Ltd.

52,557,970

1.4658%

Wenhui-Xinmin United Press Group

51,000,000

1.4223%

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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4.

Shareholding and Related Transactions

Shareholders Holding over 5% of the Bank's Shares
1)

Citigroup Inc.
Citi, the leading global financial services company, has some 200 million customer accounts and does
business in more than 100 countries, providing consumers, corporations, governments and institutions
with a broad range of financial products and services, including consumer banking and credit, corporate
and investment banking, securities brokerage, and wealth management. Major brand names under Citi's
trade mark red arc include Citibank, CitiFinancial, Primerica, Citi Smith Barney and Banamex. Citi first
established an office in China in May 1902. With operations in more than 100 countries around the world,
Citi is the most global of all foreign banks in China. Additional information may be found at www.citigroup.
com or www.citi.com.

2)

China Life Insurance Co., Ltd.
China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. was registered in Beijing, China on June 30, 2003 according to the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Company was successfully listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on December 17 and 18, 2003, respectively. And on January 9,
2007, the Company was listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The Company is the largest life insurance
company in China’s life insurance market (for the purpose of this annual report, “China’s life insurance
market” refers to the life insurance market in the People’s Republic of China, excluding the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, Macau Special Administrative Region, and Taiwan). Its distribution network,
comprised of exclusive agents, direct sales representatives, and dedicated and non-dedicated agencies, is
the most extensive one in China. Products and services of the Company include individual life insurance,
group life insurance, accident and health insurance. The Company is China’s largest life insurance company,
a leading provider of annuity products and life insurance for both individuals and groups, and a leading
provider of accident and health insurance. As of December 31, 2006, China Life had over 86 million
individual and group life policies and annuities, and long-term health insurance policies in force. The
company also provides both individual and group accident and short-term health insurance policies as well
as services. Through its controlling shareholding in China Life Insurance Assets Management Co., Ltd.
(“AMC”), the Company is the largest insurance asset management company, and one of the largest
institutional investors in China.

3)

State Grid Corporation of China
State Grid Corporation of China (SGCC) was founded on Dec. 29th, 2002 as a pilot state-owned corporation
by the State Council. As a backbone state-owned enterprise that may affect national energy safety and
economic lifelines, SGCC's core business is to build and operate power grids and provides secure and
reliable power supply for the development of the society. With a registered capital of RMB 200 billion and
service area covering 26 provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities directly under the jurisdiction
of the Central Government. SGCC carries out the president responsibility system, the president is the legal
corporate representative of SGCC.
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4)

Shareholding and Related Transactions

CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd.
CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd. (CITIC Trust) is a national financial institute established with approval
of state financial supervision authorities. Its predecessor, CITIC Development Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Group and was established on March 5, 1988. In 2002, the company successfully
completed its reshuffle and renamed itself to CITIC Trust for re-registration. In 2006, the Company’s
registered capital was increased to RMB 1.2 billion. Two shareholders of the Company are China CITIC
Group and CITIC East China (Group) Co., Ltd. respectively.

Related Transactions
As of the end of the reporting period, no shareholders with over 5% of the shares had credit balances with the
Bank. Total outstanding loan of the parties related to shareholders is RMB214.50 million, which was all being
under Pass category made to Jiangsu Electric Power Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank’s
shareholder - State Grid Corporation of China. End of the period balance was RMB 214.50 million.
The above-mentioned related transactions were conducted as normal business activities. The transaction terms
and interest rates were in conformity to the Bank’s general business regulations.

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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1.

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
1)

Basic Information(Chinese names listed according to strokes; English according to alphabetical order)
Name
Wang Fenghua
Wang Xin
Liu Lefei

Title
Director
Executive Director, Chief Synergy
Officer (CSO)
Director

Birth

Appointment Date

Male

1953.06

2006/12/18

Male

1951.10

2006/12/18

Male

1973.05

2006/12/18

Liu Jiade

Director

Male

1963.02

2006/12/18

Li Ruge

Director

Male

1963.08

2006/12/18

Male

1955.07

2006/12/18

Li Ruohong

Chairman of Board, Party Secretary
of the CPC Committee of the Bank

Chan Tai Loi

Independent Director

Male

1959.03

2006/12/18

Lin Yixiang

Independent Director

Male

1964.01

2006/12/18

Gai Yongguang

Director

Male

1960.01

2006/12/18

Pu Jian

Director

Male

1960.12

2006/12/18

Executive Director, President

Male

1958.11

2006/12/18

Male

1942.11

2006/12/18

Male

1949.10

2006/12/18

Michael Zink
R. Daniel Massey
Raymond Lim

Executive Director, Deputy President,
Director of Risk Management
Executive Director, Director of
Consumer Banking

Richard Stanley

Director

Male

1960.05

2006/12/18

Robert Morse

Director

Male

1955.06

2006/12/18

Y.S. Wong

Independent Director

Male

1950.09

2006/12/18

Wang Jianmin

Supervisor

Male

1969.02

2004/5/28

Sun Hui

Supervisor

Male

1970.06

2004/5/28

Zhang Wei

Supervisor

Male

1968.01

2004/5/28

Male

1958.03

2004/5/28

Male

1963.09

2007/1/30

Female

1965.09

2006/12/18

Male

1960.06

2006/12/18

Fu Fengyun

Supervisor, Secretary of Discipline
Committee, Chairman of Trade Union

Yu Jin

Director of Human Resources

Vita Liu

Director of Compliance

J.C. Goh

Director of Treasury

Yvonne Chan

Director of Corporate Affairs

Female

1969.09

2007/1/30

Edward Chou

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Male

1965.07

2006/12/18

Zheng Xiaolong

Secretary to Board of Directors

Male

1963.08

2006/12/18

Zheng Lianming

Director of Strategy and Planning

Male

1960.06

2007/1/30

Jin Haiteng

Deputy President

Male

1951.10

2006/12/18

Eliza Ong

Director of Audit

Female

1955.11

2006/12/18

David A. Moore

Director of Technology and Operation

Male

1952.05

2006/12/18

Male

1963.01

2007/1/30

Gaurang Hattangdi Director of Corporate Banking
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Note: 1. In accordance with regulatory requirements, job qualifications of the Bank’s Directors and Senior
Management are to be approved and/or filed to regulatory authorities.
2. “Appointment Date” refers to the date when Directors and Supervisors were elected by the General
Meeting of Shareholders, and the date when Senior Management was hired by the Board of Directors.

2)

Main Working Experience and Incumbency in the Shareholding Companies or Other Organizations of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Managers
Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

Master’s degree, Senior Economist. Prior to his current
position, Mr. Wang served as Vice Director and Director

Wang Fenghua

of De Zhou Electric Power Bureau; Head of Finance

Head of Financial Asset

Department of Shandong Electric Power Bureau; GM of

Management Department

Yingda International Trust and Investment Co., Ltd.; Chief

of State Grid Corporation

Economist of Shandong Electric Power Group; Chairman

of China; Chairman of the

of Weishen Securities Co., Ltd.; successively pointed as

Board and Party Secretary

Party Secretary of the CPC Committee, Vice President of

of the CPC Committee of

State Grid Power Development Co., Ltd.; Vice Chairman

China Power Finance Co.,

of the Board, President and Party Secretary of the CPC

Ltd.

Committee of China Power Finance Co., Ltd..
Bachelor’s degree, Senior Economist. Mr. Wang served as
Vice Section Chief, Section Chief, Deputy Department
Wang Xin

Director, Department Director,Vice President and a
Member of the CPC Committee in Bank of China, Sinkiang
Branch; Vice President and a Member and Commissioner
of the CPC Committee of Guangdong Development Bank.
MBA of China Europe International Business School.
Mr. Liu served as General Manager of Investment
Management Department of China Galaxy Securities

Liu Lefei

Company Limited, and General Manager of Beijing

Chief Investment Officer

Galaxy Investment Consulting Company from 2003 to

of China Life Insurance

2004. During the period of 1998 to 2003, Mr. Liu was

Company Limited, General

the Vice Manager of Zhongye Anshunda Industrial

Manager of Investment

Company which belonged to the Ministry of Metallurgy,

Management Department

and Executive Director of Capital Securities Company.

of China Life Insurance

From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Liu served for General Affairs

Company Limited

Department of the Ministry of Finance. Mr. Liu is a
Member of the 9th and 10th All-China Youth Federation,
and a Member of Xinhua FTSE Index Committee and
Reuters Annuity Index Advisory Committee.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

Bachelor in Economics. Mr. Liu had served as Vice
Director of the Finance Bureau of the Ministry of
Finance from 2000 to 2003, and as the Division Chief
in the Treasury Bond Finance Bureau of the Ministry of
Finance from 1998 to 2000. Other positions Mr. Liu has
occupied during his career include Vice County Chief
Liu Jiade

of the People’s Government of Guan Tao County in
Hebei Province, and as both Deputy Division Chief and
Division Chief in the Commercial Finance Bureau of
Ministry of Finance. During his tenure at the Ministry
of Finance, Mr. Liu gained extensive experience in the
administration of assets, finance and taxation of

Vice President of China
Life Insurance Company
Limited , Director of China Life Insurance Asset
Management Company
Limited, Director of China life Insurance Asset
Management Company
Limited (Hong Kong)

insurance companies, banks, trust companies and
securities institutions.
EMBA of Nankai University, Senior Accountant. He
served as Vice Chief Economist of Shandong Zhan Hua

Li Ruge

Power Plant; Vice Plant Manager, Plant Manager, CPC

Vice Chief Accountant,

Committee Commissioner of Shandong Heze Power

Head of Finance Depart-

Plant; General Manager and CPC Committee

ment and head of Funds

Commissioner of Shandong Electric Power Fuel Group;

Administration Center of

Vice Chief Accountant, Chief Accountant, Vice General

State Grid Corporation of

Manager of Shan dong Electric Power Group; Director

China; Chairman of the

of Bank of Communications; Directors and Vice

Board of Directors of

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Hua Xia Bank;

Ying Da International

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Xiangcai

Trust and Investment Co.,

Securities Corp; Vice Chief Accountant of China

Ltd.

Guodian Corporation.
Bachelor’s degree, Senior Economist. Mr. Li served in
Bank of China Harbin Branch as Vice Section Chief,
Section Chief of the Department of Trust and Investment,
Li Ruohong

International Business, Research Section, Operation
Section, and Assistant of the President of Bank of China
Harbin Branch; Assistant of the President, Vice President,
Member and Deputy Party Secretary of the CPC
Committee, Chairman of Board of Directors, President
and Party Secretary of the CPC Committee of GDB.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration. He has
served as stockbroker of Nomura Securities; Assistant
Vice President of Citibank; General Manager of Franklin
And Taylor Asset Management Limited; Sales Director
of Heng Feng Securities Limited; Chairman of the Board
Chan Tai Loi

of Directors of Premium Holdings P/L; General Manager
in Corporate Finance Department of Peregrine Securities

COO of Shang Hua Holdings Limited

(Taiwan); Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Premium Group P/L; Senior Vice President of Asia
Financial Securities; Director and Head of Corporate
Finance and Equity Capital Market of CU Securities and
CU Capital ( Asia ).
Chairman of the Board of
Directors and General
Manager of Tian Xiang Investment

Consultant

Company; Vice President
of the Securities Association of China, Director of
PhD degree, Financial Analyst. He served as a Stock
Investment Analyst at equity department of Reserves and
Trust Bank in France; Consultant of Securities Law Draft
Unit; Senior Specialist of CSRC; Deputy Director of
Information Research Department; Program Leader of
the Securities Trading Monitoring System; Vice
Lin Yixiang

President of Hua Xia Securities Limited; Consultant of
Fund Investment Law Draft Unit; Securities Law
revision consultant; “Listed Companies M&A
Management Rule” amendment specialist. He was the
Independent Director of the Board of Directors of
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Corp; Yangtze River Power Corp.

the security analysis committee of the Securities
Association of China; Specialist of Fund Products
and Fund Companies Appraisal Committee of China Security Regulatory
Committee; Company
Standardization Assessment Committee member
of China Securities
Association; Securities Innovation Initiatives Assessment

Committee

member of China Securities Association; Fund
Management Qualification Recognition Committee of Ministry of Labor
and Social Security of
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations
China; Gold Investment
Analyst Qualification Assessment

Committee

Member; Independent Director of the Board of Direc-

Lin Yixiang

tors of Stainless Steel Corp,
based in Taiyuan, Shanxi
Province; Taikang Asset
Management Co., Ltd.; Tebon Securities Co.,Ltd.
Master’s degree, Senior Engineer. He served as program
Manager, Vice Director of the Machinery Office, Assistant
of Institute Head, Director of Multi-operation Office, Vice
Institute Head and CPC Committee Commissioner in
Shandong Electric Power Research Institute; Vice General

Gai Yongguang

Manager of Shandong Electric Power Materials Co.;

Vice General Manager of

General Manager of Shandong Electric Power

Ying Da International

International Trade Co.; Deputy President and CPC

Trust and Investment Co.,

Secretary of Shandong Electric Power Research Institute;

Ltd.

Deputy President of Shandong Electric Power College;
Vice General Manager, Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors and General Manager of Ying Da International
Trust and Investment Co., Ltd..
MBA, Senior Economist. He served as Director and Head

Pu Jian

of Manufacture Department, General Manager ’s

Managing Director and

Assistant, and General Manager at Jiangsu Province

Chairman of the Execu-

Suntory Food Co., Ltd.; worked in Light Industry

tive Committee of Citic

Department of Citic-Sociate Trust Investment Company;

Investment Trust Limited;

Deputy Manager of Investment Banking and Assistant

Director of China CITIC

Manager of Citic Securities Limited; General Manager

Group;

and Secretary of Communist Party Committee (CPC) at

CITIC-Prudential Life In-

Citic Securities, Shanghai Office; Deputy General

surance Co., Ltd.; Direc-

Manager and Manager of Research Department at Citic

tor of Kang Tai Life Insur-

Securities Limited; Vice-Chairman of Board of Directors

ance Co., Ltd.; Director of

and Secretary of CPC Committee at Citic Sea Helicopter

Citic Sea Helicopter

Limited; General Manager and Secretary of CPC

Limited.

Committee at Citic Sea Helicopter Limited.

30

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

Director

of

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees

Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

MBA, Chemical Engineer. Mr. Zink’s previous positions
include Manager of Customer Relationship in Citibank,
Cote d’Ivoire; Head of Citibank Gabon Branch and Subbranch; Manager of Corporate Banking, Citibank Tunis;
Michael Zink

Head of Corporate Banking, Citibank Russia; Head of
Corporate Banking, Citigroup Australia; Country Head
of Citigroup Indonesia; Executive Director and Senior
Executive Vice President of Corporate and Investment
Banking for Citigroup Korea.
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science. Mr. Massey was
Managing Director for Citigroup Corporate and
Investment Bank in New York; Managing Director of
Citigroup London; Senior Risk Officer for Citigroup
Corporate and Investment Bank Asia Pacific based in

R. Daniel

Hong Kong; Executive Director of Credit Risk

Massey

Management of Citibank Mexico, S.A.

Before

rejoining Citibank in 1996, Mr. Massey was Executive
Vice President of Fleet Bank, based in Albany, New
York (now Bank of America). He has served as
President and Chief Operating Officer of AMBAC, a
financial guaranty insurance firm listed on the New
York Stock Exchange.
Bachelor of Business Administration. Mr. Lim was the
Vice President and Regional Business Director for
Citibank China Consumer Banking. He has served as
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) for the Global Consumer
Raymond Lim

Banking of Citibank A.S Turkey; Director of Channel
Management for Citibank Europe, Middle East and
Africa region; CEO for Citibank Poland Consumer
Banking; CEO for Citibank Philippines Consumer
Banking; Director of Citiphone Banking in Singapore;
and Director of Credit Cards for Citibank Singapore.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

MBA, Bachelor in Economics. Mr. Stanley started his
career with Citibank as Management Associate in New
York, and held positions in various departments before
becoming the Head of Financial Institutions and
Securities Services in Citibank Singapore. His other
Richard D.

positions prior to becoming the CEO of Citigroup China

Stanley

include:

Head of Corporate Banking at Citibank

Thailand; Citigroup Country Officer for Citibank China;

Chief Executive Officer
of Citigroup China and a
member of the Citigroup
Management Committee

Region Head of Corporate and Investment Banking for
Citigroup ASEAN (Singapore, Malaysia, Philippines,
Indonesia, Thailand, Vietnam, and Brunei) and Citigroup
Country Officer for Singapore.

Robert Morse

MBA, Master in Law. Prior to his current position, Mr.

Managing Director and

Morse served as Head of Global Investment Banking.

CEO of Asia Pacific Mar-

Earlier, he held a variety of investment banking

kets & Banking. He serves

management positions. During the period 1997 - 1998,

as a member of the Citi

Mr. Morse served as Chief Executive Officer of Salomon

Operating Committee,

Smith Barney Asia-Pacific. Mr. Morse joined Salomon

Management Committee,

in 1985 as a Vice President, was appointed Director in

and the CMB Planning

1989 and Managing Director in 1992. Prior to joining

Group. Mr. Morse also

Salomon, Mr. Morse worked briefly at Richard Ellis,

serves as a member of the

Inc., a real estate management firm, and at Lehman

SSB Capital Partners and

Brothers. Mr. Morse is a 1977 graduate of Yale College,

CVC Asia Pacific Invest-

and a 1981 graduate of the Harvard Graduate School of

ment Committees, and the

Business Administration and the Harvard Law School.

Citi International Adviso-

Mr. Morse also serves on a variety of charitable

ry Board

organization boards.
Before retirement in 2004, Mr. Wong was the Executive
Vice President and the Global Head of Emerging
Markets Sales & Trading in over sixty countries at
Citigroup. He was also a member of the Citigroup
Management Committee.
Mr. Wong was a Dollar Money Market Trader at Citibank
Y.S. Wong

Hong Kong; Head of Foreign Exchange; Treasurer at
Citibank Hong Kong; North Asia Regional Treasurer;
Regional Head of Financial Markets, Asia Pacific;
Global Head of Emerging Markets Sales & Trading at
Citigroup. Mr. Wong’s public service included: Director
of the Hong Kong Futures Exchange; Committee
Member, Corruption Prevention Committee of Hong
Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption;
President of the Hong Kong Forex Association.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations
General Manager of In-

PhD in Management Science & Engineer. He served as
a Vice Manager of Investment & Development Dept. in
Wang Jianmin

Zhejiang Zhongda Group Co.,Ltd., General Manager of
Investment & Development Dept. in Zhejiang Zhongda
Group Co., Ltd., Vice General Manager of Zhejiang
Zhongda Group Investment Co., Ltd..

vestment & Development
Dept. in Zhejiang Zhongda Group Co., Ltd., Supervisor of Zhejiang Zhongda
Group Co.,Ltd. and Vice
General Manager of Zhejiang Zhongda Group Investment Co., Ltd.

Junior College Diploma record. He has once hold the
Engineer of Shanghai International Port (Group) Co.,
Sun Hui

Ltd., Sales manager of Lamex (HongKong) Co., Ltd.,

Director of Shanghai Li

Director of Shanghai International Cartoon Co., Ltd.,

Cheng Investment and De-

Director of Shanghai Zhi Lian Communication Co.,

velopment Co., Ltd.

Ltd.,Director of Shanghai Long Sheng Technology
Development Co., Ltd..
Bachelor Degree and Professional post of accountant.
He was successively in charge of Finance Department
and Investment Banking Department of Beijing
Zhang Wei

International Electric Power Development Investment
Company, and the manager of Finance and Investment

General Manager of BEIH
Finance Company Limited.

Banking Department of Beijing Energy Investment
Holding Company.
Junior college graduate. He served as Secretary of the
Office of Guangdong Provincial Government (Assisting
roles of divisions or equivalents, leading roles of
Fu Fengyun

divisions or equivalents); Group Leader of Guangdong
Development Bank Discipline Group, Member of CPC
Leadership Group; Secretary of Guangdong
Development Bank Discipline Committee, Member of
CPC Committee, Chairman of Trade Union.
MBA, Bachelor of Arts. He has served as an English
Teacher in Zhejiang Paper-Making Technical School;
Deputy Division Head of Protocol of the Foreign Affairs

Yu Jin

Office of Ningbo Municipality; Management Associate,
HR Officer, Manager and Assistant Vice President of
Citigroup China Shanghai Branch and Country Human
Resources Director, Vice President, and Director of
Citigroup China.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

Master in Law. Ms. Liu was admitted to the Taipei Bar
Association in 1988. Ms. Liu previously served as the
Vita Liu

Country Legal Counsel for Citigroup Taiwan. Prior to
joining Citigroup she worked in private practices and
was a local partner at Baker & McKenzie, Taipei.
Bachelor and Master in International Finance. Mr. Goh
used to serve as the Senior Economist of Monetary
Authority of Singapore; FX dealer in Chase Manhattan;
Asia Pacific Consumer Balance Sheet Manager, Foreign

J.C. Goh

Currency Business Director and Treasury Manager of
Asia Pacific Consumer Bank Treasury in Citigroup;
Assistant General Manager Sales & Structuring of Saudi
American Bank, Saudi Arabia and Treasury Director of
Asia Pacific Consumer Bank Treasury in Citibank, based
in Singapore.
Master of Finance, Bachelor in communication. With
15 years of experience, Ms. Chan was previously the
Head of Corporate Communications for Citigroup
Investment Research Asia Pacific based in Hong Kong.
She has served as Vice President and Country Corporate

Yvonne Chan

Affairs Head of Citigroup Malaysia; Assistant Vice
President of Corporate Banking; Credit Analyst and
Manager of Corporate Communications in Citigroup
Malaysia. Before joining Citigroup Ms. Chan was a
Consultant with TQPR (Malaysia) and a Senior Accounts
Executive with Daniel J. Edelman public relations
agency.
Master in Finance. Mr. Chou used to serve as the
Manager of Treasury Operations Department; Head of
Financial Accounting & Reporting of Citibank, Taipei;

Edward Chou

Chief Financial Officer of Chase Manhattan Bank,
Taipei; Chief Financial Officer of Citigroup China;
Representative of Citibank China Head Office and Chief
of Staff of Citigroup China.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

Master of Economics. He used to serve for Economy
Management Faculty of Electronic Industry Cadre College
as the Lecturer of Management Teaching Research Office
and the Vice Head of Economy Management Faculty. He
also held position in Everbright International Leasing Co.,
Zheng
Xiaolong

Ltd.. After joining GDB, he has participated in Guangdong
Development Bank Co., Ltd.’s acquisition of Zhong Yin
Trust & Investment Co., Ltd.. He has served as the Deputy
Branch President in charge of Huizhou Branch’s
operation; the General Manager of the Planning and
Management Department of the Head Office, the Head
of the Restructuring and Development Office and the
Head of the Preparatory Working Group for BOD Office.
Master degree, Senior Economist. He used to work for
the State Development and Planning Commission as
Deputy Director of Policy Research Office and Deputy
Director of Laws and Regulations Restructuring Bureau.
After joining GDB, he has served as Deputy General

Zheng
Lianming

Manager of HO General Office, Deputy General
Manager and General Manager of International Business
Department, President Assistant of Head Office and
concurrently as President of Foshan Branch, President
Assistant of Head Office and concurrently as General
Manager of the HO General Office, Vice President and
member of CPC Committee of the Bank.
Associate degree.Senior Economist. He has served as the
Director General of Ningbo Commodities Price Bureau;
Deputy Director of Ningbo Finance & Trade Office;
Director General of Ningbo Commercial Bureau, Head
of Yinxian County, Deputy General Manager in Zhong
Yin Trust and Investment Corporation Ltd. and was in

Jin Haiteng

charge of oversea business. He was responsible for
establishing Guangdong Development Bank Hangzhou
Branch, and remained as the President, Secretary of CPC
Committee of Hangzhou Branch . He also has served as
Vice President of the Head Office and member of Party
Committee of Guangdong Development Bank.
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Incumbency in the
Name

Main Working Experience

shareholding companies
or other organizations

MBA. With over 33 years in Citigroup Ms. Ong was
previously the Head of Audit & Risk Review in Citibank
Korea Inc. She used to serve as Auditor for Citigroup
Eliza Ong

Asia Pacific Audit & Risk Review, Head of Citigroup
Asia Pacific Processing Center for Cash Management
and Asia Pacific Head of Planning and Financials for
Global Transaction Services Business based in Citigroup
Singapore.
MBA, Bachelor of Arts. Mr. Moore served in the Citibank
as an Inspector for the International Inspection Division;
Country Manager of Netherlands Antilles Branch, Senior
Country Operations Officer and Financial Controller for
Citibank Dominican Republic; Service Management

David A. Moore

Group Head and Financial Controller for Citibank
Ecuador; Senior Country Operations Officer of Citibank
in Poland, Russia, Taiwan and Hong Kong; Director of
Operations and Technology at Citigroup for the Greater
China Region, and Head of Citigroup’s Asia Global
Markets Operations.
MBA from the Graduate School of Business at the
University of Chicago, USA and a Chartered Accountant
from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.
He used to serve as the Branded Consumer Industry

Gaurang

Head in the Corporate Banking Group in Citibank, India

Hattangdi

Branch; Business Head for Commercial Banking Group,
Citibank, India Branch; Managing Director and Asia
Business Development Head for the Commercial
Banking Group at Citibank. He is a Senior Credit Officer
in Citibank.
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Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
No Directors, Supervisors or Senior Managers hold shares of the Bank.

4)

Remuneration and Incentive
The Bank’s Senior Management is subject to the examination and supervision of the Board of Directors, as
well as to the supervision and management of the China Banking Regulatory Commission. The Bank is
improving towards a fair and transparent performance appraisal and incentives mechanism for its Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management.

5)

Alteration of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
On May 28, 2004, the Annual General Meeting of the Bank elected the following persons into the Fourth
Board of Directors: Li Ruohong, Zhang Guanghua, Liu Yongsheng, Wang Xin, Guo Xiaoping, Li Jinsheng,
He Xiaohua, Xia Yangjun, Liang Jianmin, Li Yingguo, Chen Jinfei, Qin Zhongshun, Zhai Meiqing, Lin Li,
Chen Baoping. And the following persons were elected into the third Board of Supervisors: Fu Fengyun,
Wang Jianmin, Zhang Wei, Sun Hui.
According to the resolution by the First Meeting of the Fourth Board of Directors on May 28, 2004, Li
Ruohong was elected as Chairman of the Bank’s Fourth Board of Directors, and the following senior
managers were appointed: Zhang Guanghua as President, Liu Yongsheng as Executive Vice-President, and
Li Zhiqiang, Wang Xin and Guo Xiaoping as Vice-Presidents.
According to the resolution by the Second Meeting of the Fourth Board of Directors on September 10,
2004, the following senior managers were appointed: Jin Haiteng, Zhang Qingxiu, and Zheng Lianming as
Vice-Presidents, and Zheng Xiaolong as Secretary to the Board of Directors. And approval was given to Li
Zhiqiang’s resignation from the post of Vice-President due to retirement.
On December 18, 2006, the First Extraordinary General Meeting of the Bank in 2006 elected the following
persons into the Bank’s Fifth Board of Directors: Wang Fenghua, Wang Xin, Liu Lefei, Liu Jiade, Li Ruge, Li
Ruohong, Chan Tai Loi (independent director), Li Yixiang (independent director), Gai Yongguang, Pu Jian,
Michael Zink, R. Daniel Massey, Raymond Lim, Richard Stanley, Robert Morse, Y.S. Wong (independent
director).
According to the resolution by the First Meeting of the Bank’s Fifth Board of Directors on December 18,
2006, Li Ruohong was elected as Chairman of the Bank’s Fifth Board of Directors and legal representative,
with the appointment of the following senior managers: Michael Zink as President, R. Daniel Massey as
Vice-President and Director of Risk Management, Jin Haiteng as Vice-President, Zheng Xiaolong as
Secretary to the Board of Directors, Edward Chou as Chief Financial Officer, J.C. Goh as Director of
Treasury, Eliza Ong as Director of Audit, Vita Liu as Director of Compliance, David A. Moore as Director
of Technology and Operations, and Wang Xin as Chief Synergy Officer.
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According to the resolution by the Second Meeting of the Fifth Board of Directors on January 30, 2007,
the following senior managers were appointed: Yu Jin as Director of Human Resources, Yvonne Chan as
Director of Corporate Affairs, Zheng Lianming as Director of Strategic Planning, Gaurang Hattangdi as
Director of Corporate Banking and Raymond Lim as Director of Consumer Banking.

2.

Employees
As of the end of 2006, the Bank had 12443 employees, including 21 with PhD degree, 720 with master’s degree
(or postgraduate degree), 4,893 with bachelor’s degree (or undergraduate degree), 5,224 with associate degree
from junior colleges, 757 with vocational training certificates, 680 with high school diploma and 148 with below
high school diploma.
By the end of the reporting period, the bank has 317 retired employees.
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Under modern market economy, the motive for the Bank's scientific management and efficient operation lies in the
establishment of an effective internal scheme of power balance, incentives and controls. Good corporate governance is
exactly the systematic arrangement which ensures the balance of interests of such stakeholders as shareholders, senior
management, depositors, employees and the public. It is the source and base of the Bank's good operation and scientific
management, and also the guarantee for the ultimate interest of the Bank and shareholders.
Since 2004, the Bank has seized the opportunity of reform and restructuring in improving corporate governance, and
has made outstanding progress.

1.

Successful reform and restructuring
Reform and restructuring is the Bank’s essential choice in disposing of historical burdens and realizing steady
and sustainable development. The Bank formally started its reform and restructuring in May 2005, under the
guidance and support of the CPC Central Committee and the State Council, with the great attention and support
of the provincial CPC Committee and Government of Guangdong, and under the guidance and assistance of the
People’s Bank of China and China Banking Regulatory Commission.
For the sake of restructuring and attracting capital, the Bank engaged financial consultants, lawyers, and intermediary
organs of auditing and assessment in the selection of investors. The selection was in conformity to the requirements
of laws, regulations, and business principals, with minimum costs and maximum interests for all parties. During
the process, we also strictly adhered to the principles of “ transparent procedures, fair opportunities and impartial
results ”. Besides, we selected investors on the basis of high share price, and good terms of disclaimer and low risks
for the government, with due consideration to the perfect combination of the price with other terms and conditions,
as well as to the healthy development of the Bank’s future. On November 16, 2006, the Bank signed the Share
Subscription Agreement and other collateral agreements with the group of domestic and international investors
including Citigroup Inc., China Life Insurance and others, on December 18, 2006, the restructuring and transaction
process was smoothly completed, bringing a satisfactory end to the restructuring.

2.

Improving shareholder structure by removal of unqualified shareholders and introduction of
qualified domestic and international investors
According to supervisory requirements and its actual conditions, the Bank has removed shareholders without the
qualification to invest in financial institutions, including those unqualified shareholders of governmental or
public institutions, shareholders of preferred shares or as natural persons within Guangdong Province. The
regulation was so conducted that the shares of the unqualified shareholders were assigned to Guangdong Finance
Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited (GFIH) In addition, GFIH also accepted transferal shares held by the
Bank’s Trades at the Head Office and some branches, as well as shares by some shareholders as payment of
debts. According to the written reply by the China Banking Regulatory Commission, GFIH has already handled
related assignment of the above-mentioned shares.
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After reform and restructuring, the domestic and international investors including Citigroup Inc., China Life
Insurance, State Grid Corporation, CITIC Trust & Investment and IBM Credit, etc. have gained control of the
Bank, holding a total 85.5888% of the shares. Based on the Technical Cooperation and Assistance Agreement
signed between the Bank and Citigroup Inc., Citigroup Inc. will provide the Bank with the support and assistance
in the nine domains of risk management, internal audit and control, Bank’s governance policies and procedures,
financial accounting, reporting and control function, balance sheet management, human resources management,
operational management, information technology and financial innovation, so as to speed up the improvement of
the Bank's corporate governance.

3.

General revision of the GDB Articles of Association
According to the Company Law of the People's Republic of China, Commercial Bank Law of the People's Republic
of China, Banking Administration Law of the People's Republic of China, and other related laws and regulations,
and with full consideration to opinions of the lately-introduced domestic and international investors on the revision
of the Bank's Articles of Association and their requirements on corporate governance during the process of
reform and restructuring, the Bank has generally revised the Articles of Association, which has been rectified by
the China Banking Regulatory Commission. The revised Articles of Association includes 13 chapters and 304
articles. It is a document with legal binding in regulating the Bank's organization and operation, specifying the
rights and obligations between the Bank and shareholders, as well as among the shareholders, providing an
excellent system guarantee for the progress, regulation and efficiency of the corporate governance structure.

4.

Team building of directors and managers with international vision by electing and appointing
new Board of Directors and senior management
The Bank convened the First Extraordinary General Meeting of the year on December 18, 2006, which elected
the Bank's Fifth Board of Directors. Currently, the Board of Directors has 16 members, including 3 independent
directors, all for tenure of three years. According to relevant procedures, the Bank convened the First Meeting of
the Fifth Board of Directors on December 18, 2006, which elected Li Ruohong as Chairman of the Bank's Fifth
Board of Directors and legal representative, and elected Michael Zink as President, Vice-Presidents, Secretary to
the Board of Directors and other senior managers were appointed.
In compliance with Articles of Association (AoA), the Bank has established a corporate governance framework
comprising the General Meeting, Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors and Senior Management. The General
Meeting, Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors and Senior Management carry out their duties in strict
conformity to laws and the Bank’s Articles of Association. They are independent from each other and provide
checks and balance on and coordinate with each other. This mechanism produces positive effects on the Bank’s
corporate governance. With the value maximization of the Bank and its shareholders, the Bank will strive to
improve its corporate governance structure. The Bank will coordinate the relationships among the Party Committee,
the General Meeting, the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors and Senior Management. The core function
of the Board of Directors will be fully utilized and the decision-making power of the Board of Directors and
execution ability of the Senior Management will be strengthened to realize a steady and sustainable development
of the Bank.
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Administration and Management Organization

In accordance with “The Article of Communist Party of PRC”, “ The Corporate Law of China”, “ The Trade
Union Law of China,” and the relevant laws and regulations, the Bank has established and completed the party
system and Trade Union system in every level. The bank also found a decision-making and management structure
including the Shareholder’s Meeting, Board of Director, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, CPC Party
Committee, and TradeUnion. The Chairman of the Board also performs as the Secretary General of CPC Party
Committee. The Bank will follow the laws and regulations to associate the relationship between Party Committee,
“three meetings” Senior Management, and Trade Union. Taking the full play of party committee’s political leading
role so as to guide the running of the bank and to ensure the implementation of party and state policies are
necessary. The bank will also support the Trade Union to operate independently in accordance with relative laws
and regulations, and establish and complete the democratic management system with employee representative
congress as basic form so as to implement the democratic management efficiently.
Specialized Committees under the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has set up five specialized committees under itself: Strategic Committee, Audit Committee,
Risk Management and Connected Transaction Control Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and
Nomination Committee. Up to or more than 50% of members of Audit Committee, Risk Management and
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Connected Transaction Control Committee and Nomination Committee are independent directors and the heads
of the said committees are all independent directors.
Strategic Committee
-Head: Li Ruohong
-Members: Michael Zink, Richard Stanley, Liu Jiade, Wang Xin, Li Ruge, Pu Jian
-Responsibility: To formulate the business objectives and long-term development strategies of the Bank and to
supervise and review the implementation of the annual operation plan and investment scheme.
Audit Committee
-Head: Lin Yixiang
-Members: Y.S. Wong, Robert Morse
-Responsibility: Reviewing the Bank’s accounting policies, financial conditions and procedures of financial
reporting of the Bank; reviewing the risk and compliance of the Bank; responsible for the annual audit of the
Bank and shall submit a report for the consideration of the Board of Directors commenting on the truthfulness,
completeness and accuracy of the audited financial report.
Risk Management and Connected Transaction Control Committee
-Head: Y.S. Wong
-Members: Chan Tai Loi, Lin Yixiang, R. Daniel Massey, Wang Fenghua
-Responsibility: Supervising the risk control situation of the senior management in respect to credit, market,
operations, etc; regularly evaluating the risks, risk management, risk endurance capacity, and level of risk
endurance of the bank; reviewing the internal control system of the Bank and propose opinions for improvements
regarding the risk management and internal control and evaluating the effectiveness and procedures of the internal
examination department; reviewing the financial information of the Bank and the disclosure of the same; checking
and examining the connected transactions of the Bank; managing the connected transactions of the Bank and
controlling the risks of connected transactions.
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
-Head: Robert Morse and Wang Fenghua
-Members: Liu Lefei, Gai Yongguang, Richard Stanley, Pu Jian
-Responsibility: Studying, evaluating and making suggestions to the standards and guidelines of the assessment
system for Directors and Senior Management; formulating remuneration proposals for Directors, Supervisors,
President and other members of Senior Management; making suggestions to the board of Directors regarding the
same; and supervising the implementation of the proposals.
Nomination Committee
-Head: Chan Tai Loi
-Members: Lin Yixiang, Raymond Lim
-Responsibility: Formulating the standards and procedures for the appointment of Directors and members of
Senior Management; conducting preliminary examination on the qualification and terms of employment of the
candidates for Directors and members of Senior Management and making recommendations to the Board of
Directors; searching extensively for candidates qualified to act as Directors and members of Senior Management.
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1.

General Meetings

General Meeting in 2004
On May 28, 2004, the Bank’s Annual General Meeting was convened in Guangzhou, presided over by Chairman
Li Ruohong.
The meeting was attended by 230 shareholders and representatives of shareholders, representing 3,149,000,000
shares, accounting for 87.81% of the Bank's total capital share. The meeting was convened in compliance with
the “ Company Law ” and the “Articles of Association” and the resolutions upon voting were legal and valid.
The meeting considered and adopted the following proposals by open ballot: “ Work Report by the Board of
Directors,” “ Report on Final Financial Accounts and Proposal on Profit Distribution for 2001-2003,” “ Proposal
on the Planning of Corporate Governance,” “ Proposal on the New Shareholders for 2001-2003,” “ Proposal on
Capital Increase,” and “ Proposal on Electing the New Board of Directors and Board of Supervisors .”

2.

General Meeting in 2005
On November 30, 2005, the Bank’s First Extraordinary General Meeting of the year was convened in Guangzhou,
presided over by Chairman Li Ruohong.
The meeting was attended by 315 shareholders and representatives of shareholders, representing 3,301,000,000
shares, accounting for 92.05% of the Bank's total capital share. The meeting was convened in compliance with
the “ Company Law” and the “ Articles of Association”, and the resolutions upon voting were legal and valid.
The meeting considered and adopted the following proposals by open ballot: “ Proposal on Application with the
Extraordinary General Meeting for Authorizing the Board of Directors to Prepare and Implement the Financial
Restructuring Scheme,” “ Proposal on Introducing Domestic and Overseas Investors in Capital and Share
Increases,” “ Proposal on Disposal of Non-performing Assets,” and “ Proposal on Application with Extraordinary
General Meeting for Authorizing the Board of Directors to Amendment the Articles of Association.”
King & Wood Lawyer’s Office provided on-site witness for and released legal opinions on the legality of the
convening and procedures of the meeting, the qualification of the shareholders present, the voting procedures
and other relevant issues.

3.

General Meeting in 2006
On December 18, 2006, the Bank’s First Extraordinary General Meeting of the year was convened in Guangzhou,
presided over by Chairman Li Ruohong.
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The meeting was attended by 155 shareholders and representatives of shareholders, representing 11,010,000,000
shares, accounting for 96.51% of the Bank’s total capital share. The meeting was convened in compliance with
the “ Company Law” and the “ Articles of Association,” and the resolutions upon voting were legal and valid.
This Extraordinary General Meeting elected 16 members to the Bank's Fifth Board of Directors by open ballot
on each of the candidates. And the list of Directors is as follows (in strokes order of family names for Chinese
names, in alphabetic order of family names for English names): Wang Fenghua, Wang Xin, Liu Lefei, Liu Jiade,
Li Ruge, Li Ruohong, Chan Tai Loi (independent director), Lin Yixiang (independent director), Gai Yongguang,
Pu Jian, Michael Zink, R. Daniel Massey, Raymond Lim, Richard Stanley, Robert Morse, Y.S. Wong (independent
director). The tenure of the Bank's Fifth Board of Directors is three years.
King & Wood Lawyer’s Office provided on-site witness for and released legal opinions on the legality of the
convening and procedures of the meeting, the qualification of the shareholders present, the voting procedures
and other relevant issues.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
The year 2006 has been a milestone in the Bank's development, with great
success of its reform and restructuring after two years' efforts, leading to
a new era. The Bank's success in reform and restructuring is effectively
demonstrated in the improvement of its financial targets. By the end of
2006, net assets reached RMB 12.768 billion, core capital adequacy ratio
was at 6.68%, and non-performing asset ratio was as low as 3.96%
During the special period of reform and restructuring, the Bank has adhered
to the Scientific Concept of Development and reinforced overall risk
management structure, laying a good foundation for reform and
restructuring.
First, enhancing asset and liability management and ensuring stable
operation. The Bank has formulated a comprehensive operations planning
system, which can be adapted to the situations of restructuring and
reformation with clear guidance and to ensure the appropriate increase of
asset scale. To be steady and risk oriented, this planning system leverages
on the resources to branches that have high returns, strong market
competitiveness, and good risk control by focusing on capital control and
improving appraisal systems.
Second, adopting effective measures to intensify risk management. The Bank
put great attention to industrial and corporate information as well as the
changes in macroeconomic policies. Timely risk precaution and credit
business guidance ensure the steady running of the business. To reduce the
historic burden, the Bank enhanced the disposal of its non-performing assets.
By strictly adhering to the 5-tier classification standard of loan, the Bank
also introduced cash-flow discount method to estimate provision for nonperforming loans and modified the management system of its credit business,
which all helped to improve the risk management concept and capabilities
across the Bank. Furthermore, the Bank also carried out and followed the
sprit and guidance from CBRC for managing risks and the special caserectification to give merciless punishment for the serious breaches of laws,
regulation, and rules.
Third, the Bank consolidated the adjustment of its structure to strengthen its business driven forces. The customer,
business and product structures have been reformed actively to expand customer bases from top-tier large
enterprises to excellent SMEs and individual customers, developing personal banking business while maintaining
the steady development of the corporate banking business, and to develop the intermediate business, especially
in the low-risk wealth management business. The bank will adjust its business and resources in different regions
and branches so as to change the business model from extensive management and development to an inclusive
management development model.
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Total asset reached 373.908 billion by the end of 2006, an increase of 27% over 2005. RMB deposits increased
6.82%, demonstrating the adequate liquidity and sound capital allocation. Fee-based business has been enjoying
rapid development with optimizing portfolio. 1.75 million credit cards have been issued in past two years “ Yang
Yang Xing” interest free installment, loss card insurance within 48 hours, optional credit point, insurance products
with favorable premium, multi-channel maintenance customer service, all of which received positive feedback.
RMB trade business received the ‘Inter-bank Bond Settlement Excellence Award’ and the ‘Inter-bank Trader
Excellence Award in 2006 Banking Competition’ sponsored by PBOC, which strengthened our market position
and presence.
Judging from our financial targets, we should remain united and continue to consolidate the Bank’s financial
foundation by working together with collective wisdom and efforts with determination to reform, so as to constantly
improve the Bank's financial standing and to provide strong support to its robust development. Under the leadership
and with the support of the Board of Directors, the Bank will actively transform its principle of management,
deepen various reforms and speed up the transformation of its operating mechanism. With the general objective
of developing the Bank into a global financial institution, we will combine the business practices of world-class
banks with the domestic operating standards to adopt advanced market standards in the areas of risk management,
product innovation and client satisfaction. By so doing, the Bank shall and can become a customer-focused
company and a preferred employer in the financial service business, taking the lead and setting good examples in
employee satisfaction, training, leadership development and many other dimensions in the market.

1.

Additional Financial Indicators in the Past Three Years as of the Period
Supervisory
Major indicators (%)

indicators (%)

End of 2006

End of 2005

End of 2004

≥ 8

6.70

inapplicable

inapplicable

Capital adequacy ratio

≤ 5

5.8

4.5

22.7

RMB

≤ 75

68.15

53.29

62.12

FX

≤ 85

24.82

29.71

40.92

≤ 75

68.01

54.03

72.18

RMB

≥ 25

52.14

47.64

44.12

FX

≥ 60

162.62

112.28

99.46

≤4

0.03

0.04

0.33

≤8

0.38

0.36

0.67

≤ 10

11.76

inapplicable

inapplicable

≤ 50

69.47

inapplicable

inapplicable

Non-performing loan rate

Loan/deposit ratio

Converted
into RMB

Ratio of assets liquidity

Called-in
Proportion of Call loans

RMB
Called-out
RMB

Proportion of loans to the top
single borrower
Proportion of loans to the top
10 borrowers
Note:

Due to reform and restructuring, financial indicators in 2006 are incomparable with those in 2004
and 2005

46

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

2.

Report of the Board of Directors

Risk Management
1)

Distribution of Loans by Industry
The top five industries borrowing from the Bank as of the end of 2006 were:
Unit: RMB 1,000
Industry

Balance

% of total

Manufacturing

47,277,050

21.79

Retailing & wholesale

26,469,573

12.20

Real estate

12,393,868

5.71

Transportation

10,115,467

4.66

9,572.051

4.41

105,828,009

48.77

Energy & raw material
Total
2)

Regional Distribution of Loans
Unit: RMB 1,000
Region

Balance

% of total

Guangzhou

44,884,503

20.68

Hangzhou

30,299,907

13.96

Beijing

21,624,932

9.97

Nanjing

19,356,037

8.92

Zhengzhou

15,485,166

7.14

Shanghai

13,862,014

6.39

Dongguan

13,652,478

6.29

Shenzhen

11,711,248

5.40

Foshan

7,252,623

3.34

Kunming

5,200,873

2.40

Dalian

4,788,309

2.21

Others

28,873,291

13.30

Total

216,991,381

100.00
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3)

Top 10 Borrowers
As of the end of 2006, the top 10 borrowers of the Bank are: Highway
Administration Bureau of Henan’s Traffic Department, Changsha
Urban Construction, Investment & Development Co., Ltd., Shenyang
Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd., Sinar Mas Paper Industry (China)
Investment Co., Ltd., Shougang Group, Guangdong Meihe Express
Highway Co., Ltd., China Resources Co., Ltd., China Power
Investment Corporation － Jiangsu Kanshan Power Generation Co.,
Ltd., Shenyang Hengxin National Assets Operation Co., Ltd., and
Beijing Capital Land Co., Ltd..
Total balance of loans released by the Bank to the 10 largest clients
was RMB 8,858 million, which accounted for 4.08% of the
outstanding loans at the end of term.

4)

Five Categories of Loans and Provision for Loan Loss
According to the “Notice on Promoting and Improving Credit Risk Classification” (Ref.: CBRC [2003]
No.22) by China Banking Regulatory Commission and “Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises
No.22-Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments” by the Ministry of Finance, the Bank has
revised the “Management Measures for Credit Risk Classification,” dividing loans into the five categories
of “Pass”, “ Special-mentioned,” “Substandard,” “Doubtful” and “Loss” when evaluating the borrowing
client’s state of operations and loan quality, borrowers' ability to repay loans and the possibility of recovering
the principal and interests. Based on the classifications and the Bank's “Working Instructions on Evaluating
Recoverable Amount of Bad Loans,” provision for possible loan loss is made on an appropriate percentage
with attention to the borrower’s ability and willingness to repay the debts, reasonable value of the collateral
and pledge, the guarantor’s vicarious liability, company management, as well as full consideration to the
recoverability of the loan.
a)

Five-tier Loan Grading Result & Provision for Impairment
Unit: RMB 1,000
Item

End of 2006

% of total

Provision for impairment (%)

Pass

188,087,897.98

86.68

0.84

16,225,624.71

7.48

5.96

Sub-standard

7,228,556.88

3.33

18.24

Doubtful

4,673,947.43

2.15

59.75

Special-mentioned

Loss
Total

48

775,353.79

0.36

100

216,991,380.79

100.00

3.42
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b)

Changes to the Bank's Non-Performing Loans within the reported period
Unit: RMB 1,000
End of 2005
Item

5)

Change within the period

End of 2006

Amount

% of total

Amount

% of total

Amount

% of total

Sub-standard

5,303,683.03

3.20

1,924,873.85

36.49

7,228,556.88

3.33

Doubtful

1,986,566.13

1.20

2,687,381.30

50.95

4,673,947.43

2.15

Loss

112,937.60

0.07

662,416.19

12.56

775,353.79

0.36

Total

7,403,186.76

4.47

5,274,671.34

100

12,677,858.10

5.84

Provision for Loan Loss in 2006
Unit: RMB 1,000
Provision for possible loan loss
Opening Balance

5,391,992

Charge for the year

2,948,096

Recovery of loans previously written off

27,696

write-offs for the year

- 940,620

transfer-out for the year

-115

Closing balance
6)

7,427,049

Investments Provision
Investments Provision was RMB 8.7 million as of the end of 2006, compared with RMB 49.6 million at
the beginning of 2006

7)

Basic Information of Debt Previous Contracted (DPC)
The Bank's DPC mainly include real estates, lands, marketable
securities, vehicles etc. The Bank’s book balance of the DPC was
RMB 149.72 million, compared with RMB 747.60 million at the
beginning of the year. The Bank's DPC provision at the end of 2006
was RMB 93.51 million, against RMB 314.35 million at the
beginning of the year.

8)

External Investments and Bank-owned Enterprises and Entities
The Bank's external equity investments as of the end of 2006
included: RMB 42,210,000 in China Unipay Co., Ltd.; RMB
4 , 1 0 0 , 0 0 0 i n Guangdong G D B I n t e r n a t i o n a l F i n a n c i a l
Consultation Co., Ltd.; and RMB 2,680,000 in Shenzhen
Finance Electronic Settlement Center. The Bank has no selfrun enterprise or entity.
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Risk Management of Group Client Credit Business
During the report period, the Bank has continued to improve the comprehensive and unified credit system
for corporate clients as well as improved the construction of such a system throughout the Bank. Among
other things, more attention has been given to assess management and general risk control of group clients.
During the process, Head Office and branches have cooperated and coordinated to provide better risk
warnings and notices concerning group clients and implementing full process control and risk management
in that aspect. As a result, the Bank has improved its risk management of credit granting to group clients.

10)

Off-balance Sheet Projects which may have Material Impact on Financial Position and Business
Performance
Unit: RMB 1000 Yuan
Item
Off-balance sheet interest receivables

11)

End of 2006

End of 2005

595,434

586,121

Loan commitments

13,774,049

8,781,475

Bank acceptances

72,426,987

79,880,893

Providing letter of guarantees

6,341,897

9,700,331

Providing letters of credit

3,754,409

4,493,093

Derivative financial instruments

3,575,113

6,222,647

Major Policies, Measures and Effects of Non-Performing Assets Management
In order to eliminate non-performing assets and to prevent the increase of new ones, the Bank has reinforced
the management of non-performing assets with the great help and support of the Provincial Government of
Guangdong and supervisory authorities. As a result, the Bank's non-performing loan rate declined by nearly
17%, compared with the end of 2004.
1.

Great support by the Provincial Government of Guangdong. Firstly, the Provincial Government of
Guangdong actively constructs a harmonious financial eco-system. The Provincial Government has
also enhanced the building of a legal system concerning local financial businesses by introducing
policies to encourage financial enterprises to settle and dispose of non-performing assets. In addition,
the Provincial Government has strengthened the construction of financial credit system by exposing
malicious debtors defaulting on bank loans or decreasing their credit grading, so that the Bank can
make early judgment on the quality of creditor’s rights and take active measures accordingly.
Moreover, the Provincial Government has also taken initiatives to coordinate with related functional
departments and to provide support to GDB in the aspects of taxes, management of repossessed land,
handling of cases, and identifying bad debts, so as to benefit the bank in the settlement and disposal
of non-performing assets. Secondly, the Provincial Government has offered great help to the Bank in
the disposal of non-performing asset portfolio by actively giving guidance, coordination and
encouragement to ensure the Bank’s success in reform and restructuring.
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2.

Enhancing the disposal of NPA and eliminating the existing NPA. Various disposal mechanisms have
been chosen by the Bank, including normal disposal method, litigation, assets reformation, project
liquidization, open auction, open selling,disposal of NPA portfolio, etc. During the disposal procedures,
GDB always preserved the principle which is making decision with joint approvals so as to ensure the
openness of NPA disposal and effectively prevent moral hazard and fault in decision making. As the
results, the NPA cash recovery rate was over 50% in the past three years. By November, 2006, the
package of non-performing assets has been carved out and handed over to the Guangdong Finance
Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited.

3.

Establishing a sound risk prevention mechanism to effectively prevent new bad loans. Firstly, it
concerns the building and improvement of early-warning mechanisms at macro and micro levels to
control the risk as early as possible. Furthermore, risks in business operation and management are
effectively prevented and controlled via the restructuring of risk management’s business process.
Secondly, post-loan management is reinforced by randomly inspecting and rechecking of credit
extensions with the branches’ authorities and by reports on new non-performing loans. The Bank has
also established and implemented the “Accountability System of Non-performing Loans Preservation,”
the “Tentative Measures of Responsibility Investigation for New Non-performing Loans,” and the
“Tentative Measures of Credit Responsibility Confirmation and Penalties,” etc, so as to specify the
responsibilities for non-performing loans of credit personnel and asset managers at various levels as
well as to carry out the “leader responsibility system for loan quality.” Thirdly, provisions are made
based on the potential loss rate of credit assets, strictly controlling the quality of new loans with
economic measures, so as to prevent new bad loans and improve the quality of credit assets.

12)

The completeness, rationality and effectiveness of the company's internal control systems
The Bank has already set up an organizational structure on the basis of mutual checks and balances with
reasonable division of labor, specific responsibilities and clear accountability. The Bank has established a
number of professional committees such as Credit Examination Committee, Finance Examination
Committee, Assets and Liabilities Management Committee, Internal Control and Compliance Committee,
and Central Procurement Committee. In the meantime, a preliminary internal control system has been
formulated which can prevent, control, supervise, and rectify the risk. Currently, the Bank has internal
control systems basically for all the business processes and procedures, and provide system guidelines for
preventing financial risk effectively.
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Risks and Countermeasures
Major risks confronting the Bank mainly include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risk. The
Bank has improved its risk management within the report period by reforming and modifying its management
mechanism, measures and methods.
1)

Credit Risk
The Bank has held firm to risk and the quality management as the core, promoting the full process of risk
control and overall risk management of credit businesses. Detailed measures include: adjusting credit
orientation and improving credit structure according to the state policy of macroeconomic control;
strengthening management of client credit grading and implementing mechanisms of client admittance and
exit; drawing up “Management Measures of Credit Guaranty” to enhance the management of guaranty
risks; continuing with dynamic and flexible authorization and improving the mechanism of examination
and approval to promote professional and independent loan approval; providing better guidance to branch
credit operations and reinforcing the centralized credit risk management; revising the “Management
Measures for Credit Risk Classification” and drawing up the “Working Instructions on Evaluating
Recoverable Amount of Non-performing Loans” to enhance risk identification, risk compensation
management and the ability of risk assessment; making adequate provisions to enhance risk resistance;
continuing with the construction of the credit management system and improving the credit risk control
platform, with perfection of the mechanisms of credit risk monitoring and early-warning; and actively
continuing with the research on risk measurement, loan pricing, economic assets, etc.

2)

Liquidity Risk
The Bank has reasonably arranged the structure of assets and liabilities with the comprehensive management
of liquidity indicators. It has given more attention to the centralized management and adjustment of the funds
within the system. As well as establishing the capital adjustment mechanism and the managerial system for
the forecast, statistics and analysis of the funds within the system, the Bank is monitoring the changes of and
provisions for major funds and recording the inflows and outflows of large quantities of funds. By holding
appropriate amount of assets with great cashing ability such as bonds and notes and by enhancing inter-bank
cooperation, the Bank is able to ensure the smoothness of the financing channels in the currency market as
well as the channels and measures of external financing. Also, by establishing a liquidity emergency plan, it
can ensure the early-warning of liquidity risks and the handling of liquidity crises.
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Market Risk
The Bank pays attention to the fluctuating trends of the macro economy and monetary policies and stresses
the research on the tendency of market rates. It adjusts the structure and portfolio of bonds investments
timely, and manages risk exposure of interest rates effectively with all kinds of instrument on and off the
balance sheet. There are also detailed rules on the exposure ceiling of the exchange risks of each currency,
with zero exposure management for the exchange, settlement and sales of RMB. Equipped with an information
terminal for major international transactions and a risk management system, the Bank evaluates the prices
and risks of dominant capital products including derivatives. In addition to making and improving relevant
measures for risk aversion and account management, it also prepares regular risks monitoring reports from
middle office for the management's reference, so as to enhance the management of market risks.

4)

Operational Risk
The Bank has continued to carrying through the requirements by China Banking Regulatory Commission
concerning special case regulation. Among other things, it has made efforts to raise the consciousness of
internal control within the Bank by means of the Bank's working conference on internal control construction
and special case regulation, report meetings on special case control, and meetings of the Head Office's
Internal Control Committee. It has also reinforced risk management and control by further establishing
and improving various business processes and procedures, as well as the internal control systems and the
business operating instructions for various departments and posts. Last but not least, the Bank has laid
more emphasis on supervision and appraisal. Apart from special examinations by the business departments
on their respective areas, the Audit and Supervision Departments has also carried out special reviews to
prevent operational risks and financial cases by conducting internal control assessments on branches covering
all the aspects for the past four years so as to discover and resolve problems in time. It has also adhered to
the stringent practice of accountability system in a bid to prevent other operational risks from occuring.

2007 Business Objectives and Main Measures
2007 is the Bank's first year towards the new horizon after disposing of its historical burdens. According to the
Bank’s general development objective, the guiding ideology and overall work planning of the Bank are as follows:
combining advanced business philosophy with the Bank's actual conditions; reinforcing the mechanisms of internal
control and risk management; specifying human resource management; consolidating its overall image, and
brand orientation; actively promoting integration and market development with solid foundation; constantly
improving operational quality and profitability; maintaining effective growth while actively enhancing the scope
and extent of various businesses.
1)

Active adjustment and innovative development
Each business line is required to make progress actively on a consolidated basis. With structural adjustment
and optimization as the working focus, the business model and growth pattern shall be transformed with a
better structure of assets and liabilities.
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Reinforcing internal control and improving the ability and quality of management
The “Project Summit” was carried out for process reconstruction. Financial control and supervision will
be regulated to increase the efficiency of resource usage and the ability of financial management. Effective
measures will be taken to improve the management of assets and liabilities.

3)

Reinforcing credit risk management and the disposal of existing non-performing assets to improve the
quality of credit business and assets
Firstly, credit policies and authorization management with steady and moderate adjustment will be
maintained, with risk and quality management as the core. Secondly, the process of risk examination and
approval will be reformed for stricter reviewing, and a mechanism of annual risk examination will be set
up for better approval. Thirdly, more attention will be paid to the identification and risk control of doubtful
credit assets, so as to ensure the objective risk measurement of and reasonable compensation for credit
assets. Fourthly, greater efforts will be made to dispose of existing non-performing assets.

4)

Strong guarantee for reform and development
Human resource management will be reinforced to provide the employees with a beneficial and promising
environment. Branch networks will be expanded and improved for distribution channel. And more efforts
will be made for the scientific system and infrastructure.

5)

Creating a vertical audit system with greater force
Great efforts will be made to build a vertical audit system that can further enhance the independence and
effectiveness of auditing and supervision. And auditing work will be intensified with careful audits on the
risks of information technology.

6)

Setting up a compliance management mechanism for compliance functions
An independent compliance department will be established, so as to establish and improve basic regulations
of the Bank's compliance management and to strengthen the work of anti-money laundering.

7)

Carrying through the accountability mechanism and intensifying anti-corruption
The leadership and working mechanism of case prevention and investigation will be improved and perfected,
so as to give full play to the Supervision Department and to establish a long-term mechanism for the
supervision and prevention of financial cases.
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Routine Work of the Board of Directors
1)

Details of Board Meetings
The Tenth Meeting of the Bank’s Third Board of Directors was convened on May 21, 2004, examining
and approving the following proposals:“ Work Report by the President”; “ Report on Final Financial
Accounts and Proposal on Profit Distribution for 2001-2003”; “ Proposal on the Planning of Corporate
Governance”; “ Proposal on the New Shareholders for 2001-2003” ;“ Proposal on Electing the New
Board of Director” . The meeting reached relevant resolutions.
The First Meeting of the Bank’s Fourth Board of Directors was convened on May 28, 2004, examining and
approving the following proposals:“ Proposal on Electing Mr. Li Ruohong as the Chairman” ;“ Proposal
on Appointing Mr. Zhang Guanghua as the President” ;“ Proposal on Appointing Mr. Liu Yongsheng et al
as Vice-Presidents”. The meeting also reached resolutions.
The Second Meeting of the Bank’s Fourth Board of Directors was convened on September 10, 2004, examining
and approving the following proposals:“ Proposal on Appointing and Dismissing Vice-Presidents”; “ Proposal
on Establishing the Office of the Board of Directors”; “ Proposal on Appointing the Secretary to the Board of
Directors”; “ Proposal on Establishing Four Specialized Committees under the Board of Directors”; “ Proposal
on the Working Details of the Four Specialized Committees under the Board of Directors”; “ Proposal on
Total Remunerations, Appraisal”. The meeting reached relevant resolutions.
The Third Meeting of the Bank’s Fourth Board of Directors was convened on October 26, 2005, examining
and approving the following proposals: “ Proposal on Convening the Extraordinary General Meeting”;
“Proposal on Introducing Domestic and Overseas Investors in Capital and Share Increases”; “ Proposal on
Application with the General Meeting for Authorizing the Board of Directors to Prepare and Implement
the Financial Restructuring Scheme” and “ Proposal on Application with the General Meeting for Authorizing
the Board of Directors to Amend the Articles of Association”. The meeting reached relevant resolutions.
The Fourth Meeting of the Bank’s Fourth Board of Directors was convened on November 29, 2005,
examining and approving the “ Proposal on Amending the Articles of Association”. The meeting reached
relevant resolutions.
The First Extraordinary Meeting in 2006 of the Bank's Fourth Board of Directors was convened on November
17, 2006, examining and approving the “Proposal on Amending the Articles of Association” . The meeting
reached relevant resolutions.
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The First Meeting of the Bank’s Fifth Board of Directors was convened on December 18, 2006, examining
and approving the following proposals: “ Proposal on Electing the Chairman of the Fifth Board of Directors
of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.”; “ Proposal on Appointing the Company Secretary to the
Board of Directors of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.”; “ Proposal on Appointing the President
of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.” ;“ Proposal on Approving the Preparation of a Five-Year
Business Plan by Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.” ; “Proposal on Approving the Credit Policy
Summary by Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.” ; “ Proposal on Appointing the Senior Management
of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.” ; “ Proposal on Approving the Establishment of Three
Specialized Committees under the Board of Directors of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.”. The
meeting reached relevant resolutions.
2)

Implementation of the resolutions by the General Meeting
For the past two years, the General Meeting has passed a number of resolutions according to the central
task of reform and restructuring, showing the Shareholders adequate understanding of and great support to
the Bank’s work in that aspect. The Board of Directors has duly carried out the resolutions by the General
Meeting and fulfilled the work per related laws and regulations, leading to the ultimate success of reform
and restructuring.

56

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Report of the Board of Supervisors

The Fourth Meeting of the Bank’s Second Board of Supervisors was convened on May 21, 2004, examining and
approving the following proposals: “ Work Report by the President”; “ Report on Final Financial Accounts and Proposal
on Profit Distribution for 2001-2003” ; “ Proposal on the Planning of Corporate Governance” and “ Proposal on
Electing the New Board of Supervisors” . The meeting reached relevant resolutions.
The First Meeting of the Bank’s Third Board of Supervisors was convened on May 28, 2004. The meeting discussed
how to bring the Board of Supervisors into play, improve corporate governance, reinforce the leadership over the
operational team, speed up resolving unsettled problems, exploit the potential of development and guarantee the
Shareholders interests.
The Second Meeting of the Bank’s Third Board of Supervisors was convened on September 10, 2004, examining and
approving the following proposals: “ Proposal on Establishing the Office of the Board of Supervisors” ; “ Proposal on
Establishing Two Specialized Committees under the Board of Supervisors” ; “ Proposal on the Working Details of the
Two Specialized Committees under the Board of Supervisors” . The meeting reached relevant resolutions.
According to related laws, regulations and the “Articles of Association ”, the Supervisors attended the General Meeting
and were present at the Board of Directors as non-voting members, so as to monitor the legality and compliance of the
General Meeting and the meeting of the Board of Directors, the voting procedures and the execution of duties of the
Directors and the Senior Management.
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1.

Material Events

Increase or Decrease of Registered Capital
Based on “ The Written Reply by China Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning the Capital and Share
Increases of Guangdong Development Bank” (Yin Jian Fu [2006] No. 420) and “ The Written Reply by China
Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning Guangdong Development Bank’s Receiving Capital Injection by
Overseas Investors of Citigroup Inc. and China Life Insurance Co., Ltd., and Other Domestic and Overseas
Investors.” (Yin Jian Fu [2006] No. 434), the Bank has carried out the scheme of capital and share increases,
increasing the paid-up capital from RMB 3,586,000,000 to RMB 11,408,000,000, with the total share capital
being 11,408,422,597 shares.
According to the Guang Hui Suo Yan Zi (2006) No. 0625220014 “ Capital Verification Report” by Guangzhou
Zheng Zhong Zhu Jiang CPA Firm on December 29, 2006, the Bank’s paid-up capital was RMB 11,408,422,597.00
as of December 18, 2006.
According to related supervisory requirements, the Bank has already applied for the alteration of registered
capital with China Banking Regulatory Commission. Upon CBRC’s approval, the Bank will handle relevant
formalities with the industrial and business registration authority as soon as possible.

2.

Acquisition, Amalgamation and Sales of Assets
In 2005 and 2006, the Bank signed the agreements of assigning non-performing assets and related supplemental
agreement with Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited, carving out a certain amount of
non-performing assets to the company in a way of non-recourse. As of December 18, 2006, Guangdong Finance
Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited has already paid the consideration for the non-performing assets
assignment as per the agreements.

3.

Important Litigations, Arbitrations and Serious Cases
As of the end of 2006, the Banks was still involved in a case(s) as the defendant with a total claim of about RMB
4.8 hundred million yuan. The Bank has made provisions for the losses accrued from the case(s) and disputes
based on the opinions of the internal and external lawyers.

4.

Material Events Concerning Custody, Guarantees, Commitments, Entrustment of Asset
Management During the Reporting Period
During the reporting period, except the business as approved in the scope of business by regulatory authorities, the
Bank had no other material Custody, Guarantees, Commitments, Entrustment of Asset Management to be disclosed.

5.

Punishment for the Commercial Bank, its Directors and/or Senior Managers by Related
Supervisory Authorities and/or the Judiciary
Neither the Bank nor any of its Directors or Senior Managers has been subjected to serious punishment by the
State Supervisory Authorities within the report period.

6.

Other Important Events
1)

The Bank has completed its reform and restructuring successfully
on November 16, 2006, the Bank signed the “Share Subscription Agreement” and related side agreements with the
domestic and international investor consortium including Citigroup Inc. and China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. etc.
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On December 9, 2006, China Banking Regulatory Commission published “The Written Reply by China
Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning the Capital and Share Increases of Guangdong Development
Bank” (Yin Jian Fu[2006]No.420), approving of the Bank’s capital and share increases.
On December 9, 2006, China Banking Regulatory Commission published “The Written Reply by China
Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning the Share Transfer of Guangdong Development Bank” (Yin
Jian Fu[2006]No.421), approving of the shareholder qualification of Guangdong Finance Investment
(Holding) Corporation Limited.
On December 16, 2006, China Banking Regulatory Commission published “The Written Reply by China
Banking Regulatory Commission concerning Guangdong Development Bank’s Absorbing Investments and
shares from Citigroup Inc., China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and Other Domestic and Overseas Investors”
(Yin Jian Fu [2006] No. 434), approving of the Bank’s increasing 9,764,332,000 shares to absorb the
investments by such domestic and overseas investors as Citigroup Inc., China Life Insurance Co., Ltd.,
State Grid Corporation of China, CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd., and IBM Credit LLC.
On December 16, 2006, China Banking Regulatory Commission published “The Written Reply by China
Banking Regulatory Commission Concerning the Approval of the Articles of Association of Guangdong
Development Bank Co., Ltd.” (Yin Jian Fu[2006] No. 435), rectifying the “Articles of Association of
Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.” (Amended).
On December 17, 2006, the Bank issued announcement to the media concerning its capital and share increases
as well as the changes in shareholding.
On December 18, 2006, the investors transferred a total of RMB 24,266,942,118 as consideration into the
specified account as per the “Share Subscription Agreement.”
On December 18, 2006, the Bank convened the First Extraordinary General Meeting of the year, and elected
its Fifth Board of Directors.
On December 18, 2006, the Bank convened the First Meeting of the Fifth Board of Directors, which elected
Mr. Li Ruohong as the Bank’s Chairman of the fifth Board of Directors and Bank’s Legal Representative,
and engaged Mr. Michael Zink as the Bank's President.
According to the Guang Hui Suo Yan Zi (2006) No. 0625220014 “ Capital Verification Report ” by
Guangzhou Zheng Zhong Zhu Jiang CPA Firm on December 29, 2006, the Bank’s paid-up capital was
RMB 11,408,422,597.00 as of December 18, 2006.
2)
3)

The Bank was honored the “2005 VISA Card Business Risk Control Award.”
The Bank obtained five important honors in the “China’s Best Customer Service Prize for 2005-2006”
including: China’s Best Business Store, China’s Best Customer Service Center, China’s Outstanding
Contribution to Customer Service, China’s Best Manager of Customer Service, and China’s Best Customer
Service Specialist.
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These financial statements have been issued in Chinese. This English translation copy is prepared for reference only.
If there is any conflict of meaning between the Chinese and English versions, the Chinese version will prevail.

Year 2006

Year 2006

Year 2005

Year 2005

Total assets

Total liabilities

373,908,069

361,139,094

345,444,570

341,892,125

RMB 1000

RMB 1000
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Auditors’ Report
KPMG-A (2007) AR No.0290

All Shareholders of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“ the Bank”)
on pages 64 to 115, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2006, the income statement, statement
of changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended 2006, and notes to the financial
statements.
Management’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Bank’s management is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with China’s Auditing Standards for the Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Enterprises issued by the Ministry of
Finance of the People’s Republic of China and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Bank as at 31 December 2006, and the results of operations and cash flows of the Bank for the year
then ended.

KPMG Huazhen Guangzhou Branch

Certified Public of Accountants
Registered in the People’s
Republic of China

Song Chen Yang

8th Floor, Office Tower E2

Li Wan Wei

Oriental Plaza
1 East Chang An Avenue
Beijing 100738
China
12 April 2007

The accompanying financial statements are not intended to present the financial position and results of operations and
cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions
other than the People’s Republic of China. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements
are those generally accepted and applied in the People’s Republic of China.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2006
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2006

2005

1,699,082

1,790,128
35,950,623

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Balances with central bank

5

47,400,971

Balances with banks and other financial institutions

6

15,090,333

4,958,845

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

7

11,736,357

5,017,433

Short-term loans

8

106,383,722

102,617,178

Trade finance

9

4,172,507

2,954,856

Interest receivable

10

935,365

1,033,031

Other receivables

11

11,326,527

59,333,098

Discounted bills

12

52,058,229

21,455,430

Short-term investments

13

28,420,440

25,468,745

Balances under resale agreements

14

12,354,096

12,961,296

Long-term debt investments maturing within one year

15

6,101,679

5,602,717

297,679,308

279,143,380

Total current assets

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2006

2005

Assets (continued)
Long-term assets
Medium and long-term loans

16

46,029,705

33,562,674

Non-accrued loans

17

8,347,218

4,888,046

Less:provisions for loan loss

18

(7,427,049)

(5,391,992)

Long-term debt investments

19

23,624,332

27,910,824

Long-term equity investments

20

53,864

49,978

5,660,158

5,484,958

Less:accumulated depreciation

(2,491,740)

(2,396,439)

Less:provisions for impairment

(310,614)

(310,614)

Fixed assets, at cost

Fixed assets, at net book value

21

2,857,804

2,777,905

Construction in progress

22

261,210

248,687

73,747,084

64,046,122

Total long-term assets
Intangible assets and other assets
Intangible assets

23

183,034

191,487

Long-term deferred expenses

24

72,998

68,703

Repossessed assets

25

Total intangible assets and other assets

56,215

433,248

312,247

693,438

2,169,430

1,561,630

373,908,069

345,444,570

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets

26

Total assets

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2006

2005

Liabilities and owners’ equity
Current liabilities
Short-term deposits

27

183,651,852

170,484,086

Short-term savings deposits

28

51,429,704

44,978,388

5,934,609

4,726,883

Short-term pledged deposits

29

51,317,960

58,060,430

Amounts due to central bank

30

-

1,000,000

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions

31

31,888,340

23,929,207

Fiscal deposits

Placements from banks and other financial institutions

32

508,479

262,582

Balances under repurchase agreements

33

2,708,760

2,652,194

Outward remittances

134,088

327,677

Inward remittances

687,018

404,644

1,801,232

1,637,275

134,050

756,071

66,127

135,755

1,619,885

2,326,543

Interest payable

34

Salaries payable
Accrued welfare expenses
Tax payables

35

Other liabilities

36

Total current liabilities

3,211,717

2,581,944

335,093,821

314,263,679

19,553,522

19,637,446

6,452,636

7,968,745

39,115

22,255

26,045,273

27,628,446

361,139,094

341,892,125

Long-term liabilities
Long-term deposits
Long-term savings deposits
Long-term pledged deposits
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2006

2005

Liabilities and owners’ equity (continued)
Owners’ equity
Share capital

37

11,408,423

3,585,659

Capital reserves

38

76,550

-

Regulatory general reserves

39

1,284,002

-

-

(33,214)

12,768,975

3,552,445

373,908,069

345,444,570

Accumulated losses
Total owners’ equity
Total liabilities and owners’ equity

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 12 April 2007.

Li Ruohong

Michael Zink

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Edward Chou

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

Finance Dept.
(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2006

2005

40

10,587,700

10,638,630

41

1,682,942

1,115,788

Operating income
Interest income
Interest income on balances and placements with
financial institutions
Fees and commission income

801,519

633,990

Foreign exchange gain, net

251,842

204,323

13,324,003

12,592,731

42

(5,044,958)

(4,325,914)

43

(1,985,295)

(1,440,356)

(222,120)

(174,808)

Total operating income
Operating expenses
Interest expense
Interest expense on deposit and placements from
financial institutions
Fees and commission expense

(7,252,373)

(5,941,078)

Operating cost

Total operating expenses
44

(4,440,493)

(3,994,431)

Investment income

45

1,465,157

1,171,057

Business taxes and surcharges

(648,442)

(638,679)

Operating profit

2,447,852

3,189,600

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note
Operating profit
Add:Non-operating income
Less:Non-operating expenses

46

Profit before allowance for assets impairment
Less:allowance for assets impairment

47

Loss after allowance for assets impairment
Less:Income tax

48

Net loss

2006

2005

2,447,852

3,189,600

200,015

200,380

(256,850)

(200,465)

2,391,017

3,189,515

(2,866,654)

(3,327,105)

(475,637)

(137,590)

(148,715)

(554,162)

(624,352)

(691,752)

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 12 April 2007.

Li Ruohong

Michael Zink

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Edward Chou

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

Finance Dept.
(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2006
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Regulatory

At 1 January 2005

Share

Capital

General

Accumulated

Capital

Reserves

Reserves

Losses

Total

3,585,659

625,514

-

(39,703,941)

(35,492,768)

-

-

-

(691,752)

(691,752)

-

39,736,965

-

-

39,736,965

- (40,362,479)

-

40,362,479

-

Net loss for the year
Restructuring
-Equity arising from the carve-out of
non-performing assets
-Net off against accumulated losses
At 31 December 2005

3,585,659

-

-

(33,214)

3,552,445

-

-

-

(624,352)

(624,352)

9,764,332

-

-

-

9,764,332

(1,941,568)

-

1,284,002

657,566

-

-

76,550

-

-

76,550

11,408,423

76,550

1,284,002

-

12,768,975

Net loss for the year
Increase in share capital
Capital reduction for net off against
accumulated losses
Differences arising from translation of
foreign currency capital
At 31 December 2006

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 12 April 2007.

Li Ruohong

Michael Zink

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Edward Chou

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

Finance Dept.
(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2006
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2006

Cash flow from operating activities
Interest, fees and commission received

13,064,399

Recoveries of the loans written off in prior year

27,696

Net amount of current deposits taken

13,931,574

Net balances from banks and other financial institutions

7,959,133

Net placements from banks and other financial institutions

229,356

Net balances under repurchase agreements

56,566

Net cash received from other operating activities

986,000

Sub-total of cash inflows

36,254,724

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2006

Cash flow from operating activities (continued)
Interest, fees and commission paid

(7,088,416)

Statutory deposit reserve funds with central bank

(5,629,106)

Net balances with banks and other financial institutions

(858,888)

Net placements with banks and other financial institutions

(924,890)

Net discounted bills

(30,602,799)

Net balances under resale agreements

(3,051,696)

Net amount of short-term loans and trade finance drawn

(4,932,048)

Withdrawal of non-current deposits

(1,583,173)

Medium and long-term loan drawn

(16,859,016)

Cash paid to and for employees

(2,452,257)

Cash paid for all types of taxes

(2,149,487)

Net cash paid for other operating activities

(2,252,525)

Sub-total of cash outflows
Net cash outflow from operating activities

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2006

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash received from disposal of debt investments

91,240,538

Cash received from interest on debt securities

1,451,992

Cash received from disposal of fixed assets and other assets

91,892

Sub-total of cash inflows

92,784,422

Cash paid for purchase of investments

(90,204,723)

Cash paid for purchase of fixed assets and other assets

(447,295)

Sub-total of cash outflows

(90,652,018)

Net cash inflow from investing activities

2,132,404

Cash flow from financing activities:
Cash received from investors

9,764,332

Cash received from Yuecai

47,142,382

Net cash inflow from financing activities

56,906,714

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash

(8,183)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(iii)

16,901,358

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

73

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Financial Statements for 2006

Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Notes to the cash flow statement
(i)

Reconciliation of net loss to cash flows from operating activities:
2006
Net loss

(624,352)

Add:Provision for loan loss

2,948,096

Provisions for impairment on other assets
Depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation of intangible assets and
long-term prepaid expenses
Net gain on disposal of fixed assets
Investment income
Increase in operating receivables
Increase in operating payables
Net cash outflow from operating activities
(ii)

(81,442)
471,239
(460)
(1,465,157)
(63,362,642)
19,985,141
(42,129,577)

Financing activities not requiring the use of cash or cash equivalents
2006
Receivable and payable offset

1,000,000

Based on the mutual understanding and consent among the Bank, Yuecai and PBOC, the receivable from Yuecai
amounting to RMB 1 billion pertaining to the carve-out transaction was offset against the payable to PBOC
amounting to RMB 1 billion.
(iii) Net increase in cash and cash equivalents:
2006
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Less:Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Notes to the cash flow statement (continued)
2006
(iv) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Cash

1,699,082

Cash equivalents
- Balances with central bank

22,836,932

- Balances with banks and other financial institutions

12,605,215

- Placements with banks and other financial institutions

10,361,026

- Balances under resale agreements

8,742,885

Total cash and cash equivalents

56,245,140

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash

(8,183)

Total

56,236,957

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 12 April 2007.

Li Ruohong

Michael Zink

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Edward Chou

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

Finance Dept.
(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 76 to 115 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Notes on the financial statements
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

1

Basic information
Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“ the Bank ”) is a joint stock commercial bank with limited liability
incorporated in Guangzhou Municipal of Guangdong Province in the People’s Republic of China (“ the PRC ”)
on 8 September 1988 with the approval of the State Council and the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”).
As at 31 December 2006, apart from the Head Office, the Bank has set up 27 branches and sub-branches in
Beijing, Shanghai, Dalian, Shenyang, Zhengzhou, Nanjing, Hangzhou, Kunming, Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Dongguan, Zhuhai, Shantou, Meizhou, Huizhou, Shaoguan, Qingyuan, Zhongshan, Foshan, Jiangmen, Zhaoqing,
Yangjiang, Zhanjiang, Wuhan, Maoming, Heyuan and Macau respectively. In addition, the Bank has representative
offices in Beijing and Hong Kong.
The Bank’s principal activities include the taking of deposits from the public, extension of loans, settlement, bill
discounting, acting as issue and acceptance agent and underwriter for government debts and marketable securities
other than shares, purchase and sale of government debts and marketable securities other than shares, issuance
of credit cards, offshore business, and other Renminbi (“RMB”) and foreign currency businesses approved by
the PBOC and China Banking Regulatory Commission.

2

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Institution (issued in 2001) issued by the Ministry of
Finance (“ MOF”) as well as other relevant requirements.

3

Significant accounting policies
(a)

Accounting year
The accounting year of the Bank is from 1 January to 31 December.

(b)

Basis of preparing combined financial statements of the Bank
The combined financial statements of the Bank are prepared based on the information from the financial
statements of the Head Office and branches and other information. All significant intra-bank transactions
and balances have been eliminated on combination.
In respect of subsidiaries which have assets and operating results of a smaller proportion and do not have
a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank, they are not consolidated but are carried as
long-term equity investments using the equity method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)

Basis of preparation and measurement basis
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on an accruals basis. Unless otherwise stated, the
measurement basis used is historical cost.

(d)

Reporting currency
The Bank’s reporting currency is the Renminbi.

(e)

Translation of foreign currencies
The Bank’s foreign currency transactions are recorded in multi-currency ledgers. The Bank’s business
operations denominated in different currencies are recorded in separate accounts according to the original
currency and are translated into RMB equivalents at the balance sheet date. For the purpose of preparing
financial statements in RMB at the balance sheet date, foreign currency transactions are translated into
RMB, and combined with relevant balances in RMB.
All balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies other than shareholders’ equity, are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Shareholders’ equity denominated in
foreign currencies is translated into RMB at the historical exchange rates. The resulting exchange differences
are dealt with as a movement in capital reserve. The income statement is translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The Bank adopts the exchange rate published by the PBOC and other recognised exchange rates.

(f)

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents comprise the Bank’s short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, including
current accounts with the PBOC, balances / placements with banks and non-bank financial institutions,
and balances under resale agreements, generally on original maturity of no more than three months.

(g)

Provision for bad debts
Bad debt losses are estimated and identified individually. For receivables (including balances / placements
with other parties, other receivables and etc.) that show signs of uncollectibility, specific provision is
made according to their recoverability. Losses resulting from bad debts are accounted for through
provisioning.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)

Loans
(i)

Loan classification by nature
Short-, medium-, and long-term loans: the bank classified loans according to the original maturity.
Those due within one year represent short-term loans, while those due after one year or more are
regarded as medium- and long-term loans.
Non-accrued loans: loans whose principal or interest is overdue for more than 90 days.

(ii)

Loan valuation
Loans are stated at the amount actually drawn.

(iii) Provision for loan loss
The provision for loan loss covers: short-term loans, trade finance, discounted bills (excluding bills
rediscounted by banks), medium- and long-term loans, and non-accrued loans. The Bank has made
provisions for loss on such loans in accordance with the “ Administrative Measures on Provisioning
for Doubtful Debts by Financial Institutions” (Cai Jin [2005] No.49) issued by the MOF and the
“Accounting Regulations for Financial Institutions”.
When there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired, provisions for loan losses including specific
provision, general provision for non-individually identified losses and special provision for sovereignty
risk, geographic risk and industry risk, are made based on the estimated losses. At each year end, the
Bank will assess the recoverability of each type of loans and estimates the amount of potential losses.
The amount of provision for loan losses is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount. In arriving at the provision for loan losses, factors such as the loan’s risk
grading, the borrowers’ repayment ability and willingness to repay, repayment record of principal
and interest, the market value of the collateral and the support from guarantors are considered to
determine the overall risk and recoverability and to ensure any impairment loss is provided adequately.
When borrowers or guarantors fail to repay the loan principal and interest, and use the collaterals to
settle the debts, the respective loan principal together with the recognised interest are transferred to
repossessed assets with the corresponding loan provision transferred to provision for impairment on
repossessed assets at the same time.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)

Loans (continued)
(iv) Written off of loans
When a loan is still uncollectible after the Bank has completed all the necessary legal procedures, the
loan is written off against the provision for the loan losses with the approval of management. If the
loan written off is recovered subsequently, the amount recovered is written back to the income
statement.

(i)

Discounted bills
Discounted bills represent the bank acceptance bills or commercial acceptance bills discounted by the
Bank for customers or other financial institutions or bills rediscounted with the central bank. Such discounted
or re-discounted amounts are stated at the bills’ nominal values. Interest income for discounted bills is
determined and recognised based on the nominal amount of the discounted bill, its maturity, and applicable
interest rates. At the balance sheet date, any interest income of unexpired discounted bills from the balance
sheet date until maturity will be deferred.

(j)

Balances under repurchase or resale agreements
Balances under resale agreements are stated at transaction amounts less bad debt provisions, whereas
balances under repurchase agreements are stated at the actual paid or received amounts for any business
incurred on the balance sheet. The underlying assets under repurchase agreements are still accounted for
on the balance sheet.
The differences between transactions under resale agreements and repurchase agreements are recognised,
on an accruals basis, as income or expenses arising from transactions with financial institutions during the
period of resale agreements and repurchase agreements.

(k)

Investments
(i)

Short-term investments
The initial cost of a short-term investment is the total price paid on acquisition of the investment.
However, it does not include unpaid interest on debt securities which was due at the time of acquisition.
Short-term investments are carried at the lower of cost and market value at the end of the period.
Provision for diminution in value is made on an item-by-item basis for any shortfall of the market
value over the cost of short-term investments.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Investments (continued)
(i) Short-term investments (continued)
With the exception of interest on debt securities which is due but not yet paid at the time of acquisition,
interest are set off against the carrying amount of the short-term investments when received by the
Bank. Upon the disposal or recovery of short-term investments, the difference between the carrying
amount of the short-term investments and the proceeds received is recognised as profit or loss for the
current period.
(ii)

Long-term equity investments
Where the Bank has the power to control, jointly control or exercise significant influence over an
investee enterprise, the investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting whereby
the investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for any post acquisition change in
the Bank’s share of the investors’ equity in the investee enterprise.
Where the Bank does not control, jointly control or exercise significant influence over an investee
enterprise, the investment is accounted for under the cost method, stating it at the initial investment
cost. Investment income is recognised when the investee enterprise declares a cash dividend or
distributes profits.
The Bank makes provision for impairment losses on long-term equity investments (see note 3(p)).

(iii) Long-term debt investments
The initial investment cost of a long-term debt investment is the total price paid on acquisition of the
investment. However, it does not include any unpaid interest that is due at the time of acquisition.
Such interest receivable is separately accounted for under receivables. Where the total price paid
includes accrued interest that is not yet due at the time of acquisition, such interest is separately
accounted for under long-term debt investments.
The premium or discount on debt securities represents the difference between the nominal value and
the initial investment cost of the long-term debt investment after the deduction of related taxes and
accrued interest which is not yet due for payment. The premium/discount on debt securities is
amortised over the subsisting period on a straight-line basis.
In case that interest is paid by installments during the subsisting period of debt securities, the accrued
and unpaid interest of debt investment is accounted for as interest receivable in current assets. In
case that both interest and principal are paid one-off on the maturity date, the accrued and unpaid
interest of debt investment is accounted for as interest receivable in long-term debt investment.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Investments (continued)
(iii) Long-term debt investments (continued)
Upon the disposal of long-term debt investments, the difference between the proceeds received and
the carrying amount of the investments is recognised in the income statement.
The Bank makes provision for impairment losses on long-term debt investments (see note 3(p)).

(l)

Fixed assets and construction in progress
Fixed assets are assets with comparatively high unit values held by the Bank for use in the operating
activities. They are expected to be used for more than one year.
Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Construction in progress is stated in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses.
All direct and indirect costs that are related to the construction of fixed assets and incurred before the
assets are ready for their intended use are capitalised as construction in progress. Construction in progress
is transferred to fixed assets when it is ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided against
construction in progress.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost less residual value on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of fixed assets. The respective estimated useful lives adopted for the Bank’s fixed assets are as
follows:
Types of assets

Estimated useful life

Buildings and structures

30-35 years

Electronic equipment

5 years

Transportation and other equipment

5 years

Renovation expenses

The shorter period between lease term and five years

Fixed assets are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and recoverable amounts at the balance sheet
date. Should the recoverable amounts be lower than the carrying amounts due to obsolescence, damage of
idleness, provision for impairment on fixed assets will be made for individual asset (see note 3 (p)).
Subsequent expenditure relating to a fixed asset is capitalised only when future economic benefits flow to
the Bank are higher than originally expected. However, the amount capitalised should not exceed the
recoverable amount of the relevant fixed asset. Other subsequent expenses in fixed assets are recognised
in the income statement as expenses when incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. The cost of the intangible assets is amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The respective amortisation periods for the intangible assets are as follows:

(n)

Types of assets

Estimated useful life

Land use rights

30-50 years

Software

5 years

Others

5 years

Long-term prepaid expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised on a straight-line basis over their beneficial periods. Prepaid
operating lease charges are amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases, while
other capital expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over their respective useful life.
For other long-term deferred expenses which are unlikely to generate economic benefits in subsequent
periods, the unamortised balances will be charged to the income statement.

(o)

Repossessed assets
Repossessed assets are recognised at the carrying amount of the loan principal, interest receivable, and
relevant tax paid for retrieved assets. The corresponding loan provisions are transferred to provision for
impairment losses on repossessed assets. At the end of the period, repossessed assets are stated at cost net
of impairment provision in the balance sheet (see note 3 (p)).

(p)

Provision for impairment
The carrying amounts of assets (including long-term investments, fixed assets, construction in progress,
intangible assets, repossessed assets, and other assets) are reviewed regularly at each balance sheet date to
determine whether their recoverable amounts have declined below their carrying amounts. Assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount. The amount
by which the carrying amount is reduced is the impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the greater of
the net selling price and the present value of the estimated future cash flows arising from the continuous
use of the asset and from the disposal of the asset at the end of its useful life. Provision for impairment
loss is calculated on an item by item basis and recognised as an expense in the income statement.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p)

Provision for impairment (continued)
If there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount and as a result the estimated recoverable amount is greater than the carrying amount of the asset,
the impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses are reversed to the extent of the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

(q)

Entrusted lending business and entrusted funds
The Bank enters into entrusted loan agreements with a number of customers, whereby the customers provide
funding (“ the entrusted funds”) to the Bank, and the Bank grants loans to third parties (“ the entrusted
loans”) at the instruction of the customers. As the Bank does not assume the risks and rewards of the
entrusted loans and the corresponding entrusted funds, entrusted loans and funds are recorded as off-balance
sheet items at their principal amounts and no allowances for impairment are made for these entrusted
loans. Received but not yet granted entrusted funds are accounted for as deposits.

(r)

Income tax
Income tax is recognised using the tax effect accounting method. It includes current tax and deferred tax.
Current tax is calculated at the applicable tax rate on taxable income.
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for the differences between the accounting profits and
the taxable profits arising from the timing differences in recognising income, expenses or losses between
the accounting and tax regulations. Deferred tax is recognised only when expected timing differences can
be reversed in subsequent periods. When the tax rate changes or a new type of tax is levied, adjustments
are made to the amounts originally recognised for the timing differences under the liability method. The
current tax rates are used in arriving at the reversal amounts when the timing differences are reversed.
Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses, which are expected to be utilized against future taxable profits,
are set off against the deferred tax liabilities (only for the same taxpayer within the same jurisdiction).
When it is not probable that the tax benefits of deferred tax assets will be realised, the deferred tax assets
are reduced to the extent that the related tax benefits are expected to be realised.

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where it is not probable that the settlement of the above obligation will cause an outflow of economic benefits,
or the amount of the outflow cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(t)

Income recognition
When it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue and costs, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income statement according to the following methods:
(i)

Interest income
Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time-apportioned basis with reference to the
principal outstanding and at the rate applicable.
For either the loan principal or interest overdue for more than 90 days (including extension), the
accrual of interest is discontinued and is accounted for in the off balance sheet memorandum accounts.
Interest receivable of such loans are reversed in the income statement and recorded as an off balance
sheet item. Amounts received subsequently will first be set off against the loan principal. It is only
when the loan principal is fully recovered that any further amounts received can be recognised in the
income statement.
Other interest income is recognised on an accruals basis, with reference to the amount and period
outstanding and at the rate applicable under the alienation of right to use capital.

(ii)

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission income is recognised when the related services are rendered.

(iii) Other income
Other income is recognised on an accruals basis.
(u)

Expense recognition
(i)

Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised on an accruals basis, with reference to the amount and period outstanding
and at the rate applicable.

(ii)

Other expenses
Other expenses are recognised on an accruals basis.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)

Derivative financial instruments
The Bank’s derivative financial instruments include spot, forward, foreign currency swaps and interest
rate swaps contracts undertaken in response to customers’ needs or for the Bank’s own risk management
purpose. To hedge against risks arising from derivative transactions undertaken for customers, the Bank
enters into similar derivative contracts with banks and other financial institutions which are approved by
the PBOC to conduct derivative business.
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value, with gains and losses arising recognised in the
income statement.

(w)

Dividends appropriated to investors
Dividends appropriated to the investors are recognised in the income statement and statement of changes
in owners’ equity when approved. Cash dividends approved after the balance sheet date, but before the
date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue, are separately disclosed in the owners’
equity in the balance sheet.

(x)

Employee benefits
The Bank participates in social insurance programs established by government agencies, including pension
plans, medical insurance, housing provident funds and other social insurance. Insurance and provident
funds contributions (a proportion of salaries not exceeding the prescribed maximum limit) are paid to the
relevant labour and social insurance agencies and recognised as general and administrative expenses when
incurred.

(y)

Operating leases charges
Lease payments made are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases.

(z)

Related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Bank if the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decision, or
vice verse, or where the Bank and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
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Taxation
The major types of tax and their tax rates applicable to the Bank are as follows:
(a)

Business tax
Business tax is charged at 5% of taxable income in 2005 and the subsequent years.

(b)

City maintenance and construction tax
City maintenance and construction tax is calculated at 1% to 7% of the business tax.

(c)

Education surcharge
Education surcharge is calculated at 3% of the business tax.

(d)

Income tax
According to tax legislations and detailed rules of implementation in relevant regions, income taxes on
profits generated in various regions are payable at different tax rates and on different tax bases. For each
relevant period/year, the income tax rate for Shenzhen Special Economic Region is 15%, and 33% for
other regions where branches of the Bank are situated.

5

Balances with central bank
2006

2005

Statutory deposit reserve funds (Note (a))

24,515,416

18,864,755

Excess of deposit reserve funds (Note (b))

22,836,932

17,027,857

Fiscal deposits
Total
(a)

48,623

58,011

47,400,971

35,950,623

The Bank places statutory deposit reserve funds with the PBOC and the Central bank of Macau. The
statutory deposit reserve funds are not available for the Bank’s daily business.
Statutory deposit reserve funds placed with the PBOC were calculated at 8% of eligible Renminbi deposits
as required by the PBOC from 1 January 2005 to 5 July 2006. This was further increased to 8.5%, 9.0%
and 9.5% with effect from 5 July 2006, 15 August 2006 and 15 November 2006 respectively. The Bank is
also required to deposit 4% of its foreign currency deposits from customers of domestic branches as statutory
deposit reserve funds since 15 September 2006 (2005: 3%).
The amount of statutory deposit reserve funds placed with the Central bank of Macau Branch is determined
by the local jurisdiction.

(b)

The balances mainly represent surplus deposit reserve fund maintained with the PBOC for the purposes of
clearing.
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Balances with banks and other financial institutions
(a)

By nature
2006

2005

14,013,028

3,648,835

36,424

57,933

14,049,452

3,706,768

Balances with onshore:
- banks
- other financial institutions
Sub-total
Balances with offshore banks
Total
Less:Allowance for impairment
Net balances

1,043,329

1,254,525

15,092,781

4,961,293

(2,448)

(2,448)

15,090,333

4,958,845

As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the balances with banks and other financial institutions
with book value of RMB 496 million to Guangdong Finance Investment Holdings Co. Ltd (“ GFIHL”) in
2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 423 million previously made (Note 55).
(b)

Movements of allowance for impairment

Opening balance

2005

(2,448)

(433,319)

Release for the year

-

2,552

Write-offs for the year

-

5,020

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 55)

-

423,299

(2,448)

(2,448)

2006

2005

2,765,243

496,257

188,022

248,029

Sub-total

2,953,265

744,286

Placements with offshore banks

8,799,555

4,289,610

11,752,820

5,033,896

(16,463)

(16,463)

11,736,357

5,017,433

Closing balance

7

2006

Placements with banks and other financial institutions
(a)

By nature

Balances with onshore:
-banks
-other financial institutions

Total
Less:Allowance for impairment
Net balances
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Placements with banks and other financial institutions(continued)
(a)

By nature(continued)
As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the placements with banks and other financial institutions
with book value of RMB 991 million to GFIHL in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of
RMB 934 million previously made (Note 55).

(b)

Movement in allowance for impairment
2006

2005

(16,463)

(933,530)

Charge for the year

-

(16,463)

Exchange difference

-

(37)

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 55)

-

933,567

(16,463)

(16,463)

2006

2005

Unsecured loans

30,995,312

10,460,721

Guaranteed loans

35,143,609

44,506,525

Collateralized loans

26,441,810

29,473,241

Pledged loans

13,802,991

18,176,691

106,383,722

102,617,178

2006

2005

Opening balance

Closing balance

8

Short-term loans

Total

9

Trade finance

Export loans

939,545

426,201

Inward bills

1,219,641

1,158,253

Outward bills

1,180,722

695,981

Packing loans

443,204

416,704

Others
Total
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Interest receivable
(a)

By nature
2006

(b)

2005

Interest receivable on loans

297,782

340,199

Interest receivable on debt securities

519,896

625,324

Other interest receivables

117,687

67,508

Total

935,365

1,033,031

Ageing analysis
2006

2005

Ageing

Amount

Percentage(%)

Amount

Percentage(%)

Within one year

927,538

99.2%

1,025,202

99.2%

5,855

0.6%

2,471

0.2%

269

0.0%

826

0.1%

1,703

0.2%

4,532

0.5%

935,365

100%

1,033,031

100%

After one year but within two years
After two years but within three years
After three years
Total

Ageing refers to the period between the date of recording the interest receivable and the balance sheet date.

11

Other receivables
(a)

By nature
2006
Amounts pending for settlement

2005

128,154

112,100

Prepayment

40,020

159,968

Positive fair value of derivatives (Note 51(a)(i))

67,951

74,011

10,000,000

58,142,382

Receivables on transfer of non-performing assets (Note (i))
Others (Note (ii))
Total
Less:Provisions for bad debts
Net balances
(i)

2,039,724

2,545,415

12,275,849

61,033,876

(949,322)

(1,700,778)

11,326,527

59,333,098

Receivables on transfer of non-performing assets
According to the non-performing assets transfer agreement, the Bank has received RMB 48.142
billion at 18 December 2006. The remaining receivables of RMB 10 billion will be settled by the
funding from the corporate income tax payment over a period of five years.
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Other receivables (continued)
(a)

By nature(continued)
(ii)

Others
As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred other receivables with book value of RMB 2,708
million to GFIHL in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 2,702 million previously
made (Note 55).

(b)

Ageing analysis
2006
Ageing
Within one year

Amount

Proportion(%)

Provision

Amount

Proportion(%)

Provision

11,347,158

93%

(94,338)

59,697,667

98%

(529,961)

44,268

-

(17,290)

69,894

-

(44,457)

20,400

-

(15,429)

214,566

-

(151,404)

864,023

7%

(822,265)

1,051,749

2%

(974,956)

12,275,849

100%

(949,322)

61,033,876

After one year but
within two years
After two years but
within three years
After three years
Total

2005

100% (1,700,778)

Ageing refers to the period between the transaction date of the other receivables and the balance sheet date.
(c)

Movement in provision for bad debts

Opening balance
Release / (charge) for the year
Write-off for the year

(1,700,778)

(3,815,522)

93,089

(576,148)
3,478

-

2,701,878

(5,658)

(14,464)

(949,322)

(1,700,778)

2006

2005

Banker’s bills of acceptance

39,051,910

15,290,633

Commercial bills of acceptance

13,006,319

6,164,797

Total

52,058,229

21,455,430

Transfer in from other accounts
Closing balance

90

2005

664,025

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 55)

12

2006

Discounted bills
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Short-term investments
(a)

By nature
2006
Government bonds
PBOC notes

3,596,475

3,019,026

18,852,791

10,458,035

5,704,266

9,475,457

214,222

2,503,308

Policy bank debt securities
Other debt securities
Other investments
Total

61,387

62,517

28,429,141

25,518,343

(8,701)

(49,598)

28,420,440

25,468,745

Less:Allowance for impairment losses on short-term investments
Net balances
(i)

2005

The Bank’s major holding of the government bonds, PBOC notes, and policy bank debt securities are
traded in inter-bank bond markets.

(ii)

Other debt securities are dominated in Renminbi by the PRC capital markets.

(iii) Other investments are mainly investments in overseas-listed shares.
(b)

Movement in allowance for impairment losses on short-term investments

Opening balance
Release / (charge) for the year
Write-off for the year
Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 55)
Closing balance

2006

2005

(49,598)

(106,991)

40,851

(43,997)

46

131

-

101,259

(8,701)

(49,598)

As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred short-term investments with book value of RMB 101
million to GFIHL in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of short-term investments of RMB
101 million previously made (Note 55).
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Balances under resale agreements
(a)

By pledge
2006

2005

4,000,000

8,520,000

-

1,706,334

1,108,614

537,001

Debt securities under resale agreements
-Government bonds
-PBOC notes
-Policy bank debt securities
-Other debt securities

3,243,750

999,446

Sub-total

8,352,364

11,762,781

Bills under resale agreements

2,695,436

100,000

Loans under resale agreements

1,345,296

1,098,515

12,393,096

12,961,296

(39,000)

-

12,354,096

12,961,296

Total
Less:Allowance for impairment losses on balances
under resale agreements
Net balances
(b)

Movements in allowance for impairment losses on balances under resale agreements
2006
Opening balance
Charge for the year

-

-

(39,000)

-

-

-

(39,000)

-

Write-off for the year
Closing balance

15

2005

Long-term debt investments maturing within one year
2006

Categories
Government bonds
PBOC notes
Policy bank debt

Interest rate p.a.

Maturity

1.58%~3.50% 24/2/2007-20/12/2007
4.15%

31/12/2007

2.05%~4.22% 14/5/2007-13/12/2007

Nominal

At Premium/

Interest

Value

(discount)

Receivable

Total

4,173,565

1,757

66,558

4,241,880

200,000

-

-

200,000

1,394,500

(249,337)

-

1,145,163

securities
Other debt securities

1.79%~4.50% 15/1/2007-9/11/2007

Total

92
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Long-term debt investments maturing within one year(continued)
2005

Categories

Nominal

At Premium/

Interest

Value

(discount)

Receivable

Total

2,952,599

(6,468)

3,203

2,949,334

2.25% - 3.90% 26/5/2006 - 21/12/2006 2,340,400

70

-

2,340,470

305,754

7,159

-

312,913

5,598,753

761

3,203

5,602,717

Interest rate p.a.

Government bonds

Maturity

2.22% - 3.36% 1/2/2006 - 30/11/2006

Policy bank debt
securities
Other debt securities

1.55% - 7.88% 12/3/2006 - 22/12/2006

Total

16

Medium and long-term loans
By original maturity:
2006
1 year -5 years

After5 years

Total

Unsecured loans

2,173,465

2,545,633

4,719,098

Guaranteed loans

8,756,350

1,994,500

10,750,850

Collateralized loans

6,484,420

17,369,563

23,853,983

Pledged loans

4,027,785

2,677,989

6,705,774

21,442,020

24,587,685

46,029,705

Total

2005
1 year -5 years

After5 years

Total

Unsecured loans

1,389,587

1,222,040

2,611,627

Guaranteed loans

2,942,801

1,642,204

4,585,005

Collateralized loans

7,663,123

14,934,927

22,598,050

Pledged loans

1,911,486

1,856,506

3,767,992

13,906,997

19,655,677

33,562,674

2006

2005

147,188

128,956

Guaranteed loans

2,253,466

1,301,530

Collateralized loans

4,020,183

2,944,095

Pledged loans

1,926,381

513,465

Total

8,347,218

4,888,046

Total

17

Non-accrued loans

Unsecured loans
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Provision for loan losses
2006

2005

Opening balance

(5,391,992)

(33,972,885)

Charge for the year

(2,948,096)

(2,571,931)

Transfer-out / (Transfer-in) for the year

115

(20,556)

Recovery of loans previously written off

(27,696)

(1,798)

Write-offs for the year

940,620

96,797

-

31,078,381

(7,427,049)

(5,391,992)

Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans (Note 55) (Note (i))
Closing balance
(i)

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the loans and advances to customers with book value of
RMB 45,568 million to GFIHL in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 31,078 million
previously made (Note 55).

19

Long-term debt investments
(a)

Types of debt investments
31 December 2006
Type of

Annual

debt investments

interest rate

Government bonds

1.75%~3.81%

Maturity date
20/2/2008

Premium/

Accrued

Allowance

Par value

(discount)

interest

for impairment

Total

3,904,000

1,333

39,301

-

3,944,634

480,000

-

-

-

480,000

16,959,000

(15,442)

-

-

16,943,558

2,247,319

2,929

5,892

-

2,256,140

23,590,319

(11,180)

45,193

-

23,624,332

-25/5/2012
PBOC notes

3.30%~4.15%

7/1/2008
-25/3/2008

Policy bank debt

2.05%~4.30%

securities
Other debt Securities

7/2/2008
-29/8/2015

1.791%~8.0%

25/3/2008
-1/9/2016

Total
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Long-term debt investments(continued)
(a)

Types of debt investments(continued)
31 December 2005
Type of

Annual

debt investments

interest rate

Government bonds

1.58%-7.30%

Maturity date
1/1/2007

Premium/

Accrued

Allowance

Par value

(discount)

interest

for impairment

Total

7,571,234

5,251

40,573

-

7,617,058

680,000

-

-

-

680,000

17,783,500

(16,566)

22,157

-

17,789,091

1,823,047

1,628

-

-

1,824,675

27,857,781

(9,687)

62,730

-

27,910,824

-30/11/2010
PBOC notes

3.30%-4.15%

31/12/2007
-25/3/2008

Policy bank debt

2.05%-4.52%

securities
Other debt securities

14/5/2007
-12/1/2032

1.79%-7%

15/1/2007
-16/8/2014

Total

(b)

Movement in allowance for impairment on long-term debt investments
2006

2005

Opening balance

-

(71,646)

Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans for the year (Note 55)

-

71,646

Closing balance

-

-

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the long-term debt investments with book value of
RMB 72 million to GFIHL in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 72 million previously
made (Note 55).

20

Long-term equity investments
(a)

By category
2006

2005

Investment in subsidiaries (Note (i))

4,100

4,100

Other equity investments (Note (ii))

49,764

45,878

Total

53,864

49,978

-

-

53,864

49,978

Less:Allowance for impairment
Net
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Long-term equity investments(continued)
(a)

By category(continued)
(i)

Investment in subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries of the Bank as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005 are as follows:
Name of
subsidiaries

Place of

Date of

Share

Equity held By

incorporation

incorporation

capital

the Bank (%)

PRC

5 April 1994

Guangdong Guangfa
International Financial
& Consulting Co., Ltd.

(ii)

RMB

Principal activities
Consultancy on credit card

41%

and related business,etc.

10,000,000

Other equity investments
Other investments of the Bank include equity investments in local/foreign companies, in which the
Bank has less than 20 percent voting power and no significant influence over the management.
As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the investments in subsidiaries with book value of
RMB 791 million to GFIHL and derecognised the allowance for impairment of RMB 702 million
previously made in 2005. (Note 55).

(b)

96

Movement in allowance for impairment on long-term equity investments
2006

2005

Opening balance

-

(744,659)

Charge for the year

-

(246)

Other transfer-outs

-

43,038

Exchange difference

-

(2)

Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans for the year (Note 55)

-

701,869

Closing balance

-

-
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Fixed assets
Transportation
Buildings and

Electronic

Structures

equipment

and other

Leasehold

2,895,901

1,249,408

559,983

756,247

5,461,539

65,053

103,686

18,858

73,100

260,697

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,223

1,057

12,510

16,790

(73,301)

(87,943)

(83,181)

(9,643)

(254,068)

2,887,653

1,268,374

496,717

832,214

5,484,958

73,455

105,576

6,606

92,516

278,153

206,397

-

293

-

206,690

25,230

-

512

-

25,742

equipment Improvement

Total

Cost
1 January 2005
Additions
Transfer from
repossessed assets
Transfer from construction
in progress
Disposal / retirement
31 December 2005
Additions
Transfer from repossessed
assets (Note 25)
Transfer from Construction
in progress
Disposal / retirement
31 December 2006

(45,629)

(74,462)

(89,740)

(125,554)

(335,385)

3,147,106

1,299,488

414,388

799,176

5,660,158

(530,741)

(748,834)

(397,964)

(85,780)

(156,811)

(50,828)

Less:Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2005
Charges
Write-backs
31 December 2005
Charges
Write-backs
31 December 2006

1,448

76,308

64,862

(615,073)

(829,337)

(383,930)

(96,252)

(151,856)

(45,315)

(474,741) (2,152,280)
(102,898)

(396,317)

9,540

152,158

(568,099) (2,396,439)
(91,043)

(384,466)

123,713

289,165

7,585

73,772

84,095

(703,740)

(907,421)

(345,150)

(310,614)

-

-

-

(310,614)

-

-

-

-

-

(535,429) (2,491,740)

Less:Allowance for impairment
1 January 2005
Charges
31 December 2005

(310,614)

-

-

-

(310,614)

-

-

-

-

-

(310,614)

-

-

-

(310,614)

31 December 2006

2,132,752

392,067

69,238

263,747

2,857,804

31 December 2005

1,961,966

439,037

112,787

264,115

2,777,905

Charges
31 December 2006
Net carrying value:

As at 31 December 2006, ownership documentation for the Bank’s buildings and structures with a net carrying
value of approximately RMB 670 million (31 December 2005: RMB 620 million) has not been completed yet.
Management of the Bank expects there will be no significant difficulties in obtaining such ownership documentation.
As at 31 December 2006, the Bank’s fixed assets, with an original carrying value of RMB 770 million (31
December 2005: RMB 980 million), had fully depreciated, and were still in use.

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

97

Financial Statements for 2006

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

22

Construction in progress
2006

2005

248,687

225,027

Cost
Opening balance for the year
Additions for the year
Transfer to fixed assets for the year
Disposal
Closing balance for the year

23

46,802

40,450

(25,742)

(16,790)

(8,537)

-

261,210

248,687

Intangible assets
Land use rights

Software

Others

Total

166,295

136,020

46,499

348,814

452

31,936

1,278

33,666

Disposal

(37,284)

(602)

(1,804)

(39,690)

31 December 2005

129,463

167,354

45,973

342,790

25,238

45,194

-

70,432

(42,806)

(3,224)

(1,157)

(47,187)

111,895

209,324

44,816

366,035

(26,967)

(67,760)

(25,328)

(120,055)

(3,647)

(26,732)

(6,533)

(36,912)

5,122

406

136

5,664

(25,492)

(94,086)

(31,725)

(151,303)

(3,993)

(29,635)

(5,532)

(39,160)

6,132

3,224

1,156

10,512

(23,353)

(120,497)

(36,101)

(179,951)

(5,477)

-

-

(5,477)

5,477

-

-

5,477

-

-

-

-

Cost
1 January 2005
Additions

Additions
Disposal
31 December 2006
Less:Accumulated amortisation
1 January 2005
Additions
Disposal
31 December 2005
Additions
Disposal
31 December 2006
Less:Allowance for impairment
1 January 2005
Write-offs
31 December 2005
Charges

(3,050)

-

-

(3,050)

31 December 2006

(3,050)

-

-

(3,050)

31 December 2006

85,492

88,827

8,715

183,034

31 December 2005

103,971

73,268

14,248

191,487

Net carrying value:

As at 31 December 2006, ownership documentation for the Bank’s land with a net carrying value of around RMB
49 million (31 December 2005: RMB 28 million) has not been completed yet. Management of the Bank expects
there will be no significant difficulties in obtaining such ownership documentation.

98

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

Financial Statements for 2006

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

24

Long-term deferred expenses
Prepaid lease expenses

Others

Total

1 January 2005

49,269

35,291

84,560

Additions

10,233

29,502

39,735

Amortisation

(24,591)

(22,479)

(47,070)

Write-offs

(8,184)

(338)

(8,522)

31 December 2005

26,727

41,976

68,703

Additions

18,670

33,238

51,908

(24,689)

(22,924)

(47,613)

20,708

52,290

72,998

2006

2005

143,746

690,025

5,977

57,575

Amortisation
31 December 2006

25

Repossessed assets

Land, buildings and structures
Others
Total

149,723

747,600

Less:Allowance for impairment

(93,508)

(314,352)

56,215

433,248

Net

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred repossessed assets with book value of RMB 5,736 million to
GFIHL in 2005 and derecognised the allowance for impairment of RMB 3,417 million previously made (Note 55).
The Bank transferred repossessed assets with net book value of RMB 207 million to fixed assets in 2006 (Note 21).
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Deferred tax assets
Impairment

Adjustment for fair

Impairemnt

for other

value of investment

for loans

assets

and derivatives

Others

Net value

1 January 2005

575,938

252,021

(5,283)

(2,007)

820,669

Recognised in profit or loss

574,710

232,369

3,749

(69,867)

740,961

1,150,648

484,390

(1,534)

(71,874)

1,561,630

720,289

(75,081)

5,243

(4,949)

645,502

-

-

-

(37,702)

(37,702)

1,870,937

409,309

3,709

(114,525)

2,169,430

31 December 2005
Recognised in profit or loss
Recognised in equity
31 December 2006

The above deferred tax assets represent the difference between profit before tax and taxable income, which the
management believes may bring future tax benefits to the Bank. In forming this view, the Bank’s management
considered the prevailing situation, current tax legislation, as well as prudent accounting principles.
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Deferred tax assets(continued)
When undertaking accounting treatment, the Bank will act prudently, and include the difference between deferred
tax assets recognised at the balance sheet date of each accounting period and the deferred tax assets recognised
at the prior balance sheet date in the current income tax expenses.

27

Short-term deposits

Current deposits

106,306,785

54,124,238

48,762,289

14,946,336

14,478,833

1,200,930

936,179

183,651,852

170,484,086

2006

2005

Current savings deposits

26,678,042

25,588,398

Term savings deposits maturing within one year

22,968,147

17,598,160

Short-term savings deposits

Individual call deposits

1,783,515

1,791,830

51,429,704

44,978,388

2006

2005

Short-term pledged deposits

51,317,960

58,060,430

Long-term pledged deposits

39,115

22,255

51,357,075

58,082,685

Total

Pledged deposits

Total

30

113,380,348

Corporate call deposits
Total

29

2005

Term deposits maturing within one year
Credit card deposits

28

2006

Amounts due to central banks

Refinance

2006

2005

-

1,000,000

The amount mainly includes refinance of RMB 1 billion by the PBOC’s Guangzhou branch to certain credit
unions in Enping Municipality, Guangdong Province.
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Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
2006

2005

4,967,130

13,389,613

-Other financial institutions

26,921,210

10,539,594

Total

31,888,340

23,929,207

Deposits from onshore
-Banks

100
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Placements from banks and other financial institutions
2006

2005

351,304

121,964

Placements from onshore
- Banks
- Other financial institutions

33

1,000

2,086

Sub-total

352,304

124,050

Placements from offshore banks

156,175

138,532

Total

508,479

262,582

2006

2005

-

1,000,000

- Policy bank debt securities

1,140,000

-

Sub-total

1,140,000

1,000,000

Notes under repurchase agreements

345,310

788,899

Loans under repurchase agreements

1,223,450

863,295

Total

2,708,760

2,652,194

Balance under repurchase agreements

Bonds under repurchase agreements
- Government bonds

Pledges as security under repurchase agreements include debt investments and credit assets held by the Bank
with equivalent value.

34

Interest payables
(a)

By nature

Deposit interest payables
Other interest payables
Total
(b)

2006

2005

1,705,680

1,531,367

95,552

105,908

1,801,232

1,637,275

2006

2005

1,469,208

1,421,435

Ageing analysis

Within one year
After one year but within two years

231,782

127,136

After two years but within three years

60,245

36,716

After three years

39,997

51,988

1,801,232

1,637,275

Total

Ageing refers to the period between the date of recording the interest payables and the balance sheet date.
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Tax payables

Income tax
Business tax and surcharges

2006

2005

1,295,529

2,002,717

237,639

230,853

Property tax

73,692

78,758

Others

13,025

14,215

1,619,885

2,326,543

Total
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Other liabilities
(a)

By nature
2006

2005

209,006

237,669

42,239

60,799

496,444

144,352

79,191

69,364

948,805

854,391

Others

1,436,032

1,215,369

Total

3,211,717

2,581,944

Litigation provision
Loan repayments in foreign currencies pending conversion
Unrealised interest income on discounted bills
Negative fair value of derivatives (Note 51(a)(i))
Payables in respect of the transferred
non-performing assets (Note (i))

(i)

According to the non-performing assets transfer agreement with GFIHL, the risk and rewards
associated with the non-performing assets were transferred to GFIHL after the transfer reference
date. Up to 31 December 2006, other collected amount related to the non-performing assets transferred,
recognised in account payable was RMB 949 million (31 December 2005: RMB 854 million).

(b)

Ageing analysis

Within one year
After one year but within two years
After two years but within three years
After three years
Total

2006

2005

2,821,593

2,175,479

96,310

49,668

30,636

90,912

263,178

265,885

3,211,717

2,581,944

Ageing refers to the period between the transaction date of the liability and the balance sheet date.
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Share capital
Registered capital and share capital
2006

Registered capital and share capital
(Par value of RMB 1 each)

2005

No. of Shares

Total

No. of Shares

Total

Thousand

RMB thousand

Thousand

RMB thousand

11,408,423

11,408,423

3,585,659

3,585,659

On 25 June 1988, with the approval of the PBOC, the Bank was incorporated with a registered share capital of
RMB 1.5 billion and share capital of RMB 0.5 billion. The Bank used a multiple legal entity system upon
establishment, and started to standardize the legal entity systems in accordance with approval from the Guangdong
provincial government and the PBOC on 31 December 1992 and 27 April 1995 respectively. Total share capital
was increased to RMB 1,781,247,169 at the end of 1997. Subsequently, through public offers and issuance of
bonus shares, total share capital of the Bank was increased to RMB 3,585,658,615. The capital was verified by
the Guangzhou Kai An CPA Firm and a capital verification report was issued. According to the resolution of the
Bank’s board execution committee on increasing registered capital to new domestic and foreign investors and
reducing registered capital of old shareholders, the Bank increased its registered capital by RMB9,764,332,000
on 18 December 2006, and reduced the registered capital by RMB1,941,568,003. The register capital after the
above changes was RMB11,408,422,597. The capital was verified by Guangzhou Zheng Zhong Zhu Jiang CPA
Firm and a capital verification report was issued.

38

Capital reserves

Exchange difference

2006

2005

76,550

-

As at 31 December 2006, the capital reserve represents exchange difference.

39

Regulatory general reserves
According to the resolution of the Bank’s board execution committee on increasing registered capital to new
domestic and foreign investors and reducing registered capital of old shareholders, the Bank reduced its registered
capital to make up the accumulated losses and the remaining amount was transferred to regulatory general reserves
on 18 December 2006.
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Interest income
2006

2005

Interest income from loans

8,487,666

8,930,657

Interest income on discounted bills

1,694,351

1,435,068

Interest income on inward and outward bills receivables

138,406

106,453

Interest income on credit cards

248,623

142,024

18,654

24,428

10,587,700

10,638,630

Other interest income
Total

41

Interest income on balances and placements with financial institutions
2006

2005

Interest income from placements with central banks

455,695

443,577

Interest income from deposits with banks and other financial institutions

104,766

46,503

Interest income from placements with banks and other financial institutions

297,324

190,228

Interest income from discounted bills

604,789

272,973

Interest income from balances under resale agreements

198,076

115,834

22,292

46,673

1,682,942

1,115,788

2006

2005

4,071,561

3,709,362

960,991

606,966

12,406

9,586

5,044,958

4,325,914

Others
Total

42

Interest expenses

Interest expenses on deposits
Interest expenses on saving deposits
Others
Total

43

Interest expenses on deposits and placements from financial institutions

Interest expenses on deposits from banks and other financial institutions
Interest expenses on placement from banks and other financial institutions
Interest expenses on re-discounted bills
Interest expenses on balances under repurchase agreements
Others
Total
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2006

2005

638,319

356,313

22,693

28,959

1,000,962

826,250

268,760

221,286

54,561

7,548

1,985,295

1,440,356
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Operating cost
2006

2005

1,760,608

1,596,119

Depreciation

384,466

396,317

Rent

384,364

369,530

Traveling and conference reception expenses

364,095

349,489

Repair and maintenance expenses

323,002

294,239

Office expenses

364,115

375,459

Staff costs

Others

859,843

613,278

4,440,493

3,994,431

2006

2005

Interest income on debt securities

1,412,287

1,349,048

Net trading loss on debt securities

(3,190)

(260,956)

Total

45

Investment income

Income on equity investment

56,060

82,965

1,465,157

1,171,057

2006

2005

Loss on disposal of repossessed assets

36,998

25,673

Litigation loss and provision

94,073

85,648

Total

46

Non-operating expenses

Net loss on disposal of fixed assets

47

23,907

7,022

Others

101,872

82,122

Total

256,850

200,465

2006

2005

2,948,096

2,571,931

(40,851)

44,243

-

18,911

3,050

-

Allowance for assets impairment

Allowance for loan loss
Allowance for investment impairment
Allowance for deposits and placements impairment
Allowance for impairment on fixed assets, intangible assets and
construction in progress
Allowance for impairment on repossessed assets
Provision on other assets
Allowance for impairment under resale agreements
Total

10,448

115,872

(93,089)

576,148

39,000

-

2,866,654

3,327,105
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Income tax
2006

2005

Income tax for the year

794,217

1,295,123

Deferred tax (Note 26)

(645,502)

(740,961)

148,715

554,162

Income tax expenses

Reconciliation between income tax expense and income tax charged at statutory tax rates:
2006

2005

Loss before tax

(475,637)

(137,590)

Income tax charged at statutory tax rate of 33%

(156,960)

(45,405)

427,577

689,546

(139,255)

(97,773)

17,353

7,794

148,715

554,162

Non-deductible expenses
Income tax adjustment of non-taxable income
Effect of different tax rates applicable to profits
in various regions (Note (i))
Income tax expenses
(i)

According to tax legislations and detailed rules of implementation in relevant regions, income taxes on
profits generated in various regions are payable at different tax rates and on different tax basis. The
income tax rate for Shenzhen Special Economic Region is 15% for each relevant year (2005: 15%).

49

Related parties
(a)

Terms of transactions
The directors consider that all major transactions between the Bank and related parties are conducted on an
arm’s length basis.

(b)

Shareholders
Since the Bank does not have controlling shareholders, the following shareholding companies refer to
shareholders having 5% or more of the Bank’s equity:
2006

106

No. of shares held

%

CITIGROUP INC

2,281,685

20.00%

Chinalife Insurance Company Ltd.

2,281,685

20.00%

State Grid Corporation of China

2,281,685

20.00%

CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd

2,281,685

20.00%
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Related parties (continued)
(b)

Shareholders (continued)
2005
No. ofshares held

%

Lianda Group Co., Ltd.

349,300

9.74%

Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co., Ltd.

343,000

9.57%

Jiangsu Suzhou Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd.

334,000

9.31%

Bank of China

238,125

6.64%

On 18th December 2006, due to changes in the Bank’s shareholding structure, there are substantial changes
in shareholders identified as related parties. Interest income and expense in notes to the Note 49 (b) and 49
(c) includes both interest income and expense recognised in relation to the old shareholders and entities
controlled by old directors from 1st January 2006 to 18th December 2006 as well as the interest income
and expense for the period 19th December 2006 to 31st December 2006 recognised in relation to the new
shareholders and entities controlled by directors. Loans and advances to customers, deposits with banks
and other financial institutions and deposits from customers in notes 49 (b) includes only loans and advances
to customers, deposits with banks and other financial institutions and deposits from customers as at 31
December 2006 in relation to the new shareholders and entities controlled by directors.
2006

2005

214,500

-

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

4,197,345

1,212,926

Deposits from customers

1,969,046

90

-

491,176

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions

2006

2005

Interest income

50,431

12,286

Interest expense

11,582

16,225

No provision for loan losses was made for the loans and advances to shareholders.
(c)

Entities controlled by the directors
2006

2005

Loans and advances to customers

-

533,000

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

-

667,934

Deposits from customers

-

18,644

2006

2005

27,738

43,825

418

61

Interest income
Interest expense
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Related parties (continued)
(d)

Investment entities controlled or commonly controlled by the Bank but which are not consolidated
In 2005 the investment entities mainly include Guangdong Guangkong Holding Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(“ Guangkong Group”), Upper Like Investments Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“ Upper Like Group”), as well
as Guangdong Guangfa International Finance & Consulting Co., Ltd.
During the restructuring in 2005, the Bank had transferred its investments in Guangkong Group and Upper
Like Group (Note 20). As a result, from the day after the transfer, the Bank no longer controlled the
companies. The following transaction balances and volume with investment companies includes only
balances and volume with Guangdong Guangfa International Finance & Consulting Co., Ltd.

Deposits from customers

Interest income
Interest expense
Operating expense
(e)

2006

2005

6,444

6,201

2006

2005

-

32,009

62

294

68,845

36,466

Key management personnel includes the Directors, Supervisors and Executive Officers.
The Bank’s management is of the opinion that the transactions with key management personnel are conducted
in the normal course of business, at relevant market rates at the time of transactions and in accordance with
normal business procedures. In addition, as the transaction amounts are insignificant, the Bank has not
disclosed the details of such transactions.

50

Entrusted lending business
The Bank provides entrusted lending business services to government agencies and corporations. All entrusted
loans are made under the instruction or at the direction of these entities and are funded by entrusted funds from
them. Income related to these services is included in the income statement as fee income.
Entrust assets and the corresponding liabilities are not assets and liabilities of the Bank and are not recognised in
the balance sheet. However, if the amount of the entrusted loan funds is greater than that of the entrusted loans,
the relevant surplus funding is accounted for as deposits from customers.
At the balance sheet date, the entrusted assets and liabilities were as follows:
2006

108

2005

Entrusted loans

5,178,677

5,377,343

Entrusted funds

(5,178,677)

(5,377,343)
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Off-balance sheet items
(a)

Off-balance sheet business with contingent risks
(i)

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are off-balance sheet financial instruments which include forward and swap transactions
undertaken by the Bank in the foreign exchange and interest rate markets. The Bank, through the
operations of its branch network, acts as an intermediary for a wide range of customers structuring
deals to produce risk management products to suit individual customer needs. These positions are
actively managed through entering into offsetting deals with third parties to ensure that the Bank’s
net exposures are within acceptable risk levels. No significant positions were maintained for
proprietary business by the Bank at the balance sheet date.
The notional amounts and the corresponding fair values of derivatives held by the Bank are listed
below. The notional amounts of the derivatives only indicate the volume of transactions outstanding
at the balance sheet date; they do not represent amounts at risk.
2006

2005
Fair value

Fair value

Notional value

Assets

Liabilities

Notional value

Assets

Liabilities

2,580,655

64,856

(73,358)

4,085,652

62,604

(61,980)

- Forwards

104,931

2,215

(2,172)

443,387

1,061

(990)

- Swaps

889,527

880

(3,661)

1,693,608

10,346

(6,394)

Interest rate swaps
Currency contracts:

Total

(ii)

994,458

3,095

(5,833)

2,136,995

11,407

(7,384)

3,575,113

67,951

(79,191)

6,222,647

74,011

(69,364)

(Note 11)

(Note 36)

(Note 11)

(Note 36)

Non-cancellable off-balance sheet credit business
Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange to third parties drawn on
customers. The Bank expects most acceptances to be settled simultaneously with the reimbursement
from the customers.
The Bank provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to ensure customers fulfill their obligations
to third parties.
The contractual amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in the following table
by category. The amount reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit represents the
maximum potential loss that would be recognised at balance sheet date if counterparties fail completely
to perform as contracted.
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Off-balance sheet items (continued)
(a)

Off-balance sheet business with contingent risks (continued)
(ii)

Non-cancellable off-balance sheet credit business (continued)
2006

2005

72,426,987

79,880,893

Financing guarantees

2,213,271

6,315,121

Non-financing guarantees

4,128,626

3,385,210

Forward letters of credit

1,579,237

1,578,991

Sight letters of credit

2,175,172

2,914,102

82,523,293

94,074,317

Acceptances

Total

These commitments and contingent liabilities expose the Bank to credit risk. Before the commitments
are fulfilled or expired, management would assess the contingent losses, and recognise the estimated
liabilities where necessary. As the facilities may expire without being drawn upon, the total of the
contractual amounts is not representative of expected future cash outflows.
(b)

Off-balance sheet items with contingent gain
These items represent the accrued loan principal or interest calculated off-balance sheet, which have
not yet been recovered, and are 90 days overdue (Ninetieth day exclusive).

Accrued interests not yet received

52

2006

2005

595,434

586,121

Commitments
(a)

Loan commitments
Facilities, including unused loan facilities and unused credit limit of credit cards, committed by the Bank
for designated customers may be drawn on request. Non-cancellable loan commitments provided by the
Banks to specific customers are as follows:

Unused loan facilities under borrowing contracts

2006

2005

2,305,430

1,564,481

Unused credit limit of credit cards

11,468,619

7,216,994

Total

13,774,049

8,781,475

There is no risk of unused credit limits being drawn upon, as the unused credit extended to other bank
customers is cancellable. Therefore, this amount is not included above.
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Commitments (continued)
(b)

Operating leases commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Bank’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases for buildings and structures were as follows:

Within one year

2005

300,298

301,716

After one year but within two years

252,387

256,669

After two years but within three years

218,576

209,667

After three years

802,311

877,593

1,573,572

1,645,645

Total
(c)

2006

Capital commitments
The Bank had the following authorised capital commitments at the balance sheet date:
2006

2005

54,684

82,134

Purchase of fixed assets
- Contracted for
- Not contracted for
Total
(d)

81,921

101,483

136,605

183,617

Underwriting obligations
The unexpired underwriting obligations of debt securities issued in the PRC at the balance sheet date were
as follows:

Underwriting obligations
(e)

2006

2005

570,000

630,000

Redemption obligations
As an underwriting agent of PRC Government bonds, the Bank has the responsibility to buy back those
bonds sold by it should the holders decide to early redeem the bonds held. The redemption price for the
bonds at any time before their maturity date is based on the coupon value plus any interest unpaid and
accrued up to the redemption date. The redemption price may be different from the fair value of similar
instruments traded in the markets at the redemption date.
The redemption obligations below represent the nominal value of PRC Government bonds underwritten
and sold by the Bank but not yet matured at the balance sheet date:
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Commitments (continued)
(e)

Redemption obligations (continued)

Redemption obligations

2006

2005

11,089,066

9,196,709

Management expects the amount of redemption before the maturity date of these government bonds through
the Bank will not be material.

53

Litigations and disputes
As at 31 December 2006, the Bank was the defendant in certain pending litigations, with gross claims of RMB
480 million (31 December 2005: RMB 580 million). Based on the opinions of the Bank’s internal and external
lawyers, provision has been made for the estimated losses of these litigations and disputes (Note 36). Management
of the Bank is of the view that the provision made is reasonable and adequate.

54

Risk of financial instruments
(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that may arise from the failure of a debtor to meet its obligation or
commitment to the Bank. It arises primarily from the Bank’s credit asset portfolios.
Concentration of credit risk: When a certain number of customers conduct the same operating activities,
are situated in the same geographical location or their industries have similar economic characteristics,
their ability to honor their contracts would be influenced by the same economic change. Concentration of
credit risk reflects the sensitivity of the Bank’s results to a specific industry or geographical location. The
principal place of business of the Bank is the PRC. However, the PRC is large and the level of economic
development differs among regions (e.g. some regions are designated by the central government as special
economic zones to attract investment). As a result, the risks among regions differ.
To identify, evaluate, monitor and manage credit risk, the Bank designs the risk management structure, credit
policies and processes required for effective credit risk management which have been implemented across
the Bank upon approval of the Credit Policy Committee and of the President. The Credit Policy Committee
is responsible for formulating the credit policies, management framework and marketing strategies from time
to time, analysing the development of lending businesses and the level of risk management, and approving
loans with amounts exceeding the authorised limit of the Credit Review Committee in accordance with relevant
rules, regulations and monetary policies in the PRC and the Bank’s business strategy. To mitigate risk, the
Bank may obtain collaterals and guarantees from customers where appropriate.
With respect to daily operations, the Credit Review Department (“ the Department ”) is responsible for the
management of risk controls for the overall credit policies, operation and management of lending businesses,
establishment of credit system and authorisation to subordinated units. Being a standing body of the Head
Office’s Credit Policy Committee, the Department reviews and approves various lending businesses reported
to and filed with the Department.
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Risk of financial instruments(continued)
(b)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in observable market variables such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity price markets. The market risk of the Bank primarily arises from
its participation in the market activities of various asset and liabilities related business and products. The
monitoring and management of market risk are primarily performed by the Asset and Liability Management
Committee (“ ALCO ” ) based on the following major factors: risk weighting, economic values, market
competition, etc.
Stress testing and scenario analysis are the key indicators used by the Bank to measure and monitor market
risks. The results of stress testing are assessed against a set of forward-looking scenarios using stress
moves in market variables, which are regularly reviewed. Scenario analysis involves description of potential
future scenarios based on prediction and is a systematic technique for predicting and identifying risks.
Through the analysis, decision-makers are reminded to note the potential risks or disastrous consequences
arising from a measure or a policy.

(c)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the likelihood of loss that may arise from movements in market interest rate. The Bank
predicts interest rate risk by studying future interest rate movements with various macro economic indicators,
and predicts future funding movements and trends within the Bank by referring to the Bank’s funding
costs, capital adequacy ratios, growth of loans and deposits and other factors, so as to study the interest
rate risk appetite of the Bank.
The Bank mainly manages interest rate risks with asset portfolio and derivative financial instruments.
Asset portfolio aims at diversifying risks and improves profitability with diversification of assets.

(d)

Currency risk
The Bank’s presentation currency is RMB. The exchange rates between RMB and foreign currencies are
regulated by the PBOC and there are only small fluctuations during each year concerned. The Bank’s
currency risk comprises exposures that arise from foreign currency portfolio originated from treasury
business and currency risk originated from the Bank’s overseas branches. The Bank manages the currency
risk by spot and forward foreign exchange transactions and matching its foreign currency denominated
assets with corresponding liabilities in the same currencies.
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Risk of financial instruments(continued)
(e)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall due. It arises from
the mismatching of the amount and maturity of assets and liabilities.
Liquidity across the Bank is managed through the ALCO. Management of liquidity risk by the Bank
includes liquefiable asset portfolio management, cash flow matching and short-term funding management:
-

Liquefiable asset portfolio management: this refers to various debt securities held with different
duration but which are highly liquid and with realisable market. Liquefiable asset portfolio is managed
using appropriate techniques and methods selected based on liquidity management objectives and
market conditions;

-

Cash flow matching: debt securities are selected based on liability payment due dates and quantities
to ensure that liquefiable asset portfolio can provide sufficient liquidity promptly to repay liabilities
due; and

-

Short-term funding management: the objective is to cover insufficiency of cash flow. The basic
approach to control cash flow is to use a cash flow statement. Before the end of each working day,
a cash flow statement is prepared based on the maturity dates and the amounts of assets and liabilities.
The actual cash flow and the forecasted cash flow are analysed in detail to ensure the surplus fund is
effectively used, whereas insufficient funds are financed mainly by borrowing and repurchase of
debt securities.

(f)

Operational risk
Operational risk includes the risk of direct or indirect loss due to an event or action causing failure of
technology, processes, infrastructure and personnel, and other risks having an operational impact.
The Bank manages this risk through an internal control-based environment by establishing a framework of
policies and procedures in order to identify, assess, control, manage and report risks. The framework
covers all business functions ranging from finance, credit, accounting, settlement, savings, treasury,
intermediary business, computer system applications and management, safeguarding of assets and legal
affairs. The Bank relies on the above to identify and monitor the operational risk inherent in all key
products, activities, processes and systems.
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Transfer of non-performing assets
The Bank transferred non-performing assets in 2005 based on its restructuring plan to increase capital adequacy
ratio and settle the non-performing assets. The details of non-performing assets transferred are as follows:
Carrying

Allowance for

Net carrying

value

impairment made

value

Proceeds from transfer of non-performing assets

58,142,382

Less:Carrying value of transfer of non-performing assets
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions (Note 6)

495,800

(423,299)

72,501

Placements with banks and other financial institutions (Note 7)

991,320

(933,567)

57,753

45,568,343

(31,078,381)

14,489,962

101,259

(101,259)

-

71,646

(71,646)

-

791,290

(701,869)

89,421

1,241,392

-

1,241,392

- Other receivables (Note 11)

2,708,255

(2,701,878)

6,377

- Repossessed assets (Note 25)

5,735,623

(3,416,621)

2,319,002

57,704,928

(39,428,520)

Loans and advances to customers (Note 18)
Investments
- Short-term investments (Note 13)
- Long-term debt investments (Note 19)
- Long-term equity investments (Note 20)
Other assets
- Advances on administration of certain credit unions in
Enping Municipality

Total

18,276,408
39,865,974

Less:Taxation

129,009

Increase in capital reserve due to transfer of non-performing assets

56

39,736,965

Post-balance sheet events
On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s Congress passed the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (“ new tax law ”) which will take effect on 1 January 2008.
As a result of the new tax law, it is expected that the income tax rate applicable to the Bank will be adjusted from
33% (Shenzhen area: 15%) to 25% from 1 January 2008. If the new rates were used to measure the Bank’s
deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2006, these balances would decrease by approximately RMB 0.4 billion.
These changes, together with the amounts utilised, will be reflected in the 2007 financial statements. The
enactment of the new tax law is not expected to have any financial effect on the amounts accrued in the balance
sheet in respect of current tax payable.

57

Comparative Figures
Certain items in these comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation
to facilitate comparison.

This is a translation only. In case of discrepancy, the original version in Chinese shall prevail.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
KPMG-A (2006) AR NO.0651

To: The Board of Directors of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“ the Bank ”) as
at 31 December 2005, and the income statement, statement of changes in owners’ equity and cash flow statement
for the year ended 2005 prepared on the basis of preparation cited in note 2 to these financial statements. The
preparation of these financial statements is the responsibility of the Bank’s management. It is our responsibility
to form an opinion, based on our audit, on these financial statements.
We conducted our audit in accordance with China’s Independent Auditing Standards for Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Bank’s management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the above-mentioned financial statements comply with the requirements of the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Enterprises (issued in 2001)
issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China, and present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2005, and the results of operations, changes in owners’
equity, and cash flows of the Bank for the year ended 2005.
Without qualifying our opinion, we still draw attention to the disclosures made in note 2 on the financial statements
concerning the uncertainties facing the Bank arising from whether there will be successful completion of the
restructuring of the Bank. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the successful outcome of the restructuring of the Bank. The financial statements do not
contain any adjustments that would result from the significant delay or failure of the restructuring of the Bank.
Should the restructuring of the Bank be delayed significantly or fail, allowances for impairment for the receivables
from Guangdong Finance Investment Holdings Co., Ltd in connection with non-performing assets transfer may
be required. The balance of the said receivables as at 31 December 2005 amounted to RMB 58.142 billion and
were recognized as other receivables. In addition, the going concern basis of preparation may no longer be
appropriate such that adjustments may need to be made to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current,
to write down the carrying values of assets to their net realisable values, and to recognise additional liabilities.
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Republic of China

8th Floor, Office Tower E2

Song Chenyang

Oriental Plaza
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Beijing 100738

Li Wanwei

China

9 November 2006
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2005
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2005

2004

1,790,128

1,596,933

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Balances with central bank

5

35,950,623

43,330,087

Balances with banks and other financial institutions

6

4,958,845

5,925,547

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

7

5,017,433

5,456,873

Short-term loans

8

102,617,178

112,934,916

Trade finance

9

2,954,856

3,082,496

Interest receivable

10

1,033,031

777,134

Other receivables

11

59,333,098

1,677,832

Discounted bills

12

21,455,430

15,222,746

Short-term investments

13

25,468,745

5,083,607

Balances under resale agreements

14

12,961,296

6,548,969

Long-term debt investments maturing within one year

15

5,602,717

1,012,653

279,143,380

202,649,793

Total current assets

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2005

2004

Assets (continued)
Long-term assets
Medium and long-term loans

16

33,562,674

40,636,976

Non-accrued loans

17

4,888,046

44,786,610

18

(5,391,992)

(33,972,885)

Long-term debt investments

less: Provisions for loan loss

19

27,910,824

32,665,975

Long-term equity investments

20

49,978

147,969

5,484,958

5,461,539

less: accumulated depreciation

(2,396,439)

(2,152,280)

less: Provisions for impairment

(310,614)

(310,614)

Fixed assets, at cost

Fixed assets, at net book value

21

2,777,905

2,998,645

Construction in progress

22

248,687

225,027

64,046,122

87,488,317

Total long-term assets
Intangible assets and other assets
Intangible assets

23

191,487

223,282

Long-term deferred expenses

24

68,703

84,560

Repossessed assets

25

Total intangible assets and other assets

433,248

3,071,017

693,438

3,378,859

1,561,630

820,669

345,444,570

294,337,638

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets

26

Total assets

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2005

2004

Liabilities and owners’ equity
Current liabilities
Short-term deposits

27

154,451,704

155,856,437

Short-term savings deposits

28

36,238,907

27,437,046

4,726,883

3,747,103

Short-term pledged deposits

29

29,512,526

29,970,411

Amounts due to central bank

30

1,000,000

1,151,834

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions

31

23,929,207

12,530,622

Fiscal deposits

Placements from banks and other financial institutions

32

262,582

1,665,199

Balances under repurchase agreements

33

2,652,194

9,165,317

Outward remittances

327,677

376,906

Inward remittances

404,644

670,684

Interest payables

1,637,275

1,506,002

Salaries payable

756,071

773,986

Accrued welfare expenses

135,755

199,503

2,326,543

937,194

Tax payables

34

35

Other liabilities

36

2,581,944

1,338,325

Long-term liabilities maturing within one year

37

53,319,767

54,949,787

314,263,679

302,276,356

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Long-term deposits

38

19,637,446

20,351,165

Long-term savings deposits

39

7,968,745

6,419,090

Long-term pledged deposits

29

22,255

783,795

27,628,446

27,554,050

341,892,125

329,830,406

Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2005

2004

Liabilities and owners’ equity (continued)
Owners’ equity
Share capital

40

3,585,659

3,585,659

Capital reserves

41

-

625,514

Accumulated losses

(33,214)

(39,703,941)

Total owners’ equity

3,552,445

(35,492,768)

345,444,570

294,337,638

Total liabilities and owners’ equity

These financial statements have been approved by the management of the Bank on 9 November 2006.

Li Ruohong

Zhang Guanghua

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Liu Yongsheng

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Vice President in charge of

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

accounting

Finance Dept.

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2005
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note

2005

2004

42

10,638,630

9,642,116

43

1,115,788

1,153,499

Operating income
Interest income
Interest income on balances and placements
with financial institutions
Fee and commission income

633,990

506,683

Foreign exchange gain, net

204,323

153,485

12,592,731

11,455,783

44

(4,325,914)

(3,685,240)

45

(1,440,356)

(1,653,118)

(174,808)

(100,900)

Total operating income
Operating expenses
Interest expense
Interest expense on deposit and placements from
financial institutions
Fee and commission expense

(5,941,078)

(5,439,258)

Operating cost

Total operating expenses
46

(3,994,431)

(3,596,084)

Investment income

47

1,171,057

1,125,101

Business taxes and surcharges

(638,679)

(548,500)

Operating profit

3,189,600

2,997,042

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note
Operating profit
Add:non-operating income
Less:non-operating expenses

48

Profit before allowance for assets impairment
Less:allowance for assets impairment

49

(Loss) / profit after allowance for assets impairment
Less:income tax

50

Net (loss) / profit

2005

2004

3,189,600

2,997,042

200,380

153,105

(200,465)

(203,814)

3,189,515

2,946,333

(3,327,105)

(2,149,980)

(137,590)

796,353

(554,162)

(665,972)

(691,752)

130,381

These financial statements have been approved by the management of the Bank on 9 November 2006.

Li Ruohong

Zhang Guanghua

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Liu Yongsheng

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Vice President in charge of

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

accounting

Finance Dept.

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Statement of changes in owners’ equity
for the year ended 31 December 2005
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

At 1 January 2004

Share

Capital

Accumulated

capital

reserves

losses

Total

3,585,659

625,514

(39,834,322)

(35,623,149)

-

-

130,381

130,381

3,585,659

625,514

(39,703,941)

(35,492,768)

-

-

(691,752)

(691,752)

-

39,736,965

-

39,736,965

- (40,362,479)

40,362,479

-

(33,214)

3,552,445

Net profit
31 December 2004
Net loss
Restructuring (note 2)
-Equity arising from of the carve-out
of non-performing assets
-Net off against accumulated losses
31 December 2005

3,585,659

-

These financial statements have been approved by the management of the Bank on 9 November 2006.

Li Ruohong

Zhang Guanghua

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Liu Yongsheng

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Vice President in charge of

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

accounting

Finance Dept.

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2005

2004

12,323,345

11,163,354

750,856

-

-

104,378

4,678,802

-

Cash flow from operating activities
Interest, fee and commission received
Net balances with banks and other financial institutions
Net placements with banks and other financial institutions
Net short-term loans and trade finance on maturity
Net discounted bills
Net balances under resale agreements
Recoveries of medium and long-term loans
Recoveries of the loans written off in prior year
Net amount of current deposits taken
Non-current deposits taken
Net balances from banks and other financial institutions
Net placements from banks and other financial institutions
Net cash received from other operating activities
Sub-total of cash inflows

-

13,675,731

978,657

19,152,595

26,843,026

10,714,558

1,798

1,825

7,603,755

29,583,063

-

9,944,856

11,398,585

1,796,725

-

317,555

1,278,222

153,105

65,857,046

96,607,745

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2005

2004

Interest, fee and commission paid

(5,809,805)

(5,238,532)

Statutory deposit reserve funds with central bank

(2,727,797)

(3,168,099)

-

(906,512)

(30,706)

-

(6,232,684)

-

Cash flow from operating activities (continued)

Net balances with banks and other financial institutions
Net placements with banks and other financial institutions
Net discounted bills
Net amount of short-term loans and trade finance drawn

-

(15,083,823)

Withdrawal of non-current deposits

(1,555,624)

-

Medium and long-term loan drawn

(19,768,724)

(23,921,355)

(151,834)

(5,690)

Net balances from central bank
Net placements from banks and other financial institutions

(1,402,617)

-

Net balances under repurchase agreements

(6,513,123)

(30,119,394)

Cash paid to and for employees

(1,677,782)

(1,225,597)

Cash paid for all types of taxes

(673,462)

(501,393)

Net cash paid for other operating activities
Sub-total of cash outflows
Net cash inflow from operating activities

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the
cash flow
statement

2005

2004

202,667,158

35,921,065

1,135,930

1,020,954

131,961

66,346

203,935,049

37,008,365

(223,089,306)

(39,069,019)

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash received from disposal of debt investments
Cash received from interest on debt securities
Cash received from disposal of fixed assets and other assets
Sub-total of cash inflows
Cash paid for purchase of investments
Cash paid for purchase of fixed assets and other assets
Sub-total of cash outflows
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

(ii)

(374,548)

(650,662)

(223,463,854)

(39,719,681)

(19,528,805)

(2,711,316)

(7,320)

(273)

(3,059,909)

11,770,438

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the cash flow statement
2005

2004

Net (loss)/profit

(691,752)

130,381

Add:Provision for loan loss

2,571,931

2,092,908

755,174

57,072

480,299

490,256

7,022

2,852

(1,171,057)

(1,125,101)

2,584,569

414,148

Increase in operating payables

11,940,030

12,419,511

Net cash inflow from operating activities

16,476,216

14,482,027

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note (iii))

39,343,782

42,403,691

Less:cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(42,403,691)

(30,633,253)

(3,059,909)

11,770,438

(i) Reconciliation of net (loss)/ profit to cash flows from operating activities:

Provision for impairment on other assets
Depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation
of intangible assets, long-term prepaid expenses
Net loss on disposal of fixed assets
Investment income
Decrease in operating receivables

(ii) Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents:

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 (continued)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
Note to the cash flow statement (continued)
2005

2004

1,790,128

1,596,933

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Cash
Cash equivalents
- Balances with central bank

17,027,857

27,135,118

- Balances with banks and other financial institutions

3,596,026

3,811,872

- Placements with banks and other financial institutions

4,566,990

4,887,971

12,362,781

4,971,797

- Balances under resale agreements
Total cash equivalents

37,553,654

40,806,758

Total

39,343,782

42,403,691

These financial statements have been approved by the management of the Bank on 9 November 2006.

Li Ruohong

Zhang Guanghua

Authorised representative

President

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

Liu Yongsheng

Sun Fei

Guangdong Development

Vice President in charge of

General Manager of the

Bank Co., Ltd.

accounting

Finance Dept.

(Signature and stamp)

(Signature and stamp)

(Bank chop)

The notes on pages 130 to 173 form part of these financial statements.
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Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

1

Basic information
Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“the Bank”) is a joint stock commercial bank with limited liability
incorporated in Guangzhou Municipal of Guangdong Province in the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”) on
8 September 1988 with the approval of the State Council and the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”).
As at 31 December 2005, apart from the Head Office, the Bank has set up 26 branches and sub-branches in
Beijing, Shanghai, Dalian, Zhengzhou, Nanjing, Hangzhou, Kunming, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Dongguan, Zhuhai,
Shantou, Meizhou, Huizhou, Shaoguan, Qingyuan, Zhongshan, Foshan, Jiangmen, Zhaoqing, Yangjiang,
Zhanjiang, Wuhan, Maoming, Heyuan and Macau respectively. In addition, the Bank has representative offices
in Beijing and Hong Kong.
The Bank’s principal activities include the taking of deposits from the public, extension of loans, settlement, bill
discounting, acting as issue and acceptance agent and underwriter for government debts and marketable securities
other than shares, purchase and sale of government debts and marketable securities other than shares, issuance
of credit cards, offshore business, and other Renminbi (“RMB”) and foreign currency businesses approved by
the PBOC and China Banking Regulatory Commission.

2

Restructuring and basis of preparation of the financial statements
With the approval of the Guangdong Provincial Government of the PRC (“Guangdong Government”), the Bank
commenced a restructuring program in 2005 which primarily involved the disposal of non-performing assets and
proposed issuance of new shares to strategic investors (the “ Restructuring”), the details of which are as follows:
·

Non-performing assets transfer agreements were entered into between the Bank and Guangdong Finance
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. (“GFIHL”), an entity wholly owned by the Guangdong Government, under
which certain non-performing assets of the Bank with a gross book value of RMB 57.705 billion (including
customer loans, placements with banks and other financial institutions, investments and other assets) were
transferred to GFIHL on a non-recourse basis, majority of which with effect from 1 July 2005 (“the Transfer
Date”). According to the transfer agreements, proceeds from the transfer amounting to RMB 58.142 billion
(the “NPA Receivable”) (Note 11 (a)(i)) were due on 30 April 2006. The proceeds were recognised as
other receivables, while the difference between the net book value of the non-performing assets transferred
and the proceeds amounting to RMB 39.737 billion was recorded in the capital reserves of the Bank for
2005 as increase in owners’ equity, after taking account of relevant taxes (Note 57).
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Restructuring and basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
In addition, according to the resolutions passed by the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders and
by the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors resolved to apply the capital
reserve to offset against the accumulated losses on 31 December 2005.
The Bank would issue shares to strategic investors. The Bank has selected proposed investors subsequent to 31
December 2005. The final phase of the negotiations is currently taking place among the Guangdong Government,
the Bank and the proposed investors. The process is expected to be completed by the end of 2006.
GFIHL did not settle the NPA Receivable on 30 April 2006, the due date according to the non-performing assets
transfer agreement. However the Guangdong Government issued a letter of support to the Bank on 27 October
2006, regarding the settlement of the NPA Receivable by GFIHL. The letter of support sets out the following
sources of funds for settling the NPA Receivable:
(i)

Part of the NPA Receivable will be settled by the funding from the proposed investors upon completion of
the Restructuring;

(ii)

The Government will arrange for the settlement of the remaining balance as follows:
·

RMB 10 billion of the NPA Receivable will be settled by the funding from the Guangdong Government
and the Ministry of Finance (“ MOF”) of the PRC over a period of five years commencing from 1
January 2007. In addition, the outstanding balance over the five-year period will bear an interest at
2.7% per annum; and

·

The remaining balance of the NPA Receivable will be settled by the funding from the Guangdong
Government upon completion of the Restructuring or no later than 31 December 2006.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Restructuring is still in progress. However, based on
the progress of the Restructuring, the current status of the negotiations with the proposed investors and the letter
of support issued by the Guangdong Government, the Board of Directors is confident that the Restructuring will
be successfully completed and that the NPA Receivable will be fully settled. Accordingly the Board of Directors
is of the opinion that there is no impairment on the NPA Receivable as at 31 December 2005 and that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the Restructuring of the Bank
be delayed significantly or fail, allowance for impairment on the NPA Receivable may be required and the going
concern basis of preparation may no longer be appropriate, such that adjustments may need to be made to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current, to write down the carrying amounts of the assets to their net realisable
values, and to recognise additional liabilities.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Enterprises (issued in 2001) as well as other relevant
requirements.
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Significant accounting policies
(a)

Accounting year
The accounting year of the Bank is from 1 January to 31 December.

(b)

Basis of preparing combined financial statements of the Bank
The combined financial statements of the Bank are prepared based on the information from the financial
statements of the Head Office and branches and other information. All significant intra-bank transactions
and balances have been eliminated on combination.
In respect of subsidiaries which have assets and operating results of a smaller proportion and do not have
a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank, they are not consolidated but are carried as
long-term equity investments using the equity method.

(c)

Basis of preparation and measurement basis
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on an accruals basis. Unless otherwise stated, the
measurement basis used is historical cost.

(d)

Reporting currency
The Bank’s reporting currency is the Renminbi.

(e)

Translation of foreign currencies
The Bank’s foreign currency transactions are recorded in multi-currency ledgers. The Bank’s business
operations denominated in different currencies are recorded in separate accounts according to the original
currency and are translated into RMB equivalents at the balance sheet date. For the purpose of preparing
financial statements in RMB at the balance sheet date, foreign currency transactions are translated into
RMB and consolidated with relevant balances in RMB.
All balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies other than shareholders’ equity, are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Shareholders’ equity denominated in
foreign currencies is translated into RMB at the historical exchange rates. The resulting exchange differences
are dealt with as a movement in reserve. The income statement is translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The Bank adopts the exchange rate published by the PBOC and other recognised exchange rate.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents comprise the Bank’s short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, including
current accounts with the PBOC, balances / placements with banks and non-bank financial institutions,
and balances under reverse repurchase agreements, generally on original maturity of no more than three
months.

(g)

Provision for bad debts
Bad bedt losses are estimated and identified individually. For receivables (including balances / placements
with other parties and other receivables) that show signs of uncollectibility, specific provision is made according
to their recoverability. Losses resulting from bad debts are accounted for through provisioning.

(h)

Loans
(i)

Loan classification by nature
Short-, medium-, and long-term loans: the bank classified loans according to the original maturity.
Those due within one year represent short-term loans, while those due after one year or more are
regarded as medium- and long-term loans.
Non-accrued loans: loans whose principal or interest is overdue for more than 90 days.

(ii)

Loan valuation
Loans are stated at the amount actually drawn.

(iii) Provision for loan loss
The provision for loan loss covers short-term loans, trade finance, discounted bills (excluding bills
rediscounted by banks), medium- and long-term loans, and non-accrued loans. The Bank has made
provisions for losses on such loans in accordance with the “ Administrative Measures on Provisioning
for Doubtful Debts by Financial Institutions” (Cai Jin [2005] No.49) issued by the MOF and the “
Accounting Regulations for Financial Institutions”.
When there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired, provisions for loan losses including specific
provision, general provision for non-individually identified losses and specific provision for
sovereignty risk, geographic risk and industry risk, are made based on the estimated losses. At each
year end, the Bank will assess the recoverability of each type of loans and estimates the amount of
potential losses.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)

Loans (continued)
(iii) Provision for loan loss (continued)
The amount of provision for loan losses is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount. In arriving at the provision for loan losses, factors such as the loan’s risk grading,
the borrowers’ repayment ability and willingness to repay, repayment record of principal and interest,
the market value of the collateral and the support from guarantors are considered to determine the
overall risk and recoverability and to ensure any impairment loss is provided adequately.
When borrowers or guarantors fail to repay the loan principal and interest, and use the collaterals to
settle the debts, the respective loan principal together with the recognised interest are transferred to
repossessed assets with the corresponding loan provision transferred to provision for impairment on
repossessed assets at the same time.
(iv) Written off of loans
When a loan is still uncollectible after the Bank has completed all the necessary legal procedures, the loan
is written off against the provision for loan losses with the approval of management. If the loan written
off is recovered subsequently, the amount recovered is written back to the income statement.

(i)

Discounted bills
Discounted bills represent the bank acceptance bills or commercial acceptance bills discounted by the
Bank for customers or other financial institutions or bills rediscounted with the central bank. Such discounted
or re-discounted amounts are stated at the bills’ face value. Interest income on discounted bills is determined
and recognised based on the face value of the discounted bill, its maturity, and applicable interest rates. At
the balance sheet date, any interest income of unexpired discounted bills from the balance sheet date until
maturity will be deferred.

(j)

Balances under repurchase or resale agreements
Balances under resale agreements are stated at transaction amounts less allowance for impairment, whereas
balances under repurchase agreements are stated at transaction amounts. The underlying assets under resale
agreements are carried off the balance sheet for record purposes, while those under repurchase agreements
are still accounted for on the balance sheet.
The differences between transactions under resale agreements and repurchase agreements are recognised,
on an accruals basis, as income or expenses arising from transactions with financial institutions during the
period of resale agreements and repurchase agreements.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Investments
(i)

Short-term investments
The initial cost of a short-term investment is the total price paid on acquisition of the investment.
However, it does not include unpaid interest on debt securities which was due at the time of acquisition.
Short-term investments are carried at the lower of cost and market value at the end of the period.
Allowance for diminution in value is made on an item-by-item basis for any shortfall of the market
value over the cost of short-term investments.
With the exception of interest on debt securities which is due but not yet paid at the time of acquisition,
interest are set off against the carrying amount of the short-term investments when received by the Bank.
Upon the disposal or recovery of short-term investments, the difference between the carrying amount of
the short-term investments and the proceeds received is recognised as profit or loss for the current period.

(ii)

Long-term equity investments
Where the Bank has the power to control, jointly control or exercise significant influence over an
investee enterprise, the investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting whereby
the investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for any post acquisition change in
the Bank’s share of the investors’ equity in the investee enterprise.
Where the Bank does not control, jointly control or exercise significant influence over an investee enterprise,
the investment is accounted for under the cost method, stating it at the initial investment cost. Investment
income is recognised when the investee enterprise declares a cash dividend or distributes profits.
The Bank makes provision for impairment losses on long-term equity investments (see note 3(p)).

(iii) Long-term debt investments
The initial investment cost of a long-term debt investment is the total price paid on acquisition of the
investment. However, it does not include any unpaid interest that is due at the time of acquisition.
Such interest receivable is separately accounted for under receivables. Where the total price paid
includes accrued interest that is not yet due at the time of acquisition, such interest is separately
accounted for under long-term debt investments.
The premium or discount on debt securities represents the difference between the nominal value and
the initial investment cost of the long-term debt investment after the deduction of related taxes and
accrued interest which is not yet due for payment. The premium/discount on debt securities is
amortised over the subsisting period on a straight-line basis.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Investments(continued)
(iii) Long-term debt investments (continued)
Expenses such as taxes and transaction fees arising from the acquisition of long-term debt investments
are recognised directly in the income statement on acquisition.
In case that interest is paid by installments during the subsisting period of debt securities, the accrued
and unpaid interest of debt investment is accounted for as interest receivable in current assets. In
case that both interest and principal are paid one-off on the maturity date, the accrued and unpaid
interest of debt investment is accounted for as interest receivable in long-term debt investment.
Upon the disposal of long-term debt investments, the difference between the proceeds received and
the carrying amount of the investments is recognised in the income statement.
The Bank makes allowance for impairment on long-term debt investments (see note 3(p)).

(l)

Fixed assets and construction in progress
Fixed assets are assets with comparatively high unit values held by the Bank for use in the operating
activities. They are expected to be used for more than one year.
Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Construction in progress is stated in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses.
All direct and indirect costs that are related to the construction of fixed assets and incurred before the
assets are ready for their intended use are capitalised as construction in progress. Construction in progress
is transferred to fixed assets when it is ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided against
construction in progress.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost less residual value on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of fixed assets. The respective estimated useful lives adopted for the Bank’s fixed assets are as
follows:
Types of assets
Buildings and structures

30-35 years

Electronic equipment

5 years

Transportation and other equipment

5 years

Leasehold improvement
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(l)

Fixed assets and construction in progress(continued)
Fixed assets are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and recoverable amounts at the balance sheet
date. Should the recoverable amount be lower than the carrying amount due to obsolescence, damage or
idleness, allowance for impairment on fixed assets will be made for individual asset(see note 3 (p)).
Subsequent expenditure relating to a fixed asset is capitalised only when future economic benefits flow to
the Bank are higher than originally expected. However, the amount capitalised should not exceed the
recoverable amount of the relevant fixed asset. Other subsequent expenses in fixed assets are recognised in
the income statement as expenses when incurred.

(m)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. The cost of the intangible assets is amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The respective amortisation periods for the intangible assets are as follows:

(n)

Types of assets

Estimated useful life

Land use rights

30-50 years

Software

5 years

Others

5 years

Long-term prepaid expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised on a straight-line basis over their beneficial periods. Prepaid
operating lease charges are amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases, while
other capital expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over their respective useful life.
For other long-term deferred expenses which are unlikely to generate economic benefits in subsequent
periods, the unamortised balances will be charged to the income statement.

(o)

Repossessed assets
Repossessed assets are recognised at the carrying amount of the loan principal interest receivable, and
relevant tax paid for retrieved assets. The corresponding allowance for loan impairment is transferred to
allowance for impairment on repossessed assets. At the end of the period, repossessed assets are stated at
cost net of allowance for impairment in the balance sheet (see note 3 (p)).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p)

Provision for impairment
The carrying amounts of assets (including long-term investments, fixed assets, construction in progress,
intangible assets, repossessed assets, and other assets) are reviewed regularly at each balance sheet date to
determine whether their recoverable amounts have declined below their carrying amounts. Assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount. The amount
by which the carrying amount is reduced is the impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the greater of
the net selling price and the present value of the estimated future cash flows arising from the continuous
use of the asset and from the disposal of the asset at the end of its useful life. Allowance for impairment is
calculated on an item-by-item basis and recognised as an expense in the income statement.
If there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount and as a result the estimated recoverable amount is greater than the carrying amount of the asset,
the impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses are reversed to the extent of the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

(q)

Entrusted lending business and entrusted funds
The Bank enters into entrusted loan agreements with a number of customers, whereby the customers provide
funding (“ the entrusted funds ”) to the Bank, and the Bank grants loans to third parties (“ the entrusted
loans” ) at the instruction of the customers. As the Bank does not assume the risks and rewards of the
entrusted loans and the corresponding entrusted funds, entrusted loans and funds are recorded as off-balance
sheet items at their principal amounts and no allowances for impairment are made for these entrusted
loans. Received but not yet granted entrusted funds are accounted for as deposits.

(r)

Income tax
Income tax is recognised using the tax effect accounting method. It includes current tax and deferred tax.
Current tax is calculated at the applicable tax rate on taxable income.
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for the differences between the accounting profits and
the taxable profits arising from the timing differences in recognising income, expenses or losses between
the accounting and tax regulations. Deferred tax is recognised only when expected timing differences can
be reversed in subsequent periods. When the tax rate changes or a new type of tax is levied, adjustments
are made to the amounts originally recognised for the timing differences under the liability method. The
current tax rates are used in arriving at the reversal amounts when the timing differences are reversed.

138

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

Financial Statements for 2005

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)

Income tax(continued)
Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses, which are expected to be utilized against future taxable profits,
are set off against the deferred tax liabilities (only for the same taxpayer within the same jurisdiction).
When it is not probable that the tax benefits of deferred tax assets will be realised, the deferred tax assets
are reduced to the extent that the related tax benefits are expected to be realised.

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where it is not probable that the settlement of the above obligation will cause an outflow of economic benefits,
or the amount of the outflow cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.

(t)

Income recognition
When it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue and costs, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income statement according to the following methods:
(i)

Interest income
Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time-apportioned basis with reference to the
principal outstanding and at the rate applicable.
For either the loan principal or interest overdue for more than 90 days (including rescheduled loans),
the accrual of interest is discontinued and is accounted for in the off balance sheet memorandum
accounts. Interest receivable of such loans is reversed in the income statement and recorded as an off
balance sheet item. Amounts received subsequently will first be set off against the loan principal. It
is only when the loan principal is fully recovered that any further amounts received can be recognised
in the income statement.
Other interest income is recognised on an accruals basis, with reference to the amount and period
outstanding and at the rate applicable.

(ii) Fee income
Fee income is recognised when the related services are rendered.
(iii) Other income
Other income is recognised on an accruals basis.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u)

Expense recognition
(i)

Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised on an accruals basis, with reference to the amount and period outstanding
and at the rate applicable.

(ii)

Other expenses
Other expenses are recognised on an accruals basis.

(v)

Derivative financial instruments
The Bank’s derivative financial instruments include spot, forward, foreign currency swaps and interest
rate swaps contracts undertaken in response to customers’ needs or for the Bank’s own risk management
purpose. To hedge against risks arising from derivative transactions undertaken for customers, the Bank
enters into similar derivative contracts with banks and other financial institutions which are approved by
the PBOC to conduct derivative business.
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value, with gains and losses arising recognised in the
income statement.

(w)

Profit appropriations
Profit appropriations are recognised in the income statement and statement of changes in owners’ equity when
approved. Cash dividends approved after the balance sheet date, but before the date on which the financial
statements are authorised for issue, are separately disclosed in the owners’ equity in the balance sheet.

(x)

Employee benefits
The Bank participates in social insurance programs established by government agencies, including pension
plans, medical insurance, housing provident funds and other social insurance. Insurance and provident funds
contributions (a proportion of salaries not exceeding the prescribed maximum limit) are paid to the relevant
labour and social insurance agencies and recognised as general and administrative expenses when incurred.

(y)

Operating leases charges
Lease payments made are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(z)

Related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Bank if the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decision, or
vise verse, or where the Bank and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

4

Taxation
The major types of tax and their tax rates applicable to the Bank are as follows:
(a)

Business tax
Business tax is charged at 5% of taxable income in 2004 and the subsequent years.

(b)

City maintenance and construction tax
City maintenance and construction tax is calculated at 1% to 7% of the business tax.

(c)

Education surcharge
Education surcharge is calculated at 3% of the business tax.

(d)

Income tax
According to tax legislations and detailed rules of implementation in relevant regions, income taxes on
profits generated in various regions are payable at different tax rates and on different tax bases. For each
relevant year, the income tax rate for Shenzhen Special Economic Region is 15%, and 33% for other
regions where branches of the Bank are situated.

5

Balances with central bank
2005

2004

Statutory deposit reserve funds (Note (a))

18,864,755

16,129,939

Excess of deposit reserve funds (Note (b))

17,027,857

27,135,118

Fiscal deposits
Total

58,011

65,030

35,950,623

43,330,087
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Balances with central bank(continued)
(a)

The Bank places statutory deposit reserve funds with the PBOC and the Central bank of Macau. The
statutory deposit reserve funds are not available for the Bank’s daily business.
Statutory deposit reserve funds placed with the PBOC were calculated at 7% of eligible Renminbi deposits
as required by the PBOC from 1 January 2004 to 25 April 2004. This was increased to 7.5% with effect
from 25 April 2004 and further increased to 8% on 25 May 2004. The Bank is also required to deposit 3%
of its foreign currency deposits from customers of domestic branches as statutory deposit reserve funds
since 15 January 2005 (2004: 2%).
The amount of statutory deposit reserve funds placed with the Central bank of Macau Branch is determined
by the local jurisdiction.

(b)

The balances mainly represent surplus deposit reserve fund maintained with the PBOC for the purposes of
clearing.

6

Balances with banks and other financial institutions
(a)

By nature
2005

2004

3,648,835

4,044,744

57,933

532,197

Sub-total

3,706,768

4,576,941

Balances with offshore banks

1,254,525

1,781,925

Total

4,961,293

6,358,866

(2,448)

(433,319)

4,958,845

5,925,547

Balances with onshore:
-banks
-other financial institutions

Less:allowance for impairment
Net balances

As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the balances with banks and other financial institutions
with book value of RMB 496 million in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 423
million previously made (Note 57).
(b)

Movements of allowance for impairment
2005

2004

(433,319)

(433,364)

Release for the year

2,552

-

Write-offs for the year

5,020

45

Opening balance

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 57)
Closing balance
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Placements with banks and other financial institutions
(a)

By nature
2005

2004

-banks

496,257

2,268,692

-other financial institutions

248,029

1,106,106

Sub-total

744,286

3,374,798

Balances with onshore:

Placements with offshore banks

4,289,610

3,015,605

Total

5,033,896

6,390,403

(16,463)

(933,530)

5,017,433

5,456,873

Less:allowance for impairment
Net balances

As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the placements with banks and other financial institutions
with book value of RMB 991 million in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 934
million previously made (Note 57).
(b)

Movements of allowance for impairment

Opening balance
(Charge) / release for the year
Write-offs for the year
Exchange difference

8

2005

2004

(933,530)

(941,426)

(16,463)

1,997

-

5,899

(37)

-

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 57)

933,567

-

Closing balance

(16,463)

(933,530)

2005

2004

Unsecured loans

10,460,721

13,984,948

Guaranteed loans

44,506,525

53,276,218

Collateralized loans

29,473,241

25,627,301

Pledged loans

18,176,691

20,046,449

102,617,178

112,934,916

Short-term loans

Total

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

143

Financial Statements for 2005

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

9

Trade finance
2005

2004

Export loans

426,201

259,954

Inward bills

1,158,253

1,613,200

Outward bills

695,981

724,575

Packing loans

416,704

327,727

Others

257,717

157,040

2,954,856

3,082,496

2005

2004

Interest receivable on loans

340,199

287,875

Interest receivable on debt securities

625,324

432,098

Total

10

Interest receivable
(a)

By nature

Other interest receivable
Total
(b)

67,508

57,161

1,033,031

777,134

Ageing analysis
2005
Ageing
Within one year

Amount

Percentage(%)

Amount

Percentage(%)

1,025,202

99.2%

767,256

98.7%

2,471

0.2%

4,421

0.6%

826

0.1%

1,855

0.2%

After one year but within two years
After two years but within three years
After three years
Total

2004

4,532

0.5%

3,602

0.5%

1,033,031

100%

777,134

100%

Ageing refers to the period between the date of recording the interest receivable and the balance sheet date.
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Other receivables
(a)

By nature
2005

2004

Amounts pending for settlement

112,100

59,723

Prepayment

159,968

231,188

74,011

74,479

58,142,382

-

-

1,085,386

2,545,415

4,042,578

Total

61,033,876

5,493,354

Less:provisions for bad debts

(1,700,778)

(3,815,522)

Net balances

59,333,098

1,677,832

Positive fair value of derivatives (Note 53(a)(i))
Receivables on transfer of non-performing assets (Note (i))
Receivables in respect of administration of certain credit
unions in Enping Municipal (Note (ii))
Others (Note (iii))

(i)

Receivables on transfer of non-performing assets
According to the non-performing assets transfer agreement, the Bank will receive RMB 58.142 billion
at the engaged payment date (30 April 2006) (Note 2).

(ii)

Receivables in respect of administration of certain credit unions in Enping Municipal
In 1998, the Bank was appointed by the PBOC as an administrator of certain credit unions in Enping
Municipal, Guangdong Province. Such advances arose from repayment of liabilities and claims of
creditors by the Bank on behalf of the above credit unions. As part of the restructuring, the Bank
transferred some of such advances, amounting to RMB 1,241 million in 2005 (Note 57).

(iii) Others
As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred other receivables with book value of RMB 2,708 million
in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 2,702 million previously made (Note 57).
(b)

Ageing analysis
2005
Ageing
Within one year
After one year but within two years
After two years but within three years
After three years
Total

2004

Amount

Proportion

Provision

Amount

Proportion

Provision

59,697,667

98%

(529,961)

639,645

12%

(45,905)

69,894

0%

(44,457)

712,790

13%

(107,094)

214,566

0%

(151,404)

685,308

12%

(327,876)

2%

(974,956) 3,455,611

63%

(3,334,647)

100% (1,700,778) 5,493,354

100%

(3,815,522)

1,051,749
61,033,876

Ageing refers to the period between the transaction date of the other receivables and the balance sheet date.
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Other receivables(continued)
(c)

Movement in allowance for impairment

Opening balance
Charge for the year

2005

2004

(3,815,522)

(3,744,612)

(576,148)

(41,823)

3,478

18,266

2,701,878

-

Write-off for the year
Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 57)
Transfer in from other accounts
Closing balance

12

(47,353)
(3,815,522)

2005

2004

15,290,633

11,680,660

6,164,797

3,542,086

21,455,430

15,222,746

2005

2004

3,019,026

515,560

Discounted bills

Banker’s bills of acceptance
Commercial bills of acceptance
Total

13

(14,464)
(1,700,778)

Short-term investments
(a)

By nature

Government bonds
PBOC notes

10,458,035

2,558,943

Policy bank debt securities

9,475,457

1,579,529

Other debt securities

2,503,308

388,654

62,517

147,912

25,518,343

5,190,598

(49,598)

(106,991)

25,468,745

5,083,607

Other investments
Total
Less:allowance for impairment losses on short-term investments
Net balances
(i)

The Bank’s major holding of the government bonds, PBOC notes, and policy bank debt securities are
traded in inter-bank bond markets.

(ii)

Other debt securities are dominated in Renminbi by the PRC capital markets.

(iii) Other investments are mainly investments in overseas-listed shares.
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Short-term investments(continued)
(b)

Movements in allowance for impairment
2005

2004

(106,991)

(103,950)

(43,997)

(3,045)

131

4

Reversal upon the transfer of non-performing assets (Note 57)

101,259

-

Closing balance

(49,598)

(106,991)

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Write-off for the year

As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred short-term investments with book value of RMB 101
million in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of short-term investments of RMB 101 million
previously made (Note 57).

14

Balances under resale agreements
(a)

By pledge
2005

2004

Debt securities under resale agreements
- Government bonds

8,520,000

989,537

- PBOC notes

1,706,334

1,194,500

- Policy bank debt securities

537,001

1,496,050

- Other debt securities

999,446

-

11,762,781

3,680,087

100,000

591,710

Loans under resale agreements

1,098,515

2,277,172

Less:allowance for impairment

-

-

12,961,296

6,548,969

Sub-total
Bill under resale agreements

Net balances
(b)

Movements in allowance for impairment
2005

2004

Opening balance

-

(3,000)

Charge for the year

-

-

Write-off for the year

-

3,000

Closing balance

-

-

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.
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Long-term debt investments maturing within one year
2005

Categories

Interest rate p.a.

Maturity

Nominal

Premium/

Interest

Value

discount

Receivable

Total

Government
bonds

2.22% - 3.36%

1/2/2006 - 30/11/2006

2,952,599

(6,468)

3,203

2,949,334

2.25% - 3.90%

26/5/2006 - 21/12/2006

2,340,400

70

-

2,340,470

1.55% - 7.88%

12/3/2006 - 22/12/2006

305,754

7,159

-

312,913

5,598,753

761

3,203

5,602,717

Policy bank debt
securities
Other debt
securities
Total

2004

Categories

Interest rate p.a.

Maturity

Nominal

Premium/

Interest

Value

discount

Receivable

Total

Government
bonds

2.07% - 6.8%

01/03/2005 - 20/11/2005

350,914

19

2,503

353,436

0% - 3.26%

24/06/2005 - 07/12/2005

510,184

721

-

510,905

3.5% - 6.5%

26/02/2005 - 03/03/2005

148,977

(665)

-

148,312

1,010,075

75

2,503

1,012,653

Policy bank debt
securities
Other debt
securities
Total

16

Medium and long-term loans
By original maturity:
2005
1 year -5 years

After5 years

Total

Unsecured loans

1,389,587

1,222,040

2,611,627

Guaranteed loans

2,942,801

1,642,204

4,585,005

Collateralized loans

7,663,123

14,934,927

22,598,050

Pledged loans

1,911,486

1,856,506

3,767,992

13,906,997

19,655,677

33,562,674

Total

2004

Unsecured loans
Guaranteed loans
Collateralized loans
Pledged loans
Total

148
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1 year -5 years

After5 years

Total

1,591,918

837,924

2,429,842

6,689,970

1,946,932

8,636,902

10,981,485

14,788,958

25,770,443

2,730,932

1,068,857

3,799,789

21,994,305

18,642,671

40,636,976
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Non-accrued loans
2005

2004

128,956

3,645,193

Guaranteed loans

1,301,530

22,355,115

Collateralized loans

2,944,095

15,902,386

513,465

2,883,916

4,888,046

44,786,610

2005

2004

(33,972,885)

(32,800,906)

Unsecured loans

Pledged loans
Total

18

Allowance for impairment of loans

Opening balance
Charge for the year

(2,571,931)

(2,092,908)

Transfer-out / (Transfer-in) for the year

(20,556)

69,268

Recovery of loans previously written off

(1,798)

(1,825)

Write-offs for the year

96,797

853,486

Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans (Note 57) (Note (i))

31,078,381

-

Closing balance

(5,391,992)

(33,972,885)

(i)

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the loans and advances to customers with book value of
RMB 45,568,000,000 in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 31,078,000,000 previously
made (Note 57).

19

Long-term debt investments
(a)

Types of debt investments
2005
Type of

Annual

debt investments

interest rate Maturity date

Government bonds

1.58%-7.30%

1/1/2007

Premium/

Accrued

Allowance

Par value

discount

interest

for impairment

Total

7,571,234

5,251

40,573

-

7,617,058

680,000

-

-

-

680,000

17,783,500

(16,566)

22,157

1,823,047

1,628

-

27,857,781

(9,687)

62,730

-30/11/2010
PBOC notes

3.30%-4.15%

31/12/2007
-25/3/2008

Policy bank debt securities 2.05%-4.52%

14/5/2007

- 17,789,091

-12/1/2032
Other debt Securities

1.79%-7%

15/1/2007

-

1,824,675

-16/8/2014
Total

- 27,910,824
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Long-term debt investments(continued)
(a)

Types of debt investments(continued)
2004
Type of

Annual

debt investments
Government bonds

interest rate Maturity date
2.22%-11.83%

01/03/2006

Premium/

Accrued

Allowance

Par value

(discount)

interest

for impairment

12,201,590

(34,394)

22,750

200,000

-

-

18,288,940

11,148

549

2,043,327

(1,564)

5,275

32,733,857

(24,810)

28,574

Total

- 12,189,946

-24/05/2032
PBOC notes

4.15%

Policy bank debt securities 2.41%-4.52%

31/12/2007
26/05/2006

-

200,000

- 18,300,637

-12/01/2032
Other debt securities

3.5%-7%

12/03/2006

(71,646)

1,975,392

-18/06/2014
Total

(b)

(71,646) 32,665,975

Movement in allowance for impairment on long-term debt investments

Opening balance
Write-offs for the year
Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans for the year (Note 57)
Closing balance

2005

2004

(71,646)

(76,146)

-

4,500

71,646

-

-

(71,646)

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the long-term debt investments with book value of RMB
72 million in 2005 and reversed the allowance for impairment of RMB 72 million previously made (Note 57).

20

Long-term equity investments
(a)

By category

Investment in subsidiaries (Note (i))

2004

4,100

205,696

Other equity investments (Note (ii))

45,878

686,932

Total

49,978

892,628

-

(744,659)

49,978

147,969

Less:allowance for impairment
Net

150

2005
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Long-term equity investments(continued)
(a)

By category(continued)
(i)

Investment in subsidiaries
The principal subsidiary of the Bank as at 31 December 2005 are as follows:
Equity
Name of
subsidiaries

Place of

Date of

Share

held by

Principal

incorporation

incorporation

capital

the Bank(%)

activities

5 April

RMB

41%

Consultancy on credit card

1994

10,000,000

Guangdong Guangfa
International Financial &

PRC

Consulting Co., Ltd.

and related business, etc

In addition, the major investments in subsidiaries of the Bank prior to 30 June 2005 are as follows:
Equity
Name of
subsidiaries
Guangdong Guangkong

Place of

Date of

Share

held by

incorporation

incorporation

capital

the Bank(%)

19 April

RMB

1999

200,000,000

8 February

HKD

PRC

Holding Co., Ltd.
Upper Like Investments Ltd.

Hong Kong

1995

(ii)

1,500,000

Principal
activities
Investment, property

100%

and asset custody, etc.
Investment, property
100%

and asset custody, etc.

Other equity investments
Other investments of the Bank include equity investments in local/foreign companies, in which the
Bank has less than 20 percent voting power and no significant influence over the management.
As part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred the investments in subsidiaries with book value of
RMB 791 million and derecognised the allowance for impairment of RMB 702 million previously
made (Note 57).

(b)

Movement in allowance for impairment on long-term equity investments

Opening balance
(Charge) / release for the year
Other transfer-outs
Exchange difference
Reversal upon the transfer of impaired loans for the year (Note 57)
Closing balance

2005

2004

(744,659)

(744,730)

(246)

68

43,038

-

(2)

3

701,869

-

-

(744,659)
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Fixed assets
Transportation
Buildings and

Electronic

and other

Leasehold

Structures

equipment

2,569,378

1,171,924

572,195

688,548

5,002,045

279,977

153,973

25,525

73,337

532,812

64,192

151

-

10,463

74,806

(17,646)

(76,640)

(37,737)

(16,101)

(148,124)

2,895,901

1,249,408

559,983

756,247

5,461,539

65,053

103,686

18,858

73,100

260,697

-

3,223

1,057

12,510

16,790

(73,301)

(87,943)

(83,181)

(9,643)

(254,068)

2,887,653

1,268,374

496,717

832,214

5,484,958

(456,351)

(661,736)

(376,972)

(76,808)

(160,351)

(56,213)

(108,352)

(401,724)

2,418

73,253

35,221

15,205

126,097

(530,741)

(748,834)

(397,964)

(85,780)

(156,811)

(50,828)

(102,898)

(396,317)

1,448

76,308

64,862

9,540

152,158

(615,073)

(829,337)

(383,930)

(301,994)

-

-

-

(301,994)

(8,620)

-

-

-

(8,620)

(310,614)

-

-

-

(310,614)

31 December 2005

1,961,966

439,037

112,787

264,115

2,777,905

31 December 2004

2,054,546

500,574

162,019

281,506

2,998,645

equipment Improvement

Total

Cost
1 January 2004
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Disposal / retirement
31 December 2004
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Disposal / retirement
31 December 2005
Less:Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2004
Charges
Write-backs
31 December 2004
Charges
Write-backs
31 December 2005

(381,594) (1,876,653)

(474,741) (2,152,280)

(568,099) (2,396,439)

Less:Allowance for impairment
1 January 2004
Charges
31 December 2004 and 2005
Net carrying value:

As at 31 December 2005, ownership documentation for the Bank’s buildings and structures with a net carrying
value of approximately RMB 620 million (31 December 2004: RMB 620 million) has not been completed yet.
Management of the Bank expects there will be no significant difficulties in obtaining such ownership
documentation.
As at 31 December 2005, the Bank’s fixed assets, with an original carrying value of RMB 980 million (31
December 2004: RMB 760 million), had fully depreciated, and were still in use.
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Construction in progress
2005

2004

225,027

284,289

Cost
Opening balance for the year
Additions for the year

23

40,450

15,544

Transfer to fixed assets for the year

(16,790)

(74,806)

Closing balance for the year

248,687

225,027

Intangible assets
Land use rights

Software

Others

Total

188,030

106,240

45,423

339,693

150

30,154

1,136

31,440

Disposal

(21,885)

(374)

(60)

(22,319)

31 December 2004

166,295

136,020

46,499

348,814

Cost
1 January 2004
Additions

Additions

452

31,936

1,278

33,666

Disposal

(37,284)

(602)

(1,804)

(39,690)

31 December 2005

129,463

167,354

45,973

342,790

(22,853)

(45,546)

(18,361)

(86,760)

(4,114)

(22,416)

(6,974)

(33,504)

-

202

7

209

(26,967)

(67,760)

(25,328)

(120,055)

(3,647)

(26,732)

(6,533)

(36,912)

5,122

406

136

5,664

(25,492)

(94,086)

(31,725)

(151,303)

Less: Accumulated amortisation
1 January 2004
Additions
Disposal
31 December 2004
Additions
Disposal
31 December 2005
Less: Allowance for impairment
1 January 2004

-

-

-

-

Provision made during the year

(5,477)

-

-

(5,477)

31 December 2004

(5,477)

-

-

(5,477)

5,477

-

-

5,477

-

-

-

-

31 December 2005

103,971

73,268

14,248

191,487

31 December 2004

133,851

68,260

21,171

223,282

Write-offs
31 December 2005
Net carrying value:

As at 31 December 2005, ownership documentation for the Bank’s land with a net carrying value of around RMB
28 million (31 December 2004: RMB 29 million) has not been completed yet. Management of the Bank expects
there will be no significant difficulties in obtaining such ownership documentation.
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Long-term deferred expenses
Prepaid lease expenses

Others

Total

62,121

31,662

93,783

1 January 2004
Additions
Amortisation

19,024

28,574

47,598

(31,876)

(23,152)

(55,028)

-

(1,793)

(1,793)

49,269

35,291

84,560

Write-offs
31 December 2004
Additions

10,233

29,502

39,735

(24,591)

(22,479)

(47,070)

Write-offs

(8,184)

(338)

(8,522)

31 December 2005

26,727

41,976

68,703

Amortisation

25

Repossessed assets
2005

2004

690,025

6,315,614

Others

57,575

584,052

Total

747,600

6,899,666

(314,352)

(3,828,649)

433,248

3,071,017

Land, buildings and structures

Less:allowance for impairment
Net

As a part of the restructuring, the Bank transferred repossessed assets with book value of RMB 5,736 million in
2005 and derecognised the allowance for impairment of RMB 3,417 million previously made (Note 57).

26

Deferred tax assets
(a)

By nature
2005

2004

1,737,822

944,432

Deferred tax liabilities

(176,192)

(123,763)

Net

1,561,630

820,669

Deferred tax assets

(b)

Movement in deferred tax
Adjustment

1 January 2004
Recognised in profit or loss

for fair value

for other

of investment

for loans

assets

and derivatives

Others

value

562,647

245,703

93

1,460

809,903

Net

13,291

6,318

(5,376)

(3,467)

10,766

31 December 2004

575,938

252,021

(5,283)

(2,007)

820,669

Recognised in profit or loss

574,710

232,369

3,749

(69,867)

740,961

1,150,648

484,390

(1,534)

(71,874)

1,561,630

31 December 2005
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Deferred tax assets(continued)
(b)

Movement in deferred tax(continued)
The above deferred tax assets represent the difference between profit before tax and taxable income, which the
management believes may bring future tax benefits to the Bank. In forming this view, the Bank’s management
considered the prevailing situation, current tax legislation, as well as prudent accounting principles.
When undertaking accounting treatment, the Bank will act prudently, and include the difference between
deferred tax assets items recognised at the balance sheet date of each accounting period and the deferred
tax assets recognised at the prior balance sheet date in the current income tax expenses.

27

Short-term deposits

Current deposits

105,386,149

32,729,907

31,643,556

14,478,833

15,693,274

936,179

849,453

2,418,399

2,284,005

154,451,704

155,856,437

2005

2004

25,588,398

20,395,389

Total

Short-term savings deposits

Current savings deposits
Term savings deposits maturing within one year

8,858,679

6,008,343

Individual call deposits

1,791,830

1,033,314

36,238,907

27,437,046

Total

Pledged deposits
2005

2004

Short-term pledged deposits

29,512,526

29,970,411

Long-term pledged deposits, maturing within 1 year (Note 37)

28,547,904

26,310,926

22,255

783,795

58,082,685

57,065,132

2005

2004

1,000,000

1,151,834

Long-term pledged deposits
Total

30

103,888,386

Corporate call deposits
Others

29

2004

Term deposits maturing within one year
Credit card deposits

28

2005

Amounts due to central banks

Refinance

The amount mainly includes refinance of RMB 1 billion by the PBOC’s Guangzhou branch. The loan had been
extended every year from 5 February 1999, and was interest-free with no guarantee or pledge. Since 5 February
2004, the loan has been extended every three months and has borne interest from 4 May 2004.
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Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
2005

2004

13,389,613

4,299,669

Deposits from onshore
- Banks

32

- Other financial institutions

10,539,594

8,230,953

Total

23,929,207

12,530,622

2005

2004

121,964

1,419,964

Placements from banks and other financial institutions

Placements from onshore
- Banks
- Other financial institutions

33

2,086

2,086

Sub-total

124,050

1,422,050

Placements from offshore banks

138,532

243,149

Total

262,582

1,665,199

2005

2004

-

3,336,200

1,000,000

-

-

2,400,800

Balances under repurchase agreements

Bonds under repurchase agreements
- Government bonds
- PBOC notes
- Policy bank debt securities
Sub-total

1,000,000

5,737,000

Notes under repurchase agreements

788,899

2,811,737

Loans under repurchase agreements

863,295

616,580

2,652,194

9,165,317

Total

Pledges as security under repurchase agreements include debt investments and credit assets held by the Bank
with equivalent value.

34

Interest payables
(a)

By nature

Deposit interest payables
Other interest payables
Total
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Interest payables(continued)
(b)

Aging analysis
2005

2004

1,421,435

1,302,256

127,136

96,170

After two years but within three years

36,716

44,544

After three years

51,988

63,032

1,637,275

1,506,002

Within one year
After one year but within two years

Total

Aging refers to the period between the date of recording the interest payables and the balance sheet date.

35

Tax payables

Income tax
Business tax and surcharges

2004

2,002,717

670,670

230,853

185,689

Property tax

78,758

67,672

Others

14,215

13,163

2,326,543

937,194

2005

2004

237,669

270,263

60,799

111,002

144,352

146,744

69,364

58,471

854,391

-

Total

36

2005

Other liabilities
(a)

By nature

Litigation provision
Loan repayments in foreign currencies pending conversion
Unrealised interest income on discounted bills
Negative fair value of derivatives (Note 53(a)(i))
Payables in respect of the transferred
non-performing assets (Note (i))
Others

1,215,369

751,845

Total

2,581,944

1,338,325

(i)

As stated in note 2, according to the non-performing assets transfer agreement with GFIHL, the risk
and rewards associated with the non-performing assets were transferred to GFIHL after the transfer
reference date. Up to 31 December 2005, other collected amount related to the non-performing
assets transferred, recognised in account payable was RMB 854 million.
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Other liabilities(continued)
(b)

Aging analysis

Within one year

2005

2004

2,175,479

903,825

After one year but within two years

49,668

176,514

After two years but within three years

90,912

40,488

265,885

217,498

2,581,944

1,338,325

After three years
Total

Aging refers to the period between the transaction date of the liability and the balance sheet date.

37

Long-term liabilities, maturing within one year

Long-term deposits (Note 38)

38

16,032,382

19,716,729

8,739,481

8,922,132

Long-term pledged deposits (Note 29)

28,547,904

26,310,926

Total

53,319,767

54,949,787

2005

2004

35,669,828

40,067,894

(16,032,382)

(19,716,729)

19,637,446

20,351,165

2005

2004

Long-term saving deposits maturing over one year

16,708,226

15,341,222

Less:long-term saving deposits, maturing within one year (Note 37)

(8,739,481)

(8,922,132)

7,968,745

6,419,090

Long-term deposits

Less:long-term deposits, maturing within one year (Note 37)
Total

Long-term savings deposits

Total
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Long-term maturing over one year deposits
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2005
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Share capital
Registered capital and Share capital
Registered capital and Share capital

As at 31 December 2005 and 2004 (par value of RMB 1 each)

No. of shares

Total

Thousand

Thousand RMB

3,585,659

3,585,659

On 25 June 1988, with the approval of the PBOC, the Bank was incorporated with a registered share capital of
RMB 1.5 billion and paid-up capital of RMB 0.5 billion. The Bank used a multiple legal entity system upon
establishment, and started to standardize the legal entity systems in accordance with approval from the Guangdong
provincial government and the PBOC on 31 December 1992 and 27 April 1995 respectively. Total share capital
was increased to RMB 1,781,247,169 at the end of 1997. Subsequently, through public offers and issuance of
bonus shares, total share capital of the Bank was increased to RMB 3,585,658,615. The capital was verified by
the Guangzhou Kai An CPA Firm and a capital verification report was issued.

41

Capital reserves
2005

2004

Share premium

-

621,261

Donations received

-

4,253

Total

-

625,514

In accordance with the resolutions passed by the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders and by the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors, the capital reserves were offset against the accumulated losses
on 31 December 2005.

42

Interest income
2005

2004

Interest income from loans

8,930,657

7,912,102

Interest income on discounted bills

1,435,068

1,531,579

Interest income on inward and outward bills receivables

106,453

71,891

Interest income on credit cards

142,024

90,005

Other interest income
Total

24,428

36,539

10,638,630

9,642,116
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Interest income on balances and placements with financial institutions

Interest income from placements with central banks
Interest income from deposits with banks and other financial institutions

46,503

78,214
63,317

388,807

555,012

46,673

44,775

1,115,788

1,153,499

2005

2004

3,709,362

3,233,349

606,966

442,307

9,586

9,584

4,325,914

3,685,240

Interest expenses

Interest expenses on saving deposits
Others
Total

Interest expenses on deposits and placements from financial institutions
2005

2004

Interest expenses on deposits from banks and other financial institutions

356,313

201,090

Interest expenses on placement from banks and other financial institutions

28,959

71,172

Interest expenses on re-discounted bills

826,250

785,600

Interest expenses on balances under repurchase agreements

221,286

591,886

Others

7,548

3,370

1,440,356

1,653,118

2005

2004

1,596,119

1,403,922

Depreciation

396,317

401,724

Rent

369,530

344,832

Traveling and conference reception expenses

349,489

300,581

Repair and maintenance expenses

294,239

277,991

Office expenses

375,459

343,224

Total

Operating cost

Staff costs

Others
Total

160

412,181

190,228

Interest expenses on deposits

46

443,577

Interest income from balances under resale agreements
Total

45

2004

Interest income from placements with banks and other financial institutions
Others

44

2005
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613,278

523,810

3,994,431

3,596,084
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Investment income
2005

2004

Interest income on debt securities

1,349,048

1,080,170

Net trading loss on debt securities

(260,956)

(1,206)

82,965

46,137

1,171,057

1,125,101

2005

2004

Loss on disposal of repossessed assets

25,673

22,533

Litigation loss and provision

85,648

133,931

7,022

2,852

Others

82,122

44,498

Total

200,465

203,814

2005

2004

2,571,931

2,092,908

Allowance for investment impairment

44,243

2,977

Allowance for deposits and placements impairment

18,911

(1,997)

-

14,096

115,872

173

Income on equity investment
Total

48

Non-operating expenses

Net loss on disposal of fixed assets

49

Allowance for assets impairment

Allowance for loan loss

Allowance for impairment on fixed assets, intangible assets
and construction in progress
Allowance for impairment on repossessed assets
Provision on other assets
Total

50

576,148

41,823

3,372,105

2,149,980

2005

2004

Income tax

Income tax for the year

1,295,123

676,738

Deferred tax (Note 26(b))

(740,961)

(10,766)

554,162

665,972

Income tax expenses

GUANGDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO.,LTD.

161

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

50

Financial Statements for 2005

Income tax(continued)
Reconciliation between income tax expense and income tax charged at statutory tax rates:

(Loss) / Profit before tax

2005

2004

(137,590)

796,353

Income tax charged at statutory tax rate of 33%

(45,405)

262,797

Non-deductible expenses

689,546

669,609

Income tax adjustment of non-taxable income

(97,773)

(257,680)

7,794

(8,754)

554,162

665,972

Effect of different tax rates applicable to profits in various regions (Note (i))
Income tax expense
(i)

According to tax legislations and detailed rules of implementation in relevant regions, income taxes on
profits generated in various regions are payable at different tax rates and on different tax basis. The
income tax rate for Shenzhen Special Economic Region is 15% for each relevant year.
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Related parties
(a)

Terms of transactions
The directors consider that all major transactions between the Bank and related parties are conducted on an
arm’s length basis.

(b)

Shareholders
Since the Bank does not have controlling shareholders, the following shareholding companies refer to
shareholders having 5% or more of the Bank’s equity:
As at 31 December 2005 and 2004
No. of shares held

%

Lianda Group Co., Ltd.

349,300

9.74%

Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co., Ltd.

343,000

9.57%

Jiangsu Suzhou Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd.

334,000

9.31%

Bank of China

238,125

6.64%

31 December

31 December

Loans and advances to customers
Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
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2005

2004

-

50,000

1,212,926

809,018

90

4,222

491,176

500,728
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Related parties(continued)
(b)

Shareholders(continued)
Years ended 31 December

(c)

2005

2004

Interest income

12,286

12,521

Interest expenses

16,225

6,507

31 December

31 December

2005

2004

Loans and advances to customers

533,000

1,037,000

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

667,934

184,062

18,644

40,995

Entities controlled by the directors

Deposits from customers

Years ended 31 December

Interest income
Interest expenses

2005

2004

43,825

62,866

61

146

As at 31 December 2005, impaired loans among customer loans of entities controlled by directors was nil
(31 December 2004: RMB 500 million). The above transactions do not include major transactions between
the Bank and its shareholders having 5% or more of the Bank’s equity as mentioned in Note 51(b).
(d)

Investment entities controlled or commonly controlled by the Bank but which are not consolidated
The investment entities mainly include Guangdong Guangkong Holding Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(“Guangkong Group”), as well as Upper Like Investments Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“ Upper Like Group”).
During the restructuring in 2005, the Bank had transferred its investments in Guangkong Group and Upper
Like Group (Note 20). As a result, from the day after the transfer, the Bank no longer controlled the companies.
The following transaction balances and volume with investment companies includes only balances and volume
occurred before the transfer of investments in Guangkong Group and Upper Like Group.
31 December

31 December

2005

2004

Loans and advances to customers

-

5,042,376

Other Receivables

-

801,500

6,201

73,523

Deposits from customers
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Related parties(continued)
(d)

Investment entities controlled or commonly controlled by the Bank but which are not consolidated(continued)
Years ended 31 December

Interest income

2005

2004

32,009

84,067

Interest expense
Operating expense

294

325

36,466

18,703

As at 31 December 2005, impaired loans among customer loans of investment entities was nil (31 December
2004: RMB 3.6 billion), and allowance for impairment was nil (31 December 2004: RMB 0.9 billion). The
other receivables above are fully provided for by the Bank.
(e)

The Bank’s directors, supervisors, key management personnel and their close family members and entities
controlled or significantly influenced by them.
The Bank’s management is of the opinion that the transactions with the above related parties are conducted
in the normal course of business, at relevant market rates at the time of transactions and in accordance with
normal business procedures. In addition, as the transaction amounts are insignificant, the Bank has not
disclosed the details of such transactions.
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Entrusted lending business
The Bank provides entrusted lending business services to government agencies and corporations. All entrusted
loans are made under the instruction or at the direction of these entities and are funded by entrusted funds from
them. Income related to these services is included in the income statement as fee income.
Entrust assets and the corresponding liabilities are not assets and liabilities of the Bank and are not recognised in
the balance sheet. However, if the amount of the entrusted loan funds is greater than that of the entrusted loans,
the relevant surplus funding is accounted for as deposits from customers.
At the balance sheet date, the entrusted assets and liabilities were as follows:
31 December
Entrusted loans
Entrusted loan funds
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2005

2004

5,377,343

5,552,809

(5,377,343)

(5,552,809)
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Off-balance sheet items
(a)

Off-balance sheet business with contingent risks
(i)

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are off-balance sheet financial instruments which include forward and swap transactions
undertaken by the Bank in the foreign exchange and interest rate markets. The Bank, through the
operations of its branch network, acts as an intermediary for a wide range of customers structuring
deals to produce risk management products to suit individual customer needs. These positions are
actively managed through entering into offsetting deals with third parties to ensure that the Bank’s
net exposures are within acceptable risk levels. No significant positions were maintained for
proprietary business by the Bank at the balance sheet date.
The notional amounts and the corresponding fair values of derivatives held by the Bank are listed
below. The notional amounts of the derivatives only indicate the volume of transactions outstanding
at the balance sheet date; they do not represent amounts at risk.
31 December 2005

31 December 2004

Fair value
Notional

Assets

Liabilities

Notional

4,085,652

62,604

(61,980)

443,387

1,061

(990)

1,693,608

10,346

(6,394)

2,957,855

11,871

(11,227)

2,136,995

11,407

(7,384)

4,027,152

36,072

(35,231)

value
Interest rate swaps

Fair value
Assets

Liabilities

4,255,014

38,407

(23,240)

1,069,297

24,201

(24,004)

value

Currency contracts:
-Forwards
-Swaps

(ii)

Non-cancellable off-balance sheet credit business
Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange to third parties drawn on
customers. The Bank expects most acceptances to be settled simultaneously with the reimbursement
from the customers.
The Bank provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to ensure customers fulfill their obligations
to third parties.
The contractual amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in the following table
by category. The amounts reflected in the table for commitments assume that facilities are fully
utilized. The amount reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit represents the maximum
potential loss that would be recognised at balance sheet date if counterparties fail completely to
perform as contracted.
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Off-balance sheet items(continued)
(a)

Off-balance sheet business with contingent risks(continued)
(ii)

Non-cancellable off-balance sheet credit business(continued)

Acceptances

31 December

31 December

2005

2004

79,880,893

89,444,763

Financing guarantees

6,315,121

6,660,508

Non-financing guarantees

3,385,210

3,331,370

Forward letters of credit

1,578,991

1,552,929

Sight letters of credit

2,914,102

3,683,677

94,074,317

104,673,247

Total

These commitments and contingent liabilities expose the Bank to credit risk. Before the commitments
are fulfilled or expired, management would assess the contingent losses, and recognise the estimated
liabilities where necessary. As the facilities may expire without being drawn upon, the total of the
contractual amounts is not representative of expected future cash outflows.
(b)

Off-balance sheet items with contingent gain
These items represent the accrued loan principal or interest calculated off-balance sheet, which have not
yet been recovered, and are 90 days overdue (Ninetieth day exclusive).

Accrued interests not yet received
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2005
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Commitments
(a)

Loan commitments
Facilities, including unused loan facilities and unused credit limit of credit cards, committed by the Bank
for designated customers may be drawn on request. Non-cancellable loan commitments provided by the
Banks to specific customers are as follows:
31 December

31 December

2005

2004

Unused loan facilities under borrowing contracts

1,564,481

1,970,103

Unused credit limit of credit cards

7,216,994

4,683,635

Total

8,781,475

6,653,738

There is no risk of unused credit limits being drawn upon, as the unused credit extended to other bank
customers is cancellable. Therefore, this amount is not included above.
(b)

Operating leases commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Bank’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases for buildings and structures were as follows:

Within one year

31 December

2005

2004

301,716

292,707

After one year but within two years

256,669

251,122

After two years but within three years

209,667

216,312

After three years

877,593

814,416

1,645,645

1,574,557

Total
(c)

31 December

Capital commitments
The Bank had the following authorised capital commitments at the balance sheet date:
31 December

31 December

2005

2004

Purchase of fixed assets
-Contracted for

82,134

58,007

-Not contracted for

101,483

108,992

Total

183,617

166,999
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Commitments(continued)
(d)

Underwriting obligations
The unexpired underwriting obligations of debt securities issued in the PRC at the balance sheet date were
as follows:
31 December

31 December

2005

2004

630,000

-

Underwriting obligations
(e)

Redemption obligations
As an underwriting agent of PRC Government bonds, the Bank has the responsibility to buy back those
bonds sold by it should the holders decide to early redeem the bonds held. The redemption price for the
bonds at any time before their maturity date is based on the coupon value plus any interest unpaid and
accrued up to the redemption date. The redemption price may be different from the fair value of similar
instruments traded in the markets at the redemption date.
The redemption obligations below represent the nominal value of PRC Government bonds underwritten
and sold by the Bank but not yet matured at the balance sheet date:

Redemption obligations

31 December

31 December

2005

2004

9,196,709

7,632,585

Management expects the amount of redemption before the maturity date of these government bonds through
the Bank will not be material.

55

Litigations and disputes
As at 31 December 2005, the Bank was the defendant in certain pending litigations, with gross claims of RMB
580 million (31 December 2004: RMB 640 million). Based on the opinions of the Bank’s internal and external
lawyers, provision has been made for the estimated losses of these litigations and disputes (Note 36). Management
of the Bank is of the view that the provision made is reasonable and adequate.
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Risk of financial instruments
(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that may arise from the failure of a debtor to meet its obligation or
commitment to the Bank. It arises primarily from the Bank’s credit asset portfolios.
Concentration of credit risk: When a certain number of customers conduct the same operating activities,
are situated in the same geographical location or their industries have similar economic characteristics,
their ability to honor their contracts would be influenced by the same economic change. Concentration of
credit risk reflects the sensitivity of the Bank’s results to a specific industry or geographical location. The
principal place of business of the Bank is the PRC. However, the PRC is large and the level of economic
development differs among regions (e.g. some regions are designated by the central government as special
economic zones to attract investment). As a result, the risks among regions differ.
To identify, evaluate, monitor and manage credit risk, the Bank designs the risk management structure, credit
policies and processes required for effective credit risk management which have been implemented across
the Bank upon approval of the Credit Policy Committee and of the President. The Credit Policy Committee
is responsible for formulating the credit policies, management framework and marketing strategies from time
to time, analysing the development of lending businesses and the level of risk management, and approving
loans with amounts exceeding the authorised limit of the Credit Review Committee in accordance with relevant
rules, regulations and monetary policies in the PRC and the Bank’s business strategy. To mitigate risk, the
Bank may obtain collaterals and guarantees from customers where appropriate.
With respect to daily operations, the Credit Review Department (“ the Department ”) is responsible for the
management of risk controls for the overall credit policies, operation and management of lending businesses,
establishment of credit system and authorisation to subordinated units. Being a standing body of the Head
Office’s Credit Policy Committee, the Department reviews and approves various lending businesses reported
to and filed with the Department.

(b)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in observable market variables such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity price markets. The market risk of the Bank primarily arises from
its participation in the market activities of various asset and liabilities related business and products. The
monitoring and management of market risk are primarily performed by the Asset and Liability Management
Committee (“ ALCO” ) based on the following major factors: risk weighting, economic values, market
competition, etc.
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Risk of financial instruments(continued)
(b)

Market risk(continued)
Stress testing and scenario analysis are the key indicators used by the Bank to measure and monitor market
risks. The results of stress testing are assessed against a set of forward-looking scenarios using stress
moves in market variables, which are regularly reviewed. Scenario analysis involves description of potential
future scenarios based on prediction and is a systematic technique for predicting and identifying risks.
Through the analysis, decision-makers are reminded to note the potential risks or disastrous consequences
arising from a measure or a policy.

(c)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the likelihood of loss that may arise from movements in market interest rate. The Bank
predicts interest rate risk by studying future interest rate movements with various macro economic indicators,
and predicts future funding movements and trends within the Bank by referring to the Bank’s funding
costs, capital adequacy ratios, growth of loans and deposits and other factors, so as to study the interest
rate risk appetite of the Bank.
The Bank mainly manages interest rate risks with asset portfolio and derivative financial instruments.
Asset portfolio aims at diversifying risks and improves profitability with diversification of assets.

(d)

Currency risk
The Bank’s presentation currency is RMB. The exchange rates between RMB and foreign currencies are
regulated by the PBOC and there are only small fluctuations during each year concerned. The Bank’s
currency risk comprises exposures that arise from foreign currency portfolio originated from treasury
business and currency risk originated from the Bank’s overseas branches. The Bank manages the currency
risk by spot and forward foreign exchange transactions and matching its foreign currency denominated
assets with corresponding liabilities in the same currencies.

(e)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall due. It arises from
the mismatching of the amount and maturity of assets and liabilities.
Liquidity across the Bank is managed through the ALCO. Management of liquidity risk by the Bank
includes liquefiable asset portfolio management, cash flow matching and short-term funding management:
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Risk of financial instruments(continued)
(e)

Liquidity risk(continued)
-

Liquefiable asset portfolio management: this refers to various debt securities held with different
duration but which are highly liquid and with realisable market. Liquefiable asset portfolio is managed
using appropriate techniques and methods selected based on liquidity management objectives and
market conditions;

-

Cash flow matching: debt securities are selected based on liability payment due dates and quantities
to ensure that liquefiable asset portfolio can provide sufficient liquidity promptly to repay liabilities
due; and

-

Short-term funding management: the objective is to cover insufficiency of cash flow. The basic
approach to control cash flow is to use a cash flow statement. Before the end of each working day,
a cash flow statement is prepared based on the maturity dates and the amounts of assets and liabilities.
The actual cash flow and the forecasted cash flow are analysed in detail to ensure the surplus fund is
effectively used, whereas insufficient funds are financed mainly by borrowing and repurchase of
debt securities.

(f)

Operational risk
Operational risk includes the risk of direct or indirect loss due to an event or action causing failure of
technology, processes, infrastructure and personnel, and other risks having an operational impact.
The Bank manages this risk through an internal control-based environment by establishing a framework of
policies and procedures in order to identify, assess, control, manage and report risks. The framework
covers all business functions ranging from finance, credit, accounting, settlement, savings, treasury,
intermediary business, computer system applications and management, safeguarding of assets and legal
affairs. The Bank relies on the above to identify and monitor the operational risk inherent in all key
activities, products, processes and systems.
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Transfer of non-performing assets
As stated in Note 2, the Bank transferred non-performing assets in 2005 based on its restructuring plan to increase
capital adequacy ratio and settle the non-performing assets. The details of non-performing assets transferred are
as follows:
Allowance for
Carrying

impairment

Net carrying

value

made

value

Proceeds from transfer of non-performing assets (Note 2)

58,142,382

Less:carrying value of transfer of Non-performing assets
deposits with banks and other financial institutions (Note 6)

495,800

(423,299)

72,501

placements with banks and other financial institutions(Note 7)

991,320

(933,567)

57,753

45,568,343

(31,078,381)

14,489,962

101,259

(101,259)

-

71,646

(71,646)

-

791,290

(701,869)

89,421

1,241,392

-

1,241,392

loans and advances to customers (Note 18)
investments
-short-term investments (Note 13)
-long-term debt investments (Note 19)
-long-term equity investments (Note 20)
other assets
-advances on administration of certain credit unions in
Enping Municipal (Note 11(a)(ii))
-other receivables (Note 11(a)(iii))

2,708,255

(2,701,878)

6,377

-repossessed assets (Note 25)

5,735,623

(3,416,621)

2,319,002

57,704,928

(39,428,520)

18,276,408

Total

39,865,974
Less:taxation

129,009

Increase in capital reserve due to transfer of
non-performing assets (Note 2)

58

39,736,965

Comparative figures
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and the Accounting Regulations for Financial Enterprises (issued in 2001) issued by the Ministry of
Finance (“ MOF ” ) as well as other relevant requirements (“ the PRC Accounting Standards” ). The comparative
figures used to be prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, the Accounting
Regulations for Financial Enterprises (issued in 1993), the Financial Regulations for Financial and Insurance
Enterprises issued by the MOF, and other relevant supplementary regulations in connection with accounting
regulations and accounting methods issued by the MOF and the PBOC which are applicable to the domestic
commercial banking industry (“ the Original PRC Accounting Standards” ). Certain items in these comparative
figures have been adjusted to conform with the PRC Accounting Standards and the differences are set out in the
following table and notes:
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Comparative figures(continued)
Owner’s equity
31 December

31 December

2005

2004

5,258,846

5,839,979

(i)

(1,211,482)

(1,338,454)

Allowance for impairment on loans

(i)

(28,726,689)

(29,278,453)

Allowance for impairment on investment

(i)

(452,617)

(491,638)

Allowance for impairment on fixed assets

(i)

(316,091)

(301,995)

Allowance for impairment on other assets

(i)

(8,300,566)

(8,678,986)

(174,057)

(10,977)

(ii)

(1,570,112)

(1,362,625)

(35,492,768)

(35,623,149)

Per Original PRC Accounting Standards
Allowance for impairment on placement with
banks and other financial institutions

Accrual of income tax
Others
Per PRC Accounting Standards
Net profit

For the year ended
31 December 2004
Per Original PRC Accounting Standards
Allowance for impairment on placement with

102,024
(i)

126,972

Allowance for impairment on loans

(i)

(128,236)

Allowance for impairment on investment

(i)

39,021

Allowance for impairment on fixed assets

(i)

(14,096)

Allowance for impairment on other assets

(i)

378,420

banks and other financial institutions

Accrual of income tax
Others

(163,080)
(ii)

(210,644)

Per PRC Accounting Standards
(i)

130,381

Adjustment on allowance for impairment
The Original PRC Accounting Standards do not require recognition of impairment against the assets based
on their estimated recoverable amounts. Only an allowance of 1% of the total gross amount of certain
assets, including loans and investments, is required to be made. Under the PRC Accounting Standards, it is
required to assess whether the assets are impaired and to recognise impairment based on their estimated
recoverable amounts.

(ii)

Others
Others mainly represent the recognition of provision against contingent liabilities.
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Guangdong Development Bank Head Office

Anyang Sub-branch

Address:

Guangdong Development Bank Building, No.83

Address:

Nonglinxia Road, Guangzhou, Guangdong

Postcode: 455000

West Ren Min Avenue, Anyang, Henan

Postcode: 510080

Telephone: 0372-5937777

Telephone: 020-95508

Facsimile: 0372-5933951

Facsimile: 020-87310779

Nanjing Branch
Beijing Branch
Address:

Address:

No.2 Dahua Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing

Yunhu Building, No.47 Hunan Road, Nanjing,
Jiangsu

Postcode: 100005

Postcode: 210009

Telephone: 010-65266805, 010-65269966 (Operator)

Telephone: 025-83305888 (Operator)

Facsimile: 010-65266728

Facsimile: 025-83244601

Shanghai Branch

Wuxi Sub-branch

Address:

Address:

No.555 Xujiahui Road, Shanghai

No.79 Wu'ai Road, Wuxi, Jiangsu

Postcode: 200023

Postcode: 214031

Telephone: 021-63022233

Telephone: 0510-82793999

Facsimile: 021-63901929

Facsimile: 0510-82730202

Dalian Branch

Hangzhou Branch

Address:

No.3 Zhongshan Plaza, Zhongshan District, Dalian,

Address:

Liaoning

Postcode: 310006

No.368 Yian’an Road, Hangzhou, Zhejiang

Postcode: 116001

Telephone: 0571-87915521 87910477 87019888 (Operator)

Telephone: 0411-82553222

Facsimile: 0571-87917852

Facsimile: 0411-82553258

Ningbo Sub-branch
Daqing Sub-branch

Address:

Address:

Postcode: 315000

Ranghulu District, Daqing, Heilongjiang

No.473 Lingqiao Road, Ningbo, Zhejiang

Postcode: 163458

Telephone: 0574-87289888

Telephone: 0459-6139188

Facsimile: 0574-87191000

Facsimile: 0459-6139012

Ningbo Sub-branch
Zhengzhou Branch

Address:

Address:

Postcode: 315000

No.19 East Weisi Road, Zhengzhou, Henan

No.473 Lingqiao Road, Ningbo, Zhejiang

Postcode: 450008

Telephone: 0574-87289888

Telephone: 0371-65618368

Facsimile: 0574-87191000

Facsimile: 0371-65618202

Wenzhou Sub-branch
Xinxiang Sub-branch
Address:

No.218 Shengli Road, Xinxiang, Henan

Address:

1/F Yinhe Building, No.12 Renmindong Road,
Wenzhou, Zhejiang

Postcode: 453000

Postcode: 325003

Telephone: 0373-2048670

Telephone: 0577-88829588

Facsimile: 0373-2048686

Facsimile: 0577-88891105
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Kunming Branch

Shenzhen Branch

Address:

Address:

No.2 Dianchi Road, Kunming, Yunnan

19-22/F West Block Shopping Plaza, No.123

Postcode: 650034

Shennan Rd. East, Shenzhen, Guangdong

Telephone: 0871-4163536

Province

Facsimile: 0871-4177444

Postcode: 518001
Telephone: 0755-82380048 82380005 82380009

Yuxi Sub-branch
Address:

Facsimile: 0755-82380002

No.32 Fonghuang Road, Hongta District, Yuxi,
Yunnan

Postcode: 653100

Zhuhai Branch
Address:

Facsimile: 0877-2064667

No. 68 Jingshan Road, Jida, Zhuhai, Guangdong
Province

Telephone: 0877-2064659

Postcode: 519015
Telephone: 0756-3250900 (Operator)

Qujing Sub-branch
Address:

Facsimile: 0756-2228002

No.1-3 Jianshe Road, Qujing, Yunnan

Postcode: 655000

Shantou Branch

Telephone: 0874-3130891

Address:

Facsimile: 0874-3130865

Chaoshanxinghe Building, Jinhuan Road, Shantou
City, Guangdong Province

Postcode: 515041

Wuhan Branch

Telephone: 0754-8262689

Address:

Facsimile: 0754-8262489

Sanxiahanban Building, Special No.8 Xinhuaxia
Road, Wuhan, Hubei

Postcode: 430015

Meizhou Branch

Telephone: 027-85354567

Address:

Facsimile: 027-85354848

No.41 Jiaying Road, Meizhou, Guangdong
Province

Postcode: 514021

Shenyang Sub-branch

Telephone: 0753-2242068 2242273 2247501

Address:

Facsimile: 0753-2243595

No.227 Qingnian Street, Shenyang, Liaoning

Postcode: 110015
Telephone: 024-22878888

Huizhou Branch

Facsimile: 024-31303301

Address:

No.19 Xiapu Avenue, Huizhou, Guangdong
Province

Guangzhou Branch

Postcode: 516001

Address:

No.3 Lujing Road, Guangzhou, Guangdong

Telephone: 0752-2119877 2119878 2119898 (Operator)

Province

Facsimile: 0752-2119888

Postcode: 510091
Telephone: 020-83507329 83573188 (Operator)

Qingyuan Branch

Facsimile: 020-83503050

Address:

Guangfa Building, Beijiangsan Road, Zone 3
Xinchengxi, Qingyuan City, Guangdong Province

Postcode: 511515
Telephone: 0763-3855009
Facsimile: 0763-3855010
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Zhongshan Branch

Yangjiang Branch

Address:

Address:

No.55 Huabaizhong Road, Shiqi, Zhongshan City,
Guangdong Province

No.38 Jinghu Garden, Dongfengsan Road,
Yangjiang City, Guangdong Province

Postcode: 528403

Postcode: 529500

Telephone: 0760-8861876 8861998 (Operator)

Telephone: 0662-3367770

Facsimile: 0760-8861968

Facsimile: 0662-3367627

Shaoguan Branch

Zhanjiang Branch

Address:

Address:

Block 41, Huiminnan Road, Shaoguan City,
Guangdong Province

No.22 Zhongshanyi Road, Chikan, Zhanjiang
City, Guangdong Province

Postcode: 512025

Postcode: 524032

Telephone: 0751-8177989

Telephone: 0759-3311904 3366558

Facsimile: 0751-8763208

Facsimile: 0759-3313285

Dongguan Branch

Maoming Office

Address:

Address:

No.6 Dongcheng Xi Road, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province

No.107 Youchengsi Road, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province

Postcode: 523008

Postcode: 525000

Telephone: 0769-22477888 (Operator)

Telephone: 0668-2888376

Facsimile: 0769-22456654

Facsimile: 0668-2286313

Foshan Branch

Heyuan Office

Address:

Address:

Guangfa Building, 29 Jihua Road, Foshan City,
Guangdong Province

Postcode: 528000

No.13 Heyuan Avenue, Heyuan City, Guangdong
Province

Postcode: 517000

Telephone: 0757-83357698

Telephone: 0762-3338998 3339813

Facsimile: 0757-83359356

Facsimile: 0762-3338190

Jiangmen Branch

Macao Branch

Address:

Address:

No.49 Jianshe Road, Jiangmen City, Guangdong
Province

Alameda Dr. Carlos D’ Assumpcao, No.181-187
Centro Commercial do Grupo Brihantismo, 18/F

Postcode: 529000

Andar, Macao

Telephone: 0750-3288388 (Operator)

Telephone: 00853-28750328

Facsimile: 0750-3354276

Facsimile: 00853-28750728

Zhaoqing Branch

Hong Kong Representative Office

Address:

Block 1, No.75 Tianningbei Road, Zhaoqing City,

Address:

Guangdong Province

Telephone: 00852-28101213

Postcode: 526040

Rm 3002, 9 Queen’s Road, Central, Hong Kong

Facsimile: 00852-25300123

Telephone: 0758-2313023
Facsimile: 0758-2313013

Beijing Representative Office
Address:

No.2 Dahua Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing

Postcode: 100005
Telephone: 010-65266741
Facsimile: 010-65266742
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